
 Agenda

Page 1

Audit and Procurement Committee

Time and Date
3.00 pm on Monday, 24th June, 2019

Place
Council House

Public Business

1. Apologies  

2. Declarations of Interest  

3. Minutes of Previous Meeting  (Pages 3 - 8)

To agree the minutes of the meeting held on 25th March 2019

4. Exclusion of Press and Public  

To consider whether to exclude the press and public for the item(s) of 
business for the reasons shown in the report.

5. Outstanding Issues  (Pages 9 - 16)

Report of the Deputy Chief Executive (Place)

6. Work Programme 2019/20  (Pages 17 - 18)

Report of the Deputy Chief Executive (Place)

7. Annual Governance Statement 2018/19  (Pages 19 - 38)

Report of the Deputy Chief Executive (Place)

8. Unaudited 2018/19 Statement of Accounts  (Pages 39 - 184)

Report of the Deputy Chief Executive (Place)

9. Internal Audit Annual Report 2018/19  (Pages 185 - 204)

Report of the Deputy Chief Executive (Place)

10. Internal Audit Plan 2019/20  (Pages 205 - 212)

Report of the Deputy Chief Executive (Place)

Public Document Pack



Page 2

11. Any other items of public business which the Chair decides to take as a 
matter of urgency because of the special circumstances involved.  

Private business
Nil

Martin Yardley, Deputy Chief Executive (Place), Council House Coventry

Friday, 14 June 2019

Note: The person to contact about the agenda and documents for this meeting is Lara 
Knight / Michelle Salmon, Governance Services, Tel: 024 7697 2642 / 2643, Email: 
lara.knight@coventry.gov.uk / michelle.salmon@coventry.gov.uk 

Membership: Councillors M Ali, S Bains (Deputy Chair), J Blundell, R Lakha (Chair), 
T Sawdon, R Singh and H Sweet

Please note: a hearing loop is available in the committee rooms

If you require a British Sign Language interpreter for this meeting 
OR it you would like this information in another format or 
language please contact us.

Lara Knight / Michelle Salmon
Telephone: (024) 7697 2642 / (024) 7697 2643
e-mail: lara.knight@coventry.gov.uk / 
michelle.salmon@coventry.gov.uk 

mailto:lara.knight@coventry.gov.uk
mailto:michelle.salmon@coventry.gov.uk


– 1 –

Coventry City Council
Minutes of the Meeting of the Audit and Procurement Committee held at 3.00 pm 

on Monday, 25 March 2019

Present:
Members: Councillor R Brown (Chair) 

Councillor T Sawdon
Councillor R Singh
Councillor K Taylor

Employees (by Directorate):

People:

Place:

Apologies:

G Quinton

S Bennett, S Harriott, A Harwood, P Helm, P Jennings, 
D Nuttall, K Tyler

Councillor P Akhtar, S Bains and H Sweet 

Public Business

67. Declarations of Interest 

There were no declarations of interest.

68. Minutes of Previous Meeting 

The Minutes of the meeting held on 25 February, 2019 were agreed and signed as 
a true record.

Further to Minute 61/18 relating to 2018/19 Third Quarter Financial Monitoring 
Report (to December 2018), the Committee noted that, as requested, information 
had been circulated in relation to parking at Coombe Country Park.  

69. Outstanding Issues 

The Audit and Procurement Committee considered a report of the Deputy Chief 
Executive (Place) that identified issues on which a further report/information had 
been requested or was outstanding so that Members were aware of them and 
could manage their progress.

RESOLVED that the Audit and Procurement Committee:-

1. Notes the Outstanding Issues report and agree those issues that are 
complete can be discharged from the report. 

2. Requests that for those items that remain outstanding, the relevant 
officers be contacted to provide the information requested.

Public Document Pack

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



– 2 –

70. Work Programme 2018/19 

The Audit and Procurement Committee considered a report of the Deputy Chief 
Executive (Place) which set out the Work Programme for the Committee for the 
current Municipal Year.

RESOLVED that the Audit and Procurement Committee notes the Work 
Programme for the current Municipal Year.

71. Internal Audit Recommendation Tracking Report 

The Audit and Procurement Committee considered a report of the Deputy Chief 
Executive (Place) which provided an update on progress made in implementing 
internal audit recommendations since the last update in March 2018.

The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards requires that the “Chief Audit Executive 
(ie the Chief Internal Auditor) must establish a follow up process to monitor and 
ensure that management actions have been effectively implemented or that senior 
management have accepted the risk of not taking action.”

As reflected within its terms of reference, the Audit and Procurement Committee is 
required to receive reports on Internal Audit’s follow up process. The report 
provided an update as to progress in respect of the agreed management actions 
which have been followed up during the period March 2018 to February 2019.

Currently, there are three key considerations that will determine the follow up 
procedure adopted, namely:-

1) Whether the area audited is of such significance that it is subject to an 
annual review

2) The level of assurance provided in the audit report

3) A self-assessment process for these reviews where neither of the points 
above apply, but a follow-up review is necessary

Overall it was believed that the procedure achieves the right balance between 
ensuring action is taken in response to risks identified by Internal Audit and 
allowing the Service to focus on identification of new risks.

The report and appendices set out the results from the latest follow up exercise, 
indicating that of the 236 actions followed up, 74% have been implemented based 
on both the formal and self-assessment follow up method. When analysed by 
follow up method, the results were that formal follow up method had a 61% 
implementation rate and self-assessment follow up method had a 82% 
implementation rate. 

In relation to self-assessment, the implementation rate of 81% is not significantly 
different to rates over the last three years, however it remains higher in 
comparison to the formal follow up method. Consequently, in 2018-19, Internal 
Audit trialled an approach to validating self-assessment responses which focused 
on two audits, details of which were contained in an appendix. As a result of 

Page 4



– 3 –

undertaking the pilot exercise to validate self-assessment responses, the following 
actions are planned for 2019-20:-

 A programme of routine validation checks will be established to provide 
more robust assurance over the self-assessment approach. The results 
of this will be included in the next recommendation tracking report to the 
Audit and Procurement Committee.

 The template form for self-assessments is to be revised to assist 
managers to reach appropriate conclusions on actions taken.

After the follow up has been completed, the results are collated within Internal 
Audit. If progress is not consistent with expectations, audit management will 
determine the next course of action, details of which were outlined in the report. 
Proposed actions for the audits where recommendations remain outstanding were 
highlighted within Appendices to the report.

RESOLVED that the Audit and Procurement Committee notes the progress 
made in implementing audit recommendations and confirms its satisfaction 
with this and the proposed action by the Acting Chief Internal Auditor for 
Internal Auditor for audits where actions remain outstanding.

72. Annual Compliance Report - Regulatory & Investigatory Powers Act (RIPA) 
2018 

The Committee considered a report of the Deputy Chief Executive (Place) which 
reported on the Council’s use of the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 
(RIPA), which governs the acquisition and disclosure of communications data and 
the use of covert surveillance by local authorities. 

The report indicated that the Council uses powers under RIPA to support its core 
functions for the purpose of prevention and detection of crime where an offence 
may be punishable by a custodial sentence of 6 months or more or are related to 
the underage sale of alcohol and tobacco. There are three powers available to 
local authorities under RIPA: the acquisition and disclosure of communications 
data; directed surveillance; and covert human intelligence sources.

The report detailed the procedures that local authorities must follow when applying 
to use RIPA powers, including submitting applications to the Magistrates Court for 
approval. The Council’s Monitoring Officer maintains oversight of the RIPA 
arrangements and is responsible for the integrity of the Council’s process for 
managing the requirements under RIPA.  

From 1 November, 2018 there is a new requirement to meet a serious crime 
threshold for the acquisition of service or traffic data for Communications data. 
This typically means that the offences under investigation could result in 
imprisonment for more than 12 months. 

Details of the applications that the Council has made under RIPA were detailed in 
the report. For the period 1 January, 2018 to 31 December, 2018 two direct 
surveillance applications were granted, and two authorisations were granted by 

Page 5



– 4 –

the Magistrates. The Committee noted that all of the requests covered core 
functions permitted by the Act and were for the purpose of preventing and 
detecting crime. There were no reported instances of the Council having misused 
its powers under the Act. No applications for the disclosure of communications 
data were made during the period.  

The Committee questioned the officer on a number of issues, including 
comparative information in relation to the use of the powers by other Local 
Authorities.

RESOLVED that the Audit and Procurement Committee:-

1) Approves the Council’s use and compliance with the Regulatory and 
Investigatory Powers Act.

2) Request the Cabinet Member for Policing and Equalities to:-

i) Provide comparative information with other Local Authorities in 
future reports.

ii) Refer the report to the Licensing and Regulatory Committee.

73. Culture Coventry Trust – Finance and Governance 

The Committee considered a report of the Deputy Chief Executive (Place) which 
provided information in relation to the finance and governance arrangements for 
the Culture Coventry Trust which was established in August 2013 following a 
Cultural Trust Review which recommended a merger of the Coventry Heritage and 
Arts Trust (CHAT) and the Coventry Transport Museum (CTM).

In April 2014, a £9.5m refurbishment and redevelopment programme commenced 
at CTM and the Old Grammar School, culminating in the full reopening to the 
public of the School and comprehensively re-modelled Museum in June 2015.

In February 2015, the Council established in its Medium Term Financial Strategy a 
further annual saving of £500k (to take effect from Apeil 2017) from Culture 
Coventry Trust (CCT) grant budget. Since 2016/17, the Trust has been through a 
very difficult financial period, which as a result has required financial and other 
support from the City Council and other partners, and has also resulted in a 
change in the structure of both the Board of Trustees and the Trusts senior 
management team. 

The Trust has established a revised financial and business plan which is resulting 
in a much improved financial position and financial outlook. However, it remains in 
a transitional state whilst it implements the plans. Continues to repay monies owed 
to the City Council and re-establish its reserve balances. 

The Committee noted the future governance structure of the organisation is also 
currently under review to ensure its future fitness for purpose. 

The report detailed Council involvement with the Trust in the following areas:-

Page 6



– 5 –

 Officer involvement – Council officers have always maintained a 
“contract monitoring” role to ensure the Trust are delivering against their 
obligations under the grant agreement. Involvement has been 
continuous and more significant as both a support and a challenge 
since the Trust reported formally to the Council in November 2016 that 
they expected to return a deficit, had no reserves, and were likely to be 
unable to repay the cash flow debt. This close working relationship to 
support the Board of Trustees and management team has continued 
through the management regime changes at the Trust.

 Council Annual Grant to the Trust – The Council is the main funder to 
the Trust and provides an annual grant of c£2m, which helps fund their 
annual planned spend. Recognising the Trusts financial difficulties and 
also taking into account that they are the custodians of the Council’s 
cultural assets, the Council acted formally in April 2017 to “buy time” for 
the Trust to address its finances by approving an unsecured loan to 
enable them to advance pay their pension liability and for a cash flow 
facility during 2017/18. 

Following a change of management team, a new Business Plan was approved by 
the Trust Board in 2018 which followed a major review of current costs, staffing 
structures and ability to generate income. As a result of this medium term outlook, 
some shorter term benefit was also achieved which allowed the Trust to report a 
much lower deficit position in 2017/18 than had been feared. This also meant the 
amount of cash flow loan support required to be drawn down was significantly 
lower that had been approved by the City Council.

The Committee questioned officers on aspects of the report including:-

 Challenges for the Trust 
 Mechanisms in place to provide assurance in relation to financial and 

governance arrangements
 Key management roles at the Trust
 City Council resource implications, including salaries
 Polices and procedures in place to ensure accountability

The Committee requested clarity in relation to the governance timeline and further 
information in relation to the current governance structure.

RESOLVED that the Audit and Procurement Committee:-

1) Notes the report, which provides assurances in relation to finance and 
governance arrangements. 

2) Requests information in relation to the governance timeline and the 
current governance structure.

74. Post of Director of Human Resources - Salary Approval 

The Committee considered a report of the Deputy Chief Executive (People) which, 
in line with statutory guidance under s40 of the Localism Act 2011 and the City 

Page 7



– 6 –

Council’s Pay Policy statement, sought approval in respect of an annual salary 
package in excess of £100,000 for the post of Director of Human Resources.

The report indicated that the challenges facing the Council in terms of re-shaping 
the way that we work, embracing new technologies and new partnership working 
all require successful delivery of a range of major workforce initiatives as part of 
the One Coventry programme. In particular, there is an urgent need to develop an 
Employee and Industrial Relations Policy that enables significant changes to be 
delivered within a unionised working environment. The Human Resources function 
has been led by a Head of Service and this post is currently vacant. The current 
level of appointment has not given the post holder sufficient authority to lead 
delivery of change on the scale required. Nor has it enabled the recruitment of the 
right level of skills and experience to work in partnership with the trade unions to 
achieve the Council’s objectives. 

A Business Case was appended to the report and identifies that the post of 
Director of Human Resources should be graded at Grade AD1, the salary range 
for which is £97,927 to £106,130.

RESOLVED that the Audit and Procurement Committee approves a salary 
range of up to £106.130 pa for the post of Director of Human Resources. 

75. Any Other Items of Urgent Public Business 

There were no other items of urgent public business.

(Meeting closed at 4.00 pm)

Page 8



 Public report
Committee Report

Audit and Procurement Committee 25th March 2019

Name of Cabinet Member:
Cabinet Member for Strategic Finance and Resources – Councillor J Mutton

Director approving submission of the report:
Deputy Chief Executive (Place)

Ward(s) affected:
N/A

Title:
Outstanding Issues

Is this a key decision?
No

Executive summary:

This report is to identify those issues on which further reports / information has been requested or 
are outstanding so that Members are aware of them and can monitor their progress.

Recommendations:

The Committee is recommended to:-

1. Consider the list of outstanding items as set out in the Appendices, and to ask the Deputy 
Chief Executive concerned to explain the current position on those items which should 
have been discharged.

2. Agree that those items identified as completed within the Appendices be confirmed as 
discharged and removed from the outstanding issues list.

List of Appendices included:

Appendix 1 - Further Report Requested to Future Meeting
Appendix 2 - Information Requested Outside Meeting

Other useful background papers:

None 

Has it or will it be considered by scrutiny?

No

Page 9

Agenda Item 5



Has it, or will it be considered by any other council committee, advisory panel or other 
body?

No

Will this report go to Council?

No

Page 10



Report title:
Outstanding Issues

1. Context (or background)

1.1 In May 2004, the City Council adopted an Outstanding Minutes system, linked to the 
Forward Plan, to ensure that follow-up reports can be monitored and reported to Members.

1.2 At their meeting on 25th January 2017, the Audit and Procurement Committee requested 
that, in addition to further reports being incorporated into the Committee’s Work 
Programme, that a report be submitted to each meeting detailing those additional reports 
requested to a future meeting along with details of additional information requested outside 
of the formal meeting.

1.3 Appendix 1 to the report outlines items where a report back has been requested to a future 
Committee meeting, along with the anticipated date for further consideration of the issue.  

1.4 In addition, Appendix 2 sets out items where additional information was requested outside 
of the formal meeting along with the date when this was completed.

1.5 Where a request has been made to delay the consideration of the report back, the 
proposed revised date is identified, along with the reason for the request.

2. Options considered and recommended proposal

2.1 N/A

3. Results of consultation undertaken

3.1 N/A 

4. Timetable for implementing this decision 

4.1 N/A

5. Comments from the Director Finance and Corporate Resources

5.1 Financial implications

N/A

5.2 Legal implications

N/A

6. Other implications

6.1 How will this contribute to achievement of the Council's Plan?

N/A

6.2 How is risk being managed?

This report will be considered and monitored at each meeting of the Cabinet

Page 11



6.3 What is the impact on the organisation?

N/A 

6.4 Equalities / EIA 

N/A 

6.5 Implications for  (or impact on) the environment

N/A

6.6 Implications for partner organisations?

N/A 

Report author(s):

Name and job title:
Lara Knight
Governance Services Co-ordinator

Directorate:
Place

Tel and email contact:
E-mail: Lara.knight@coventry.gov.uk
Tel: 024 7683 3237

Enquiries should be directed to the above person.

Contributor/approver 
name

Title Directorate or 
organisation

Date doc 
sent out

Date response 
received or 
approved

Contributors:

Names of approvers: 
(officers and Members)
 

This report is published on the council's website: www.coventry.gov.uk/moderngov 

Page 12

http://www.coventry.gov.uk/moderngov
http://www.coventry.gov.uk/moderngov


Appendix 1 

Further Report Requested to Future Meeting

Subject Minute Reference 
and Date Originally 
Considered

Date For Further 
Consideration 

Responsible Officer Proposed 
Amendment To 
Date For 
Consideration

Reason For Request 
To Delay 
Submission Of 
Report

1. Quarter Three Internal Audit 
Progress Report 2018/19.

The Committee requested an 
update report following the 
follow up review in April 2019, 
on the issues identified at 
Frederick Bird School which 
had resulted in a Limited 
Assurance.

62/18
25th February 2019

June 2019 Karen Tyler

* identifies items where a report is on the agenda for your meeting.

P
age 13



Appendix 2

Information/Action Requested Outside Meeting

Subject Minute Reference and 
Date Originally 
Considered

Information Requested / Action 
Required

Responsible Officer Date Completed

1. Internal Audit Plan 2018/2019 Minute 7/18
18th June 2018
and
Minute 13/18
16th July 2018

The Committee requested that a 
timeline be prepared in respect of 
the telephony system and 
customer service review.

David Ashmore

2. Information Governance 
Annual Report 2017/2018
 

Minute 20/18
16th July 2018

A letter from the Chair of the 
Committee relating to data 
protection training for Elected 
Members, be prepared and 
circulated to Members

In addition to the completion of 
Data Protection Training, 
workshops be arranged for 
Elected Members to support 
them on the requirements of the 
GDPR

Adrian West/
Sharon Lock

3. Procurement and 
Commissioning Progress 
Report – Future Reporting 
Arrangements

Minute 22/18
16th July 2018

Further discussion be held with 
the Chair of the Committee to 
determine the most appropriate 
forum for the future consideration 
of the reports 

Karen Tyler/Mick Burns Ongoing

4. 2018/19 Second Quarter 
Financial Monitoring Report (to 
September 2018)

Minute 50/18
21st January 2019

The Committee requested details 
of the fees paid to external 
suppliers to undertake proactive 
reviews of single person 

Karen Tyler / Council 
Tax Team

11th February 2019

P
age 14



discounts linked to Council Tax 
and how these fees compare to 
other suppliers.

5. Corporate Risk Register 
Update

Minute 51/18
21st January 2019

The Committee requested 
information on the steps being 
taken to ensure that relevant staff 
have the required skill sets to 
undertake contract management.

Mick Burn

6. Work Programme 59/18
25th February 2019

The Committee requested that a 
review be undertaken by the 
Finance and Corporate Services 
Scrutiny Board (1) in relation to 
the funding of the Godiva Festival 
and that the findings be circulated 
to the Audit and Procurement 
Committee.

Scrutiny Board 1 
(Carolyn Sinclair / Vicky 
Castree)

7. 2018/19 Third Quarter 
Financial Monitoring Report (to 
December 2018)

Minute 61/18
25th February 2019

The Committee requested an 
update on the position in relation 
to the loss of car parking income 
at Coombe Country Park as a 
result of the breakdown of 
equipment.

Barry Hastie / Paul 
Jennings

8. Culture Coventry Trust – 
Finance and Governance

Minute 73/18
25th March 2019

The Committee requested 
information in relation to the 
governance timeline and the 
current governance structure.

Phil Helm / David Nuttall

P
age 15



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Audit and Procurement Committee

Work Programme 2019-2020

24th June 2019

Internal Audit Annual Report 2018-2019
Annual Governance Statement 2018-2019
Internal Audit Plan 2019-2020
Draft Statement of Accounts 2018-2010

15th July 2019

Audit Findings Report 2018-2019 (Grant Thornton) 
Revenue and Capital Out-turn 2018-2019
Statement of Accounts 2018-2019  
Audit Committee Annual Report 2018-2019 
Information Governance Annual Report 2018-2019 
Procurement Progress Report (Private)

2nd September 2019

Quarter One Revenue and Corporate Capital Monitoring Report 2019-2020
Fraud Annual Report 2018-2019
Ombudsman Complaints Annual Report 2018-2019
Whistleblowing Annual Report 2018-19

11th November 2019

Annual Audit Letter 2018-2019 (Grant Thornton) 
Half Year Internal Audit Progress Report 2019-2020
Treasury Management Update
Procurement Progress Report (Private)

27th January 2020

Quarter Two Revenue and Corporate Capital Monitoring Report 2019-2020
Corporate Risk Register Update
Half Yearly Fraud Update 2019-2020

Page 17

Agenda Item 6



16th March 2020

Grant Certification Report (Grant Thornton)
Quarter Three Revenue and Corporate Capital Monitoring Report 2019-2020
Quarter Three Internal Audit Progress Report 2019-2020 
Internal Audit Recommendation Tracking Report
Code of Corporate Governance (Adrian West)
RIPA (Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act) Annual Report 2018-2019
Procurement Progress Report (Private)

Date to be agreed

Outside Body - Governance and Financial Arrangements for Coventry City of Culture Trust
Outside Body - Governance and Financial Arrangements for Coombe Abbey Park Limited
Outside Body - Governance and Financial Arrangements for Culture Coventry 

Page 18



                1

Is this a key decision?
No

Executive summary:

The purpose of this report is to seek approval for the Annual Governance Statement, which forms 
part of the Statement of Accounts for 2018-19. 

Recommendations:

Audit and Procurement Committee is recommended to consider and approve the Annual 
Governance Statement (attached at Appendix One), which accompanies the 2018-19 Statement 
of Accounts. 

List of Appendices included:

Appendix One – Annual Governance Statement 2018-19

Background papers:

None 

 Public report

Report to

Audit and Procurement Committee                                                                     24th June 2019 

Name of Cabinet Member:
Cabinet Member for Policy and Leadership – Councillor G Duggins

Director approving submission of the report:
Deputy Chief Executive (Place)

Ward(s) affected:
City Wide

Title:
Annual Governance Statement 2018-19

Page 19

Agenda Item 7



2

Other useful documents:

Annual Governance Statement 2017-18
https://edemocracy.coventry.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=553&MId=11817&Ver=4

Has it or will it be considered by scrutiny?

No 

Has it, or will it be considered by any other council committee, advisory panel or other 
body?

No

Will this report go to Council?

No

Page 20

https://edemocracy.coventry.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=553&MId=11817&Ver=4


3

Report title:
Annual Governance Statement 2018-19

1. Context (or background)

1.1 Coventry City Council is responsible for ensuring that its business is conducted in 
accordance with the law and proper standards, and that public money is safeguarded and 
properly accounted for, and used economically, efficiently and effectively. In discharging 
this responsibility, the City Council is responsible for putting in place proper arrangements 
for the governance of its affairs and facilitating the effective exercise of its functions, 
including arrangements for the management of risk. 

1.2 To demonstrate such arrangements, the City Council has adopted a Code of Corporate 
Governance, which is consistent with the principles reflected in the CIPFA / SOLACE 
framework and guidance ‘Delivering Good Governance in Local Government’ (2016). 

1.3 The Annual Governance Statement (‘AGS’) explains how Coventry City Council has 
complied with the Code and in doing so, reflects the requirements of the Accounts and 
Audit Regulations 2015, which requires all relevant bodies to prepare an Annual 
Governance Statement. The AGS also details key governance / control issues identified 
through the assessment that the Council faces in the coming year.

2. Options considered and recommended proposal

2.1 The Annual Governance Statement is informed by a review of the Council's governance 
environment, which is based on a number of sources including:

 An annual assessment of the adequacy of internal controls / governance 
arrangements by each Deputy Chief Executive. 

 The outputs from the Internal Audit Service, reflected in an annual report that 
identifies those issues, which in the opinion of the Chief Internal Auditor, should be 
considered when producing the Annual Governance Statement.

 Reports from external bodies during the year, including those from the Council's 
external auditors and other inspection agencies. 

 The Council’s Corporate Risk Register.

 An annual review against the principles and best practice set out in the Code of 
Corporate Governance.

2.2 Section 5 of the Annual Governance Statement, attached at Appendix One, highlights 
those areas that the Council considers require internal control / governance improvements. 
This assessment is co-ordinated by the Chief Internal Auditor, but also incorporates the 
views and opinions of senior officers and the Council’s Governance Steering Board. The 
key disclosures come from the following processes:

  A review of progress against disclosures highlighted in the Annual Governance 
Statement 2017-18.

 New disclosures identified as part of the assessment process outlined in section 2.1.

The outcomes from these processes are expanded upon below.

Page 21



4

2.3   Update on disclosures made in the Annual Governance Statement 2017-18 - A review 
of the twelve disclosures highlighted in the Annual Governance Statement 2017-18 has 
found that the disclosures fall into two categories, namely:

2.3.1 Closed from the 2017-18 Statement – Five disclosures have been closed as they are (a) no 
longer viewed as a significant governance / control issue facing the Council or (b) have 
been subsumed into other disclosures.  In summary, the disclosures that have been closed 
and will not be carried forward to the 2018-19 Annual Governance Statement are as 
follows:

 The delivery of the Kickstart programme: The Council’s plan for making savings, 
supporting city centre regeneration including business rate growth and rationalising 
its’ office estate - The Kickstart Programme has been completed. Governance of city 
centre regeneration is now under a different work-stream and is identified as a 
separate issue in the statement. 

 Long term sustainability of adult social care in the context of financial and demand 
issues - Adult Social Care remains a comparatively low spend per 100k population 
and the Council’s approach to short term services and using the voluntary sector 
helps reduce the numbers of people entering on-going care and support.  Long term 
issues of sustainability are subject to the spending review and local government 
settlement later in 2019. From a governance perspective, this is intrinsically linked to 
the delivery of the Medium Term Financial Strategy and has been subsumed into this 
disclosure.

 Establishing a Counter Fraud Framework – A new Fraud and Corruption Strategy, 
including the Counter Fraud Framework has been considered by the Audit and 
Procurement Committee and approved by the Cabinet Member for Policy and 
Leadership. This now forms part of the annual programme of work undertaken by 
Internal Audit. 

 Risk Management Strategy – During 2018-19 actions were taken to embed risk 
management practice in the organisation. Risk Registers are now in place for each 
Director’s areas of operation and are reviewed at Leadership Team meetings on a 
regular basis. 

 Governance Steering Board – The Governance Steering Board was established in 
September 2018 and meets on a regular basis to review the effectiveness of the 
governance framework throughout the year, help raise the profile of governance 
across the Council and co-ordinate improvement actions. Updates on this work are 
provided to the Strategic Management Board every month. 

2.3.2 Carry forward to the 2018-19 Statement - A number of governance / control issues remain 
in the Annual Governance Statement.  These are detailed in Appendix One, along with the 
actions the Council plans to take in 2019-20 in relation to these issues. In summary, the 
disclosures that have been carried forward to the 2018-19 Annual Governance Statement 
are as follows:

 Sustainable improvement in Children’s Services.

 Ensuring delivery of the Council’s vision and corporate objectives, in line with the   
Medium Term Financial Strategy.

 Raising educational standards.

Page 22



5

 Implementation of the Information Management Strategy.  

 Delivery of the Workforce Strategy.

 Delivery of the ICT Strategy.

 Management of increasing demand in relation to homelessness and the associated 
costs of housing families in temporary accommodation.

2.4 New Disclosures – Three new disclosures have been identified for the Annual 
Governance Statement 2018-19.  These issues were identified as part of the review 
undertaken to support the production of the Annual Governance Statement and are 
detailed below:

 Corporate data access standard – Development and implementation of a corporate 
data access standard and protocol for all systems that hold personal data. 

 Governance over relationships with partners and outside bodies – The Council has a 
strong foundation of partnership working, which was positively recognised in the 
recent Local Government Association (LGA) Corporate Peer Challenge.  This has 
included the Council’s pivotal involvement in forming the West Midlands Combined 
Authority, the Place Forum and the Coventry and Warwickshire Local Enterprise 
Partnership.  However, it is recognised that in order to continue to respond to 
challenges and to adapt to new approaches in terms of the role of the local authority 
in the community, the Council needs to ensure that there are effective arrangements 
over its relationships with partners and outside bodies which provide governance and 
flexibility to deliver effective outcomes. Partnership working principles have been 
established and work is planned in 2019/20 to develop protocols to underpin this.  
These will be used to gain assurance that key relationships, such as with the City of 
Culture Trust and the Friargate Joint Venture are being appropriately governed.  In 
addition, a People Partnership is in its early stages of implementation with a focus on 
strengthening partnership arrangements across the City and working together to 
improve collaboration and connectivity in spirit of the Council’s One Coventry 
approach. 

 Governance over the programme of capital projects – The Council has an ambitious 
programme of capital projects, which in 2019/20 will continue to accelerate in 
advance of the Council becoming City of Culture in 2021.  Whilst providing ongoing 
regeneration and redevelopment of the city and supporting business rate growth, the 
scale of the programme requires robust governance and strategic control to ensure 
that the programme is delivered successfully.  Governance arrangements are 
established with delivery overseen by project boards who report to the responsible 
cabinet members via established briefing and reporting mechanisms.  Governance is 
also provided via the City of Culture Readiness Board and the Place Programme 
Delivery Board.  In 2019/20 the focus will be on ensuring that as the programme 
continues to move at pace, governance arrangements remain embedded and integral 
to programme delivery whilst also ensuring that there are effective processes in place 
to maintain a view of the overall programme, so its inter-dependencies are managed / 
joined up, maintaining momentum on the Council’s wider aspirations. 

3. Results of consultation undertaken

Page 23



                6

3.1 None

4. Timetable for implementing this decision 

4.1 There is no implementation timetable associated with this report.

5. Comments from the Director of Finance and Corporate Services

5.1 Financial Implications

There are no specific financial implications associated with this report. Internal control / 
governance have clear and direct effects on finance within the Council. Since these vary 
widely, it is not useful to attempt to summarise them here, beyond noting that all systems 
and controls are designed to help improve value for money obtained, the probity and 
propriety of financial administration, and / or the management of operational risks.

5.2 Legal implications

The City Council is required by the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 to approve, and 
subsequently publish, the Annual Governance Statement alongside the Statement of 
Accounts.

6. Other implications

6.1 How will this contribute to achievement of the Council Plan?

The governance framework comprises the systems and processes (i.e the internal control 
environment), and culture and values, by which the authority is directed and controlled, and 
its activities through which it accounts to, engages with and leads the community.  It 
enables the authority to monitor the achievement of its strategic objectives and to consider 
whether those objectives have led to the delivery of appropriate, cost effective services. 

6.2 How is risk being managed?

The key risk that exists is that planned actions are not implemented. This risk is managed 
through the Council’s governance framework which includes arrangements to provide 
oversight of planned actions through reporting to senior management and designated 
committees / boards.  Defined processes also exist to gain assurance that agreed actions 
arising from the work of Internal Audit, External Audit or another external agency have 
been implemented on a timely basis. 

6.3 What is the impact on the organisation?

None 

6.4 Equalities / EIA 

None

6.5 Implications for (or impact on) the environment

No impact

Page 24



7

6.6 Implications for partner organisations?

None

Report author(s): 

Name and job title: 
Karen Tyler - Chief Internal Auditor 

Directorate: 
Place

Tel and email contact

Tel: 024 7697 2186
Email:Karen.tyler@coventry.gov.uk
Enquiries should be directed to the above person.

Contributor/approver name Title Directorate or 
organisation Date doc 

sent out
Date response 

received or 
approved

Contributors:
Lara Knight Governance 

Services Co-
ordinator 

Place 4/6/2019 6/6/2019

Paul Jennings Finance 
Manager 
Corporate 
Finance 

Place 4/6/2019 5/6/2019

Names of approvers: 
(officers and members)
Barry Hastie Director of 

Finance and 
Corporate 
Resources 

Place 4/6/2019 12/6/2019

Adrian West  Member and 
Elections 
Team 
Manager 

Place 4/6/2019 12/6/2019

Councillor G Duggins Cabinet 
Member for 
Policy and 
Leadership 

- 4/6/2019 13/6/2019

This report is published on the council's website:
www.coventry.gov.uk/meetings

Page 25

http://www.coventry.gov.uk/meetings
http://www.coventry.gov.uk/meetings


                                                                     

8

Appendix One – Annual Governance Statement 2018-19

Page 26



                                                                     

9
Page 27



                                                                     

10
Page 28



                                                                     

11
Page 29



                                                                     

12
Page 30



                                                                     

13
Page 31



                                                                     

14
Page 32



                                                                     

15
Page 33



                                                                     

16
Page 34



                                                                     

17
Page 35



                                                                     

18
Page 36



                                                                     

19
Page 37



                                                                     

20
Page 38



Audit and Procurement Committee 24 June 2019

Name of Cabinet Member: 
Cabinet Member for Strategic Finance and Resources - Councillor J Mutton

Director Approving Submission of the report:
Deputy Chief Executive (Place)

Ward(s) affected: 
All

Title:
Unaudited 2018/19 Statement of Accounts

Is this a key decision?
No

Executive Summary:

The purpose of this report is to give Audit and Procurement Committee the opportunity to review 
the unaudited 2018/19 Statement of Accounts and raise any points that need to be addressed 
prior to approval of the audited Statement in July 2019. The Committee is the sole body for 
approval of this Statement in line with the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2011. 

Recommendations:

Audit and Procurement Committee is recommended to review and comment on as appropriate, 
the unaudited 2018/19 Statement of Accounts.

List of Appendices included:

The Statement of Accounts is appended in its entirety.

Background Papers

None

Other useful documents: 

Final Accounts Working papers - Friargate 6th Floor

Has it been or will it be considered by Scrutiny?:

The Audit and Procurement Committee will consider the Statement. 

 Public report

Page 39

Agenda Item 8



Has it been or will it be considered by any other Council Committee, Advisory Panel or 
other body?:

No

Will this report go to Council?: 

No

Page 40



Report title: Unaudited 2018/19 Statement of Accounts 

1. Context (or background)

This report presents the unaudited 2018/19 Statement of Accounts (SoA). The Council is 
required by law to produce this document and it is prescribed heavily by regulation. This 
version is presented to Audit and Procurement Committee to provide an opportunity to 
review and comment on it. The Statement is also subject to audit currently by the Council's 
external auditors, Grant Thornton. It will be brought back to Audit and Procurement 
Committee for formal approval in July 2019 reflecting any changes recommended by Grant 
Thornton and agreed by the Director of Finance and Corporate Services. Grant Thornton 
will present their own Audit Findings Report alongside the audited Statement in July.

2. Options considered and recommended proposal

2.1 Given the highly technical, heavily prescribed and retrospective nature of the Statement of 
Accounts there are no options to consider. The Audit and Procurement Committee is 
recommended to review the draft statements and make any comments as appropriate prior 
to final approval. The paragraphs below explain the key aspects of the Statement.

2.2 In terms of the financial aspects of the SoA, the Committee should be aware that the 
Council’s accounts are presented in line with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS). The Council is required to include financial statements that are explained in Section 
2.1 of the appended draft (unaudited) Statement of Accounts document.

2.3 The Statement of Accounts must reflect local government accounting convention that any 
surplus or deficit that arises within the financial year is equal to the change in the net value 
of the authority's assets and liabilities and the change in the value of its equity. For 2018/19 
the Council is reporting a £60.1m surplus within its Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement (CIES). This surplus is matched by an increase in the value of the 
Balance Sheet and the same increase is reflected in the level of (useable plus unusable) 
reserves in the Movement in Reserves Statement (MiRS). 

2.4 The CIES surplus referred to above does not reflect the genuine position of the Council's 
General Fund, for which a £1.0m underspend will be reported in the Revenue and Capital 
Outturn Report to be considered by Cabinet in July. The headline differences between the 
Income and Expenditure Account and the General Fund are traditionally explained within 
this report and the key explanations are detailed in the table that follows. The two areas 
that usually represent the biggest reasons (pensions and asset values) are explained in 
more detail in 2.5 and 2.6 due to their relative complexity.

2.5 In recent years, there have been very significant movements in the Council’s pension 
liability which have fed through to large movements in the Council’s CIES. In 2018/19 the 
Council’s pension liability has remained virtually unchanged at £542m. Despite this there 
have been significant shifts within the value of assets and liabilities within the pensions 
position that require further explanation. The key movements in the year are:

 A decrease in the discount rate from 2.55% to 2.40% (liability increase). The 
discount rate is the rate of interest used to discount post-employment benefits - 
the lower the rate, the higher the calculated cost of future pension liabilities. 

 A decrease in life expectancy assumptions which has the effect of reducing 
future expected liabilities.

 An upfront payment of £93m made by the City Council to the Pension Fund in 
April 2017 covering 3 years pension contributions. Although this decreased the 

Page 41



liability in 2017/18, this benefit will ‘fall-out’ over 2018/19 and 2019/20 at the rate 
of £31m each year.

The upfront payment has received an accounting treatment, in line with advice from the 
Council’s external auditors, whereby the (temporary) beneficial impact of the reduced 
liability has not been reflected in the CIES or the MiRS. 

2.6 There are several asset related adjustments. These include the net movement relating to 
depreciation, asset revaluations, asset disposals and de-recognition. Derecognition 
includes two broad categorisations: where the value of assets must be split into several 
individual components necessitating assessments of the value of each component part of 
each asset; and the removal of recent academy school converters from the Council’s 
balance sheet. The overall movement relating to these changes is relatively small in 
2018/19 largely because of upwards revaluation balancing the other changes. Separately, 
grant funding for capital assets represents the biggest single change in the table below 
(£80m) representing the resourcing for part of the Capital Programme. 

2.7 These circumstances within the Statement have not necessarily affected the Council's cash 
flows of income and expenditure in 2018/19.  Instead they may be either events that will 
never result in an increased/reduced level of income or need to spend or, at worst, will only 
do so many years in the future. For this reason, they do not form part of the management 
accounts which reflect a more current (and statutorily based) view of the need to spend and 
to finance this spend through grants, taxation and charges. The differences between the 
Statement of Account and management accounts are shown in the table below.

£000 £000

Surplus Shown in Comprehensive Income & 
Expenditure Account (CIES) (60,120)

Less changes that made the CIES worse than the 
management accounts

Asset related adjustments including the rate that our 
assets go down in value over their lifetime due to wear 
and tear (depreciation) and any charges reflecting one-
off changes in the value of our assets (impairment, 
revaluation and de-recognition). 

(52,710)

Items such as external schemes (e.g. Disabled 
Facilities Grants) that the Council funds from capital 
resources not revenue which do not result in the 
creation of new asset value for the Council.

(25,767)

Sub-Total – changes that made the CIES worse than 
the management accounts (78,477)

Add changes that made the CIES better than the 
management accounts

Capital grants and other capital funding that is reflected 
in the CIES but not in the management accounts. 79,665

Page 42



The difference between a calculated whole-life cost of 
pensions and the pension contributions paid by the 
Council in the year. The pensions' deficit position has 
gone down this year.

31,252

A charge for the amount that we need to put aside to 
repay debt in the future, peculiar to local authorities, 
referred to as the minimum revenue provision. This is 
reflected in the management accounts but not the CIES

10,904 

An increase in the overall value of general fund 
reserves which is reflected in the CIES but not in the 
management accounts

11,177

All Other Items 24

Sub-Total – changes that made the CIES better than 
the management accounts 133,022

Sub-Total (5,575)

Contribution to General Fund Reserves to increase 
Financial Resilience 4,600

Surplus Shown in Outturn Report (975)

3. Results of consultation undertaken

3.1 Given the nature of the report no consultation has been undertaken. 

4. Timetable for implementing this decision

4.1 Regulations governing the timetable of the accounts closedown process require the draft 
accounts to be prepared by 31st May and the final audited Statement to be approved by 31st 
July. These draft accounts were issued on 24th May and it is anticipated will be signed off 
by Audit Committee on 15th July once they have been audited by Grant Thornton. Any 
material changes to the accounts following the audit will be reported to Audit and 
Procurement Committee at its July meeting. 

5. Comments from Director of Finance and Corporate Services

5.1 Financial implications
The Statement is a heavily prescribed, highly technical and very detailed document and it is 
no exaggeration to say that even experienced finance professionals find it difficult to 
understand some of the more complex areas of the Statement. For this reason, this report 
only summarises the key aspects of the Statement and its implications for the Council. In 
reality, the 2018/19 Revenue and Capital Outturn Report which contains the end of year 
position of the Council's management accounts is a more representative summary of the 
Council's in-year financial performance. 

The Statement of Accounts provides a retrospective record of the Council’s financial 
position on an accounting basis and it does not in itself have any specific financial 
implications for the Council. However, there is one material area of analysis contained 
within the Statement that requires further explanation – the Council’s pension liability.

Page 43



Long-term trends have witnessed a significant worsening of the Council’s Pension liabilities 
over time. This reflects analysis indicating that contributions and other income flows into 
the pension fund have not been sufficient to meet the calculated cost of future outflows (the 
payment of pension benefits) from the fund. Over recent years, the Local Government 
Pension Scheme has been reformed at a national level whilst employer contributions have 
been increased across all West Midlands authorities to pay for the past service cost of 
pensions. In Coventry’s case these have been built into the budgets since 2014/15. It is not 
clear whether or not these measures will redress the overall pension deficit over the 
medium to long term, since other factors are always likely to cause year on year volatility 
which makes it difficult to assess any long-term trends in the early years. Although to some 
degree the Council’s £542m pension deficit is due to factors outside of the Council’s 
control, it nevertheless represents a position that the Council needs to address over the 
long-term in line with actuarial advice. The Council is paying employer contributions that 
are anticipated to move towards a position of balance over the long-term. However, 
continued short-term volatility in this area is anticipated to continue to be a feature of local 
authority accounts generally.

5.2 Legal implications
The Council is required by legislation to complete a draft Statement signed by the Chief 
Financial Officer by 31st May and to approve and publish audited accounts by 31st July in 
line with the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015. The Audit and Procurement Committee 
approves the accounts on behalf of the Council. 

6. Other implications

6.1 How will this contribute to achievement of the Council's Plan?

The Statement of Accounts contributes to the Council's key objectives as one of the 
measures by which to judge whether the Council is using its resources effectively and that 
its performance is well managed. 

6.2 How is risk being managed?

There is a detailed timetable for compiling the Statement of Accounts.

6.3 What is the impact on the organisation?

No specific impact.

6.4 Equalities / EIA 

No specific implications. 

6.5 Implications for  (or impact on) the environment

None

6.6 Implications for partner organisations?

None
 

Report author(s): 

Name and job title: 
Paul Jennings, Finance Manager (Corporate Finance)

Page 44



Directorate: 
Place

Tel and email contact: 
Tel: 02476833753
Email: paul.jennings@coventry.gov.uk

Enquiries should be directed to the above person.

Contributor/approver 
name

Title Directorate or 
organisation

Date doc 
sent out

Date response 
received or 
approved

Contributors:

Lara Knight Governance 
Services Co-
ordinator

Place 4/6/19 6/6/19

Names of approvers for 
submission: (Officers 
and Members)
Carol Bradford Corporate 

Governance Lawyer 
– Legal Services

Place 4/6/19 5/6/19

Barry Hastie Director of Finance 
and Corporate 
Services

Place 4/6/19 4/6/19

This report is published on the Council's website: www.coventry.gov.uk/meetings 

Page 45

http://www.coventry.gov.uk/meetings


This page is intentionally left blank



1 

 
 
 
 
 


 
 

Coventry City Council’s 
2018-19 

Statement of Accounts 
 

This document presents the Council’s financial performance 
for the year ending 31st March 2019. 

  

P
age 47



2 

1 An Overview of the Council's Performance ............................. 4 

1.1 Introduction ....................................................................................... 4 

1.2 Narrative Report ............................................................................... 4 

1.3 Statement of Responsibilities ......................................................... 16 

1.4 Annual Governance Statement....................................................... 17 

2 Main Financial Statements ...................................................... 30 

2.1 Overview of Main Financial Statements ......................................... 30 

2.2 Comprehensive Income & Expenditure Statement ........................ 31 

2.3 Movement in Reserves Statement ................................................. 32 

2.4 Balance Sheet ................................................................................ 34 

2.5 Cash Flow Statement ..................................................................... 35 

3 Notes to the Main Financial Statements ................................. 36 

3.1 Note to the CIES ............................................................................. 36 

3.2 Expenditure and Funding Analysis ................................................. 37 

3.3 Note to the Expenditure and Funding Analysis .............................. 38 

3.4 Revenue Outturn ............................................................................ 40 

3.5 Segmental Analysis ........................................................................ 41 

3.6 Income and Expenditure Analysis .................................................. 42 

3.7 Analysis of Capital Grants .............................................................. 43 

3.8 Analysis of Revenue Grants ........................................................... 44 

3.9 Deployment of Dedicated Schools Grant ....................................... 45 

3.10 Related Party Transactions ............................................................ 47 

3.11 Pooled Budgets .............................................................................. 49 

3.12 External Audit Costs ....................................................................... 51 

3.13 Usable and Unusable Reserves ..................................................... 52 

3.14 Adjustments between Accounting Basis & Funding Basis under 
Regulations................................................................................................. 55 

3.15 Property, Plant and Equipment ....................................................... 56 

3.16 Heritage Assets ............................................................................... 59 

3.17 Non-Operational Assets .................................................................. 61 

3.18 Capital Expenditure and Capital Financing ..................................... 63 

3.19 Revaluation of Property, Plant and Equipment ............................... 64 

3.20 Capital Commitments ...................................................................... 65 

3.21 Long Term Investments ................................................................... 66 

3.22 Long Term Debtors ......................................................................... 67 

3.23 Short Term Debtors ......................................................................... 68 

3.24 Short Term Creditors ....................................................................... 69 

3.25 Provisions ........................................................................................ 69 

3.26 Other Funds..................................................................................... 70 

3.27 Notes to the Cash Flow ................................................................... 71 

3.28 Private Finance Initiative (PFI) ........................................................ 73 

3.29 Leases ............................................................................................. 77 

3.30 Pension Costs ................................................................................. 80 

3.31 Retirement Benefits ......................................................................... 81 

3.32 Officers' Remuneration (including exit packages) ........................... 86 

3.33 Members' Allowances...................................................................... 88 

3.34 Financial Instruments ...................................................................... 89 

3.35 Associated Company Interests & Holdings ................................... 100 

3.36 Events after the Balance Sheet Date ............................................ 103 

3.37 Contingent Liabilities and Assets .................................................. 103 

3.38 Collection Fund Statement and Notes .......................................... 104 

4 Additional Financial Statements - Group Accounts ............ 107 

4.1 Overview of Group Accounts......................................................... 107 

4.2 Group Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Account ............ 108 

P
age 48



3 

4.3 Group Movement in Reserves Statement .................................... 109 

4.4 Group Balance Sheet ................................................................... 111 

4.5 Group Cash Flow Statement ........................................................ 112 

4.6 Reconciliation of Single Entity to Group Accounts ....................... 113 

4.7 Group Tax Expense ...................................................................... 114 

4.8 Group Companies Disclosure ....................................................... 114 

4.9 Notes to the Group Balance Sheet ............................................... 115 

5 Statement of Accounting Policies ......................................... 117 

5.1 General ......................................................................................... 117 

5.2 Significant Assumptions made in estimating Assets and Liabilities
 117 

5.3 Critical Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies ................... 117 

5.4 Accounting standards issued, but not yet adopted ....................... 118 

5.5 Changes in Accounting Policies ................................................... 118 

5.6 Accounting Policies – Categories .................................................. 119 

5.7 Accounting Policies ....................................................................... 120 

6 Glossary of Terms ................................................................. 133 

7 Audit Certificate ..................................................................... 137 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

P
age 49



4 

1 An Overview of the Council's Performance 

1.1 Introduction 
 
Coventry City Council is a metropolitan district 
council responsible for all local government duties 
within the city of Coventry. The Council is 
required to set out its accounts in line with strict 
standards and this Statement of Accounts 

presents the Council’s financial performance for 
the year ending 31st March 2019. The narrative 
report below helps to explain some of the key 
elements of the Council’s role, its impact on major 
developments in the city and its performance for 

the year including some of the key financial 
information and how this links to the statements 
and notes in this document. 

 
 

1.2 Narrative Report 
 
Coventry is a city with exciting and challenging 
times ahead. Over the years the city has 
continually reinvented itself to rise to fresh 
challenges. In recent years, the city’s population 
has been growing, changing and becoming more 
diverse: Now home to over 360,100 people, 
Coventry is a young city, with a median age of 32 
compared to the England average of 40 years; 
and the city has seen a high rate of population 
growth amongst its young adult population of 
students and young professionals aged 18-29 in 
particular. The population is also changing in 
respect of the growth in over 65s, a group that is 
expected to increase in the next 10-15 years. The 
city is diverse and multicultural – not only does it 
have a global recognition for its work in peace 
and reconciliation, but the city itself is also 
becoming increasingly diverse, with 49% of the 
city’s schoolchildren from a Black and Minority 
Ethnic background. Although the city is cohesive, 
and people from different backgrounds report that 
they mix and get on well with one another, there 
is evidence to show that people do not feel they 
have influence over local decisions, which may 
create future barriers to cohesion. 
 

Employment and skills have continued to 
increase, particularly in highly skilled jobs. The 
city’s advanced manufacturing sector is growing, 
helped by the increase in the city’s working age 
population that is highly skilled and qualified. 
Education standards have also increased, with 
94% of primary and 74% of secondary students 
attending a good/outstanding school; and fewer 
young people not in education, employment or 
training. However, significant pockets of 
deprivation limit people’s opportunities to succeed 
in life, with nearly one in five neighbourhoods 
considered to be amongst the 10% most deprived 
neighbourhoods in England. In addition, 10% of 
the population have no qualifications at all, 
limiting their ability to gain better paid 
employment in the city. To transform life chances 
in these areas and thereby increase everybody’s 
opportunity to succeed in life requires ensuring 
every child achieves a good level of development 
by the age of five. This is because social 
inequalities are already established from the early 
years of life. 
 
The vast majority of people are satisfied with their 
local area as a place to live. Most people live 

within walking distance of a general/grocery shop, 
public transport links, parks, pubs, GP 
surgery/health centre, or a place of worship; 
providing opportunities to socialise, exercise and 
enjoy their lives. However, overall health in the 
city is below average, with residents living in more 
deprived parts of the city not only living shorter 
lives, but also spending a greater proportion of 
their shorter lives in poor health than those living 
in less deprived parts of the city. 
 
As the city’s population ages in the next 10-15 
years, it is important therefore to focus upon 
steps to improve the health of all social groups in 
a way that reflects each group's assets and 
needs, making use of communities, as they have 
the networks, understanding and legitimacy 
amongst their peers to address health challenges; 
in order to ensure that the expected increase in 
demand for adult social care services can be met 
in the future. 
 
The Council’s Operational Performance 

Coventry City Council is a metropolitan district 
authority organised into two Directorates which 

P
age 50



5 

cover the full range of local government 
responsibilities. Professional support functions 
are delivered by teams located within both 
Directorates. The People Directorate focuses on 
co-ordinating, commissioning or directly providing 
health, care, housing and education services for 
local residents, while the Place Directorate’s 
focus is on the city’s economic growth and 
prosperity, environment and cultural life. The 
city’s emerging One Coventry approach is 
working towards ensuring that services in both 
Directorates, along with partner agencies and 
local community groups, work together 
collaboratively to make the biggest positive 
impact on the lives of local people. 
 
The Council’s overall strategy is set out in the 
Council Plan, “One Coventry”, which sets out the 
vision, priorities and aspirations for the city to be 
“globally connected” to promote the growth of a 
sustainable Coventry economy and “locally 
committed” to improve the quality of life for 
Coventry people. Key information about the city 
and measures of the Council’s overall 
performance are provided separately in an annual 
performance report formally considered by 
Cabinet, Scrutiny Co-ordination Committee and 
presented at an All Members Seminar every 
summer. 
 
In October 2018, the Council invited a Local 
Government Association (LGA) Peer Challenge 
Team to provide challenge and share learning. As 
part of the review, the team of senior officers and 
councillors from local authorities from across the 
UK, supported by the LGA, spoke with external 
stakeholders, partners, Council officers and 
councillors. The LGA is the national voice of local 
government, working with councils to support, 
promote and improve local government. As a part 
of its work, it offers a Peer Challenge Review to 

every council every four or five years. The report 
recognised the Council’s success in “successfully 
meeting the financial challenge to date”, 
“combining its traditional values centred on 
delivering for local people with a growing track 
record of innovation and managed risk taking”, as 
well as the city’s “strong reputation as an 
evidence-led organisation” and in being “one of 
the most pro-active local authorities to work with 
in terms of promoting social value”. It also made a 
number of recommendations, around prioritising 
action to tackle homelessness; learning from 
other public sector organisations on best practice 
on industrial relations, pay and reward, and HR 
policy and partnership; driving the digital agenda; 
and building a shared vision for working in 
partnership. Over the past six months, steps have 
been taken to begin addressing these challenges 
and recommendations identified by the Peer 
Challenge Review. 
 
A person's lifelong health, happiness and 
productivity in society are influenced by their early 
years, and continued investment into early 
identification and intervention is critical. With the 
city’s investment into family hubs, the city has 
seen an increase in the percentage of five year 
olds achieving a good level of development. 
However, this is still below the rates seen in 
similar authorities and nationally. As a child ages, 
it is the quality of education that makes a 
difference, and attendance at good schools are 
important – and in terms of education, the vast 
majority of primary school pupils continue to 
attend schools rated good/outstanding and more 
pupils finish year 6 reaching the expected 
standard in reading, writing and maths. At 
secondary level, more pupils now attend a 
good/outstanding school, and attainment and 
progress measures at year 11 have seen 
improvement. With two good universities and an 

increasing range of highly paid jobs available in 
the city, there has also been a decrease in the 
number of young people not in education, 
employment or training – although further work 
needs to be done to raise aspirations of young 
people to take on the significant and growing 
opportunities available in the city and region. 
 
Social care services in the city have seen a 
marked improvement although the sector faces 
significant and sustained pressures. In children’s 
services, there has been an increase in the 
overall number of looked after children, as well as 
an increase in re-referrals. In adult social care, 
the number of people in long term support has 
increased – but remains within the expected 
range. 
 
The city is facing a huge challenge around 
homelessness, both in terms of financial costs 
and poor outcomes, around placements in 
temporary bed and breakfast accommodation. 
This year has seen the creation of an integrated 
housing team bringing together housing strategy, 
housing options (choice-based lettings) and 
homelessness prevention; and the bringing 
together of the Council’s Housing First and 
“making every adult matter” approach for people 
who experience rough sleeping, substance 
misuse and other severe and multiple 
disadvantage. 
 
Like other cities, there has been a surge in 
concern about crime and violence, particularly 
knife crime, and consequential effects on 
perceptions of safety. The city has seen an 
increase in crime rates, however rates are still 
lower than other areas in the West Midlands such 
as Birmingham or Wolverhampton. The city is 
adopting a public health approach to tackling 
violence that is looking at violence not as isolated 

P
age 51



6 

incidents or solely a police enforcement problem 
but considering it as a preventable consequence 
of a range of factors, such as adverse early-life 
experiences, or harmful social or community 
experiences and influences. 
 
 
The city's economy is strong, with a growing 
advanced manufacturing sector, increasing rates 
of employment and decreasing rates of 
unemployment, and more residents with high 
level qualifications. More residents are working in 
highly-skilled and higher paid jobs. The city 
continues to attract external investment, leading 
to a rapidly changing city skyline – from the 
demolition of old tower blocks to the construction 
of new buildings including student 
accommodation and apartment blocks to meet 
the changing needs of the city. This is predicted 
to lead to further private sector investment into 
the city centre including Cathedral Lanes, the 
Upper Precinct, and City Centre South. 
 
To support the growth of the city’s economy and 
to provide a pleasant environment for local 
people, the Council has responsibilities around 
networks, air quality, green spaces and 
cleanliness. The city’s road network continues to 
be in a good/acceptable condition, having 
improved markedly from previous years. 
However, the city faces challenges around 
littering and fly-tipping, with a marked increase in 
the number of fly-tips reported. Despite the 
increase in fly-tipping, the Council continues to 
successfully attend to and address the same 
proportion of fly-tips; and has developed metrics 
to identify, determine and address the levels of 
cleanliness across the city. 
 
The Council has had to respond to reductions in 
its funding from Government of around £113m 

between 2010/11 and 2018/19. Challenges 
around the achievement of some savings and the 
emergence of new expenditure pressures has 
meant that the Council had needed to address a 
significant financial gap. The uncertainty over the 
future local government funding model means 
that the proposals do not provide the Council with 
a balanced budget beyond 2019/20. The 
budgetary position will need to be determined by 
the revised funding announcements that will arise 
from the expected changes to local government 
finance this year, and progress made towards 
addressing the budgetary gap. 
 
It is against this background that the Council's 
financial performance is examined below. 
  

P
age 52



7 

The Council’s Financial Performance – 
Revenue 

In February 2018, the Council set an overall 
budget for its revenue expenditure of £727m. The 
following table shows how it was planned that this 
expenditure would be funded.  
 

 
 
The grants actually received are set out in note 
3.8 Analysis of Revenue Grants. 
 
Through the year, the Council measures the 
management of its day to day revenue 
expenditure based on the total amount it spends 
less the amount it receives for specific grants and 
fees and charges, representing a net budget of 
£234m. After setting aside £4.6m as a targeted 
contribution to its General Fund Balance, 
discussed below, the Council has achieved a 
residual underspend against budget for 2018/19 
of £1.0m.  
 
The first Resilience Index published by CIPFA in 
2019 indicated that the Council had a very low 
balance of general reserves (as a proportion of 
budget) compared with its peer authorities. In 
response the Council has specifically set aside 
£4.6m to increase its General Fund Balance 
ensuring that this is more in line with balances 
held by other similar councils. This contribution 

and the residual outturn underspend referenced 
above total £5.6m as set out in the table overleaf 
and more fully in note 3.4 Revenue Outturn.  
 
These accounts reflect the structure incorporating 
the Council’s two main service directorates – the 
People Directorate and Place Directorate. The 
table overleaf includes the key service areas that 
sit within these two Directorates. 
 
Within 2018/19 there were two main areas of 
budgetary overspend. One of these involved 
services relating to housing and homelessness 
where the overall overspend was £3.0m. 
Coventry has continued to face a large number of 
people and families that require housing and for 
whom the Council has had to arrange temporary 
accommodation. Only part of this cost is covered 
by Housing Benefit Subsidy and the remainder 
has had to be funded by the Council.  
 
Given the financial challenges in these services 
the Council has taken forward a number of 
approaches to address the underlying issues in 
2018/19, amongst them the purchase of Council 
owned temporary accommodation and creation of 
additional management capacity to help deliver 
housing services more effectively. Some of these 
approaches will take some time to be fully 
effective but the intention is that the budgetary 
position will have stabilised for 2019/20.   
 
The other significant area of overspend relates to 
the Council’s Waste and Fleet services, which 
have suffered a budgetary overspend of £2.7m. 
Much of this results from the disposal costs of 
both commercial and domestic waste as well as 
additional employee and ancillary costs of these 
services and a delay in securing sufficient 
additional business growth within the commercial 
sector to cover cost increases. 

 
Other areas within the accounts have witnessed 
one-off windfalls amounting to around £8m. 
These include: additional dividends from its 
shareholdings in the Coventry and Warwickshire 
Waste Disposal Company and Coombe Abbey 
Park Limited; a surplus generated via the 
Coventry and Warwickshire Business Rates Pool; 
additional treasury management investment 
income; cost avoidance from the capitalisation of 
interest costs; and lower than budgeted pension 
costs linked to an early payment arrangement 
with the West Midlands Pension Fund. In addition 
the Council has incurred lower than budgeted 
costs in relation to redundancy and early 
retirement and capital programme financing 
costs. Taken together these have allowed the 
Council to strengthen its level of reserves set 
aside for potential future workforce restructuring 
costs and provide funding for future commercial 
development opportunities, in addition to the 
contributions to the General Fund Balance 
referenced above.   
 
The purpose of the Council's key financial 
statements is explained in section 2.1. These 
include the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement (CIES) shown at 2.2 
which shows the cost of providing services in a 
different way to the position described above. The 
CIES reflects non-cash movements such as 
changes in the Council's pension liability and 
asset valuations, both of which are discussed 
below. On this basis the Council made a surplus 
of £60.1m in the year. Accounting convention 
means that the value of this movement is 
reflected also in the Council's Balance Sheet and 
Movement in Reserves Statement, both of which 
have increased in value by £60.1m in the year. 
 

P
age 53



8 

 

 
The Council’s Financial Performance – Capital 

Final Capital Programme spend for the year was 
£147m compared with a budget of £263m. 
Although a number of schemes made much 
slower progress than planned within the year the 
final level of capital expenditure was still the 
highest experienced in the modern era. The 
majority of the expenditure was funded from a 
combination of external grants and prudential 

borrowing, as set out in note 3.18 Capital 
Expenditure and Capital Financing. The most 
significant schemes undertaken in the year 
included investment in the city’s Battery 
Industrialisation Centre, near completion of the 
city’s new destination leisure facility, infrastructure 
works within the Whitley South scheme and 
purchase of the Council’s share in the Friargate 
Joint Venture.  

On the 17th December 2018 the City Council 
acquired 50% of the ordinary share capital of 
Friargate JV Project Ltd, established to develop 
new buildings as part of the creation of a 
business district within the city.  
 
The Council had previously (February 2018) 
incorporated the UK Battery Industrialisation 
Centre as sole shareholder. The purpose of the 
company is to run the National Battery 

P
age 54



9 

Development Facility which is currently being 
constructed and equipped. The capital costs are 
included within the Council’s single entity 
accounts such that any transactional activity 
within the company is at a minimum currently. 
 
The city’s new destination swimming and leisure 
facility ‘The Wave’ is planned to open early in 
2019/20. In close proximity to the Salt Lane multi-
storey car park (also nearing completion) and the 
newly opened restaurants within the Cathedral 
Lanes complex, the facility is further evidence of 
the Council’s efforts to regenerate the city.  
 
Like many other areas, changes in the current 
model of retail led urban centres is proving very 
challenging with an increasing number of high 
profile brands disappearing from the high street. 
This helps to explain, in part, the delay in bringing 
forward the proposed development of City Centre 
South, a regeneration scheme planned for a 
major part of the area within the city’s ring-road. It 
will be vital, particularly in such a volatile 
environment, that the Council and its chosen 
development partner, secure a model that 
delivers a robust and sustainable project which 
includes an appropriate mix of retail, leisure, 
residential and commercial provision. 
 
As part of its overall financial plans, the Council 
has continued to generate capital receipts from 
the sale of assets and to invest some of the 
proceeds into assets providing a higher return. 
This model remains an option for the Council 
going forward but will be limited by the Council’s 
ability and desire to continue to identify potential 
property assets from what is a reducing pool. The 
use of external grants (rather than receipts) to 
part fund 2018/19 capital expenditure has 
enabled the Council to carry forward capital 
resources to fund future expenditure plans. These 

resources are included within note 3.13 Usable 
and Unusable Reserves. 
 
Part of the expenditure programme has been 
earmarked to be funded by prudential borrowing 
although due to the Council’s existing cash 
balances it has been able to delay taking out any 
long-term borrowing within 2018/19 in terms of its 
treasury management activity. As a result of 
some existing borrowing being repaid the 
Council's long-term borrowing reflected in the 
Balance Sheet has gone down in the year from 
£333m to £317m. 
 
Reserve Balances 

The total level of reserves owned and controlled 
by the Council to support its revenue spending 
activities has gone up by £9m in 2018/19 and 
now stands at £71m. A further £26m of reserve 
balances either belong to or have been set aside 
to support the city’s schools, an increase of £2m 
in the year. These school reserves are not 
available for the Council to use for other 
purposes. In addition, capital resources set aside 
to fund one-off capital schemes stand at £23m.  

 
The revenue reserves are held for a number of 
reasons. Several of the largest balances include: 
£10m set aside to deliver the Council’s long-term 
Private Finance Initiative specific projects, £10m 
held to help the Council to restructure its 
workforce so that it can balance future budgets; 
nearly £5m to support the UK City of Culture 2021 
Programme. 
 
It is often difficult to explain to citizens and others 
who show an interest in the Council’s financial 
activity, the need to hold this level of financial 
balances. However, the Council’s view is that the 

scale of the financial challenges facing the 
Council and range of the projects and aspirations 
that it has established for itself over the next few 
years provides a strong justification for setting 
aside these amounts. In addition, based on the 
latest nationally available data (for 2017/18) the 
Council continues to hold more modest reserve 
balances (relative to its size) than much of the 
rest of local government hence the decision to 
increase its General Fund Balance, held to 
manage any unforeseen financial challenges, to 
£10m. Further detail on the Council’s reserve 
balances are set out in note 3.13 Usable and 
Unusable Reserves. 
 
Treasury Management 

The Council has maintained high levels of short-
term treasury investments for several years as a 
result mainly of receiving large amounts of grant 
funding ahead of the of the need to spend on the 
associated capital projects. The like-for-like level 
of the Council’s short-term investments has 
reduced in the year and consideration is now 
turning to when the Council will need to undertake 
some long-term treasury borrowing. The long-
term borrowing position at the end of 2018/19 
stands at its lowest level for some years. This 
position will continue to be kept under review and 
will be informed by the Council’s cash-flow 
position and prevailing interest rate conditions 
and will be driven by the need to secure the most 
advantageous financial outcome that can be 
achieved.  

  

P
age 55



10 

Other Issues within the Accounts 

This section considers the two most material 
areas of the Council's accounts by value, asset 
valuations and pensions accounting. It also looks 
at the Council's going concern status plus other 
issues that are important due to their financial 
materiality or their wider public interest. 

The Council's Balance Sheet shows the value at 
the balance sheet date of the assets and liabilities 
recognised by the authority. This is summarised 
in the table below and set out in full in section 2.4 
The Council's property assets represent £759m 
or 61% of the Long Term Assets figure. Its 
pension liabilities represent £542m or 61% of its 
Long-Term Liabilities. 
 

 
 
Note 5.3 Critical Judgements in Applying 
Accounting Policies captures any areas within the 
accounts that have a significant risk of material 
adjustment within the next financial year.  The 
sections below give an indication of the 

complexity and volatility of both pensions and 
asset accounting and demonstrate why the 
Council has included these as the two areas 
within this categorisation. 
 
Pensions Accounting 

The Council’s pension deficit represents the most 
striking single factor within these accounts as it is 
for many other local authorities, and as it is likely 
to do for some years to come. The balance sheet 
shows a shortfall of £542m between the current 
value of amounts paid into the pension fund and 
the forecast cost of pensions that will need to be 
paid out in future. This is the same figure as the 
deficit recorded in the 2017/18 accounts and, 
when compared with the total value of everything 
the Council owns (£1,381m), the overall pension 
deficit remains a significant matter for 
consideration. 
 
There are a number of contributory reasons why 
local government pension deficits have risen over 
the past ten or so years. The two main factors are 
that people are living longer and that changes in 
financial conditions have led to reductions in the 
pensions’ discount rate. Both of these increase 
the estimated future costs of pensions. The 
overall position on pensions has required 
increases in Local Government Pension Scheme 
pension contributions from employers and 
employees nationally. Coventry City Council 
made year-on-year increases in employer 
pension contributions between 2014/15 and 
2017/18 as part of the two most recent three 
yearly reviews of the pension scheme. Although 
this represents extra costs to the Council, these 
are being managed within its overall budget and 
mean that the financial position of the authority 
remains sound. 

The detailed effects of pensions' accounting for 
the local government and teachers' unfunded 
pension schemes are shown in sections 3.30 
Pension Costs and 3.31 Retirement Benefits. 
 
In line with a number of other local authorities, the 
Council took the opportunity to pay a sum in 
2017/18, equivalent to all of its employer pension 
contributions for the three year period 2017/18 to 
2019/20, to the West Midlands Pension Fund. 
The nature and longevity of the investment 
opportunities available to the Pension Fund mean 
that they are able to secure far greater returns on 
their investments. As a result the Fund has been 
able to offer councils including Coventry a 
discount on their overall contributions; in 
Coventry’s case these contributions total £93m. 
The cash sum paid is included within the 
calculation of the £542m pension liability above. 
However, accounting conventions allow the 
payments to be allocated across the period up to 
2019/20. Therefore, the Council has only charged 
the in-year figure to its general fund. As a result, 
there is a difference of £31m representing a 
divergence between the Pension Liability and 
Pension Reserve which is allowable under the 
circumstances described here. 
 
This divergence represents a favourable 
movement in pensions’ liability in 2018/19. Other 
than this the most significant changes have been: 
a decrease in the discount rate (which drives up 
the value of pension benefits and increase current 
service costs) and a decrease in life expectancy 
which results in a decrease in liabilities. Overall 
these movements have balanced each other out 
and left the liability unchanged from 2017/18. 
  

P
age 56



11 

Asset Valuations  

The Council’s assets (its land, property, vehicles 
and heritage assets) are assessed on a regular 
basis to ensure that their value is reflected 
accurately in the accounts. The land and property 
valuations in particular are always subject to the 
external economic climate and in some previous 
years wider financial uncertainty has caused 
some downward pressure on these values. In 
overall terms the Council’s asset value has been 
relatively stable although this has incorporated 
downward movement in the retail sector 
compensated for by increase across the rest of 
the portfolio. The Council now reviews a higher 
proportion of its portfolio on an annual basis than 
has been the case historically, reflecting the 
materiality of this area within the accounts.  

Two Coventry schools transferred to academy 
status in 2018/19. The day to day costs and 
funding of the schools are included within these 
accounts up to the day on which they transferred. 
Their budget shares of £8m will not be included in 
the Council's accounts in future and £18m of 
asset value has been removed from the Council’s 
accounts in the year. In overall terms, the 
increase in investment property value in the 
balance sheet is the most significant movement in 
asset values in the year resulting principally from 
additions to the portfolio. 
 
Due to the overall significance of asset values 
within the Council’s balance sheet and their 
sensitivity to external factors it remains 
appropriate for asset valuations to be included as 
a significant assumption made in estimating 
assets and liabilities. 
 
 
 

Going Concern 
 
In compiling these accounts, the Council needs to 
be satisfied that it remains as a going concern. 
This means that it will be able to continue 
operating for a period of time that is sufficient to 
carry out its commitments and objectives. This 
assessment has become more relevant for local 
government in recent years with doubts being 
expressed about whether some local authorities 
will be able to deliver their full range of service 
commitments given the financial pressures they 
face, and a number of councils issuing warnings 
about their future financial viability.  
 
In the opinion of the Director of Finance and 
Corporate Services, Coventry City Council 
remains in a sound financial position taking into 
account its medium term financial plans, the 
statutory position held by local authorities and the 
relative strength of its sources of revenue. 
Integral to this and one of the key measures of 
financial health is the level of the Council’s 
reserve balances referred to above and these 
continue to be maintained at a healthy but 
reasonable level. In addition, the statutory 
environment in which local authorities operate 
means that, were an authority to encounter 
financial difficulties, the prospect would be that 
central government would implement alternative 
arrangements for the continuation of services or 
provide assistance to allow the recovery of any 
deficit over more than one year. On the basis of 
these conditions, the Council remains a going 
concern. 
 
Exit From the European Union 
 
On 23 June 2016 a referendum of British voters 
determined that Britain should leave the 
European Union (EU) and an initial leaving date 

of 29th March 2019 was subsequently agreed. 
The negotiations surrounding this process have 
been a matter of significant public debate and 
disagreement and have provided much of the 
political and financial backdrop to the 2018/19 
financial year. As the leaving date approached it 
was first delayed until 12th April and then again to 
31st October 2019.  
 
It would be reasonable for the reader of the 
accounts to ask what impact this has had and 
continues to have on the City Council’s financial 
position but the reality is that the Council’s 
accounts do not reflect any large, distinct and 
demonstrable impacts of the exit process. There 
have been no major shocks to the Council’s 
ongoing service provision, the value of its 
property assets or the collection of its Business 
Rates for instance. Although there have been 
warnings about the impact (potential and actual) 
on some local employers, this has not, at the time 
of writing, manifested itself in major economic 
disruption with financial consequences for the 
Council. 
 
The position assumed within these accounts is 
that, although there could yet be unplanned and 
unforeseen impacts, exit from the EU is not 
specifically identified as a factor within the 
accounting position of the Council. The range of 
potential political outcomes and resulting wider 
implications is so broad and subject to contention, 
that they cannot be reliably reflected within this 
accounting statement. The negotiations and 
outcomes of the process will continue to be in a 
state of flux over the months covering the 
drafting, auditing and approval of these accounts 
and any material impact identified will clearly 
need to be incorporated and will be monitored 
closely over this period. 
 

P
age 57



12 

The Ricoh Arena 

For several years the Council has faced a judicial 
review claim relating to the sale of a lease 
extension on the Ricoh Arena to London Wasps 
Holdings Ltd. This had resulted in a contingent 
liability being recorded in the Council’s accounts. 
On 16th April 2019 a decision by the Supreme 
Court rejected the final appeal to take this claim 
forward meaning that the Council is no longer 
required to record a contingent liability.  

The Better Care Fund 

The Better Care Fund (BCF) has required Local 
Authorities and Clinical Commissioning Groups to 
pool budgets from 1st April 2015 with the 
intention of driving improvement through the 
integration of services and resources. The 
Council has spent £43m in this area as part of an 
overall pooled budget of £94m. These 
arrangements will become increasingly important 
in future years as the government channels more 
and more funding through this mechanism. The 
overall pooled budget relationship is set out in 
note 3.11 Pooled Budgets. 

 

University Hospital Business Rates Appeal  

The Council received a request in February 2016 
for mandatory Business Rates relief for the 
University Hospitals Coventry and Warwickshire 
NHS Trust, replicating similar claims made across 
the country.  

If the relief is granted this would represent a 
significant on-going impact on the Council’s 
Business Rates revenue as well as representing 
a risk that the appeal could be back-dated.  The 
Council’s view is that the claim is not valid and it 

has not been reflected as a provision in these 
accounts. However, because it remains possible 
that the claim is upheld and because the costs 
could potentially be very large, this has led the 
Council to recognise this as a contingent liability 
in note 3.37. 

City of Culture 2021 
 
The Council agreed in December 2017 to become 
a guarantor for the UK City of Culture 2021 
programme. The Council’s assessment is that this 
does not represent a significant financial risk given 
the nature of the guarantee and the robust 
governance and management structures 
surrounding the Trust’s activities. 
 
Accounting Policies  

The most significant change in accounting 
policies in 2018/19 relates to IFRS (International 
Financial Reporting Standard) 9. The standard 
requires the Council to make an assessment of its 
financial assets covering how gains and losses 
are calculated and future expected credit losses. 
 

The Council has also incorporated the 
requirements of IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts 
with Customers and IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts, 
although these have not led to significant 
changes to these accounts. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

P
age 58



13 

Future Plans 

The Council’s key priorities incorporate a need for 
the city to become more prosperous and for the 
Council to lead the drive for economic growth and 
stimulate the local economy. The Council has 
been progressing its plans to regenerate the city 
centre for several years and its future Capital 
Programme is now bringing this forward, including 
progress on the planned Friargate business 
district next to Coventry railway station, which 
itself is subject to significant refurbishment and 
redevelopment. Plans are now underway to begin 
work on a second new building at Friargate 
following the Council’s investment in a joint 
venture company designed specifically to 
regenerate the area.  
 
In close proximity to this, the construction phases 
of the city’s new swimming and leisure facility and 
the Salt Lane multi-storey car park are now 
virtually complete with plans for both to open in 
mid-2019. These are tangible signs of the action 
that the Council is taking to improve the 
attractiveness of Coventry as a destination for 
people to live, work and do business. In addition, 
the construction phase of a new 50 metre 
swimming facility is well under way at the Alan 
Higgs Centre in the city. 
 
In 2016/17 the Council formally joined the West 
Midlands Combined Authority (WMCA) alongside 
the other six West Midlands councils. The 
purpose of the WMCA is to draw together 
strategic work across transport, economic 
development, employment, skills and housing, 
improving outcomes for the region. The WMCA 
established a Devolution Deal which represents a 
funding package totalling £8bn to deliver major 
projects across the West Midlands. For Coventry, 

Devolution Deal related projects have incurred 
£11m of spend within the 2018/19 accounts. 
Some projects within the Deal have not yet begun 
and will ultimately rely upon funding streams 
being confirmed in the future. The Council 
continues to work with the WMCA and the other 
West Midlands councils to secure this funding. 
 
 Progress is anticipated on a range of key 
projects in the year, not least the Whitley South 
Infrastructure Project aimed at supporting Jaguar 
Land Rover and local manufacturers and 

businesses in the supply chain. Project 
completion is expected for ‘The Wave’ destination 
swimming and leisure facility and adjoining Salt 
Lane car park, significant further construction 
headway is expected for the Coventry Station 
Masterplan and the UK Battery Industrialisation 
plant and the next steps planned for the Friargate 
regeneration area in the city. Add to this plans for 
further enrichment of the public realm and the 
cultural fabric of the city centre and it is clear that 
the Council is committed to its continuing 
ambitious investment in the city. 

P
age 59



14 

Like many councils, Coventry’s general grant 
resources from Government have reduced each 
year since 2010 and the Council’s medium term 
financial plans include future projected 
reductions. In reality it is very difficult to make any 
robust predictions on this given the changes 
facing the local government sector outlined 
below.  
 
As a result of the Council’s participation in the 
West Midlands Business Rates Retention Pilot, 
99% of Business Rates income has been retained 
locally in 2018/19, a position that will continue for 
the duration of the Pilot.  
 
One of the consequences of 99% retention has 
been that the Council has moved from a position 
where it received a resource top-up from 
Government to one where it paid a resource tariff 
to Government. This tariff was over £9m in 
2018/19 and will rise to nearly £20m in 2019/20. 
 
The Council’s participation in the Pilot and in the 
Coventry and Warwickshire Business Rates Pool 
will prolong the optimisation of financial gain that 
can be achieved from the existing arrangements 
surrounding local government finance. 
Nevertheless, it is difficult to ignore the 
prospective changes that lay ahead via the 
Government’s Spending Review, expected 
changes to the local government fair funding 
review, a shift to a 75% Business Rates and 3 
yearly Business Rates revaluations. At the time of 
writing, doubt still exists over the precise timing of 
these events as well as their extent and impact. 
The net result of this is that the Council, like all 
local authorities, faces a large degree of 
uncertainty from 2020/21 onwards with regard to 
its funding position. 
 

Whilst future changes promise to deliver greater 
autonomy to local government they also 
represent significant risks. It will be important that 
a degree of national resource equalisation is 
maintained within local government finances to 
protect services in more deprived areas of the 
country and care will also need to be taken to 
ensure that transfers of responsibility for funding 
services can be managed within the new 
resources made available. Until the details of 
these developments are worked through for the 
period after 2019/20 it is impossible to have any 
clarity on their impact. 
 
The reduction in and uncertainty of future revenue 
resources and a need to manage spending 
pressures means that the identification of ways in 
which the Council can balance future budgets will 
attract a renewed emphasis ahead of setting the 
2020/21 budget. Given the large degree of 
uncertainty over the resource envelope that the 
Council will face, it will need to build a significant 
degree of flexibility into its financial plans to allow 
it to respond to a range of financial scenarios. 
The fundamental way in which the Council has 
been able to balance its budget in recent years 
has been through a reduction in its workforce. 
The Council’s non-schools workforce now stands 
at less than 5,000 individuals, a reduction 
approaching 3,000 compared with the equivalent 
figure in 2010. Although this has been required by 
the financial position faced in recent years, the 
trend in 2018/19 indicates a significantly lower 
rate of reduction. The Council now faces a key 
challenge to balance its employee cost base with 
the need to ensure a sufficient quantity and 
calibre of employees to deliver the challenging 
programme of activity including forthcoming major 
capital projects and the UK City of Culture. 
 

The 2018/19 outturn position indicate that the 
Council has made good strides in providing 
budgetary provision for several key revenue 
issues within children’s services and housing and 
homelessness. However, whereas the children’s 
services position has stabilised to a good degree, 
the city still faces some volatility in terms of the 
demand for services and budgetary position 
within housing and homelessness. This and the 
control of costs within the Council’s waste 
services will be the initial focus of management 
attention in the early part of 2019/20.  
 
The Council has been able to stabilise the 
budgetary pressure within adult social care in 
recent years. However, in common with the wider 
funding arrangements for local government, the 
position beyond 2019/20 remains unclear for this 
area. It will be essential for the Government to 
provide the necessary clarification via its plans for 
Improved Better Care Funding and its much 
delayed Adult Social Care Green Paper to enable 
this sector to be put on a firm financial footing and 
continue the closer working relationship to deliver 
services that has developed between the Council 
and the health sector locally.  
 
The Council will continue to work with its key local 
partners and arms-length organisations in 
2019/20 to help strengthen its financial position 
and drive regenerative and enriching change to 
the city and it surrounds.  
 
Work will continue through the Coventry and 
Warwickshire Local Enterprise Partnership and 
the West Midlands Combined Authority to 
implement major transport, regeneration and 
business focussed projects and initiatives. These 
will be supplemented by further strands of activity 
taken forward through the newly establishment 
Friargate Project and Battery Industrialisation 

P
age 60



15 

Centre companies in which the Council is a 
shareholder. 
 
Through its role as a major funder and partner the 
Council will work with the City of Culture Trust as 
preparations accelerate towards the UK City of 
Culture 2021 celebrations. More immediately in 
2019 the Council is supporting Coventry’s role as 
European City of Sport and the city’s Year of 
Wellbeing, promoting a vision ‘to promote and 
celebrate, in every community, the benefits of 
sport and physical activity, and to be the catalyst 
for a fitter, healthier city in the future’. 
 
Reference is made elsewhere in this Narrative 
Report to the significance of the cost of pensions 
to the Council’s financial position. The rate of 
employer contributions are currently reviewed 
every three years and this will happen once again 
in 2019, ahead of the 2020/21 financial year. 
Council officers will work closely with the West 
Midlands Pension Fund and the Fund’s actuary to 
establish a sustainable and affordable 
contribution rate. 
 
The Council has ambitious plans to support public 
realm improvement, develop key areas of the city, 
support private investment in city centre 
developments and facilitate capital projects linked 
to the City of Culture. Work continues to bring 
forward the City Centre South regeneration 
scheme and the Council is taking great care to 
ensure that the shape of this initiative reflects 
current trends to ensure its future success. 
 
Given the financial challenges that face the 
Council and the desire to avoid further cuts to 
services, the Council continues to seek to explore 
and pursue new commercial opportunities and to 
maximise the financial return that it is able to 
achieve from its assets. 2018/19 has seen further 

investment in commercial properties and external 
company shareholdings designed to secure 
financial returns over the long-term as well as 
broadening the Council’s strategic mix of assets.  
The Council’s activity will continue to be 
developed with due regard to guidance from the 
Government and the Chartered Institute of Public 
Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) issued with 
the intention of ensuring that authorities stay 
within prudent and reasonable parameters of 
activity. The Council is clear that the risk of not 
pursuing such opportunities is that it will need to 
make additional cuts to services, a risk that it is 
keen to avoid. 
 
What is clear is that the Council’s financial plans 
will need to maintain a degree of flexibility and 
ensure that some additional resilience is 
incorporated to protect the Council’s medium term 
financial position. 
 
The Council’s response to the key governance 
issues that it faces in 2018/19 are set out in the 
Annual Governance Statement (AGS) below. 
Apart from some of the existing financial and 
service challenges that are referred to within the 
AGS, it is worth noting that the Council has added 
actions in relation to the management of data 
access to its key systems, the governance of its 
relationships with key partners and governance 
over its programme of capital projects.

P
age 61



16 

1.3 Statement of Responsibilities 
 

Coventry City Council's Responsibilities 

The City Council is required to manage its 
financial affairs effectively including: 

• To make arrangements for the proper 
administration of its financial affairs and 
to ensure that one of its employees has 
the responsibility for the administration of 
those affairs.  In the case of the City 
Council, that employee is the Director of 
Finance and Corporate Services; 

• To manage its affairs to secure 
economic, efficient and effective use of 
resources and safeguard its assets; 

• To approve the Statement of Accounts. 
 
The Director of Finance and Corporate 
Services’ Responsibilities 

The Director of Finance and Corporate Services 
is responsible for the preparation of the City 
Council's Statement of Accounts.  In accordance 
with the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on 
Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 
("the Code"), the accounts are required to present 
a true and fair view of the City Council's financial 
position at the accounting date and the income 
and expenditure for the year. 
 
In preparing this statement of accounts, the 
Director of Finance and Corporate Services has: 

• selected suitable accounting policies and 
then applied them consistently; 

• made judgements and estimates that 
were reasonable and prudent; 

• complied with the Code of Practice on 
Local Authority Accounting; 

 

The Director of Finance and Corporate Services 
has also: 

• kept proper accounting records, which 
were up to date; 

• taken reasonable steps for the prevention 
and detection of fraud and other 
irregularities; 
 

Certification of the Accounts 

I certify that the Statement of Accounts presents a 
true and fair view of Coventry City Council at 31st 
March 2019 and its income and expenditure for 
the year ended 31st March 2019, and that the 
accounts are authorised for issue. 
 
 
 
 
 
Barry Hastie, CPFA 
Director of Finance and Corporate Services 
24th May 2019 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

P
age 62



17 

1.4 Annual Governance Statement 
 

Scope of responsibility  

Coventry City Council is responsible for ensuring that its business is 
conducted in accordance with the law and proper standards, and that public 
money is safeguarded and properly accounted for, and used economically, 
efficiently and effectively. Coventry City Council also has a duty under the 
Local Government Act 1999 to make arrangements to secure continuous 
improvement in the way in which its functions are exercised, having regard to 
a combination of economy, efficiency and effectiveness.  
 
In discharging this overall responsibility, Coventry City Council is responsible 
for putting in place proper arrangements for the governance of its affairs and 
facilitating the effective exercise of its functions, which includes arrangements 
for the management of risk.  
 
Coventry City Council has an approved Code of Corporate Governance, 
which is consistent with the principles reflected in the CIPFA/SOLACE 
framework and guidance Delivering Good Governance in Local Government 
(2016). A copy of the Code is available on our website or can be obtained 
from Democratic Services.  
 
The Annual Governance Statement explains how Coventry City Council has 
complied with the Code and also meets the requirements of Regulation 6(1) 
(b) of The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 which requires all relevant 
bodies to prepare an Annual Governance Statement. 
  
The purpose of the governance framework  

 
The governance framework comprises the systems and processes, culture 
and values by which the Authority is directed and controlled and its activities 
through which it accounts to, engages with and leads the community. It 
enables the authority to monitor the achievement of its strategic objectives 
and to consider whether those objectives have led to the delivery of 
appropriate services and value for money.  
 
The system of internal control is a significant part of the framework and is 
designed to manage risk to a reasonable level. It cannot eliminate all risk of 

failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives and can, therefore, only 
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness. The system 
of internal control is based on an on-going process designed to identify and 
prioritise the risks to the achievement of Coventry City Council policies, aims 
and objectives, to evaluate the likelihood and potential impact of those risks 
being realised and the impact should they be realised, and to manage them 
efficiently, effectively and economically.  
 
The governance framework has been in place at Coventry City Council for the 
year ended 31st March 2019 and up to the date of approval of the Statement 
of Accounts. 
 
The governance framework  

 
The key principles, approach and review processes that comprise the 
authority’s governance arrangements are set out in the City Council’s Code of 
Corporate Governance. Key elements include the following: 
  
There is a governance/internal control environment that supports the Council 
in establishing, implementing and monitoring its policies and objectives. The 
Council’s overarching objectives are contained in published policy documents 
including the Council Plan. These high level plans are supported by a range 
of thematic policies, strategies and delivery plans, service plans, and detailed 
work programmes. 
 
Coventry’s Council Plan sets out the Council’s long-term vision and priorities 
for the city for the period 2016-2024.  In 2018, the Plan was reviewed and 
rebranded in line with the Council’s emerging One Coventry approach and a 
revised performance management framework has been introduced to improve 
transparency and streamline performance reporting with more regular 
information updates about the performance of the city. To deliver the 
Council’s long-term vision and priorities, the Council Plan affirms the Council’s 
commitment to do this by maximising the use of its assets and reducing its 
operating costs, and through active communities and empowered citizens.  
The Council Plan is part of the Council’s overall performance management 
framework designed to help the Council deliver its services and use its 
resources effectively in a planned and systematic way. A copy of the plan is 

P
age 63



18 

available and the performance management framework are available on the 
Council’s website. 
  
Throughout this process, clear channels of communication exist with all 
sections of the community and other stakeholders, to ensure the Council 
considers local needs and communicates both expected and actual outcomes 
for citizens and service users. This is evidenced through the Council’s formal 
decision-making and performance management processes.  
 
In October 2015, Coventry City Council agreed to join the proposed West 
Midlands Combined Authority, which is a model of governance for local 
authorities to act together to drive economic prosperity for the area. A 
Combined Authority is a statutory body in its own right supported by a 
devolution agreement with the Government and a constitution which sets out 
the terms of their funding and powers. 
 
In December 2017, it was announced that Coventry had been named the UK 
City of Culture for 2021. The aim of this programme is to encourage the use 
of culture and creativity as a catalyst for change, to promote the development 
of new partnerships and to encourage ambition, innovation and inspiration in 
cultural and creative activity. This activity will make significant contributions to 
the delivery of the Council Plan and corporate priorities.  Coventry City of 
Culture Trust has been set up to organise and deliver this activity and has 
been formally incorporated and received charitable status.  Financial 
responsibility for the Trust’s activities lie with the Chair and Trustees, with an 
independent Audit Committee providing scrutiny and oversight.   As 
accountable body and guarantor for delivery of the UK City of Culture 2021 
programme, Coventry City Council is a principal partner in supporting the 
work of the Trust and ensuring that there is good governance around the 
Trust meeting the City of Culture programme delivery and legacy ambitions. 
 
The control environment to ensure delivery of the Council’s objectives is laid 
down in the Council’s Constitution and performance management framework. 
The Constitution sets out how the Council operates, including:  
 
•   Roles and responsibilities of both Councillors and officers, including the 
Head of Paid Services, Monitoring Officer and Chief Financial Officer. 
 
•   How decisions are made and the procedures in place to ensure that these 
are efficient, transparent and accountable to local citizens.  The Constitution 
includes the Council’s senior management structure and a scheme of 

delegation which sets out the principles for decision making and responsibility 
for functions.   The Council facilitates policy and decision making via a 
Cabinet structure with Cabinet Member portfolios. There are scrutiny boards 
covering all portfolios and an overarching Scrutiny Co-ordination Committee.  
The Member decision making, advisory and scrutiny bodies are available on 
the Council’s website. 
 
Coventry City Council has developed a comprehensive set of policies and 
procedures, including those relating to the standards expected of Members 
and officers. These are subject to regular review to ensure the Council 
continues to enhance and strengthen its internal control environment. 
Systems exist to ensure compliance with policies and procedures, including 
statute and regulations. Internal Audit, through its annual risk based plan 
assesses compliance with key procedures and policies. 
 
The Council has an Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Commitment which is 
available on our website. This sets out the Council’s commitment to meeting 
all areas of the public sector equality duty and to ensure equality of 
opportunity, both as a provider and commissioner of services and as a large 
employer.  The commitment is implemented through setting equality 
objectives linked to the Council Plan. 
 
Progress is monitored and reported to the Cabinet Member (Policing & 
Equalities) and the latest progress reports are available on our website. In 
addition, the Council carries out Equality and Consultation Analysis on all key 
decisions taken by Cabinet or Cabinet Members.  
 
The Council’s Risk Management Strategy defines processes for identifying, 
assessing, managing and monitoring financial and operational risks. The 
Strategy recognises the need for risk registers at directorate and corporate 
level which are updated and reviewed regularly. The Council is looking for 
continuous improvement throughout the Council in the management of risks, 
and this is being monitored through the Strategic Management Board. 
 
The Council, through its Whistleblowing and Complaints Procedures, has 
documented processes in place to deal with concerns raised by both 
employees and members of the public. These policies have been widely 
communicated and are subject to regular review to ensure they are working 
effectively. In addition, the Council’s Fraud and Corruption Strategy reinforces 
the Council’s commitment to creating an anti-fraud culture, whilst having 

P
age 64



19 

effective arrangements in place in responding to allegations of fraud and 
corruption.    
  
An Audit and Procurement Committee provides independent assurance to the 
Council on various issues, including risk management and control and the 
effectiveness of the arrangements the Council has for these matters. The 
Committee's terms of reference were developed in conjunction with CIPFA 
guidance, and the Committee carries out a periodic self-assessment to 
measure its effectiveness, based on recommended CIPFA practice.  
 
For the financial year 2018-19, the Director of Finance and Corporate 
Services was the nominated Section 151 officer with the delegated 
responsibility for ensuring there are arrangements in place for proper 
administration of financial affairs. In assessing this role against the 
requirements stated in the CIPFA Statement on the Role of the Chief 
Financial Officer in Local Government (2016), the Authority meets the five 
principles in the CIPFA Statement, namely: 
 
•   The Chief Financial Officer (CFO) in a local authority is a key member of 
the Leadership Team, helping it to develop and implement strategy and to 
resource and deliver the authority’s strategic objectives sustainably and in the 
public interest. 
 
•   The CFO in a local authority must be actively involved in, and able to bring 
influence to bear on, all material business decisions to ensure immediate and 
longer term implications, opportunities and risks are fully considered, and 
alignment with the authority’s overall financial strategy. 
 
•   The CFO in a local authority must lead the promotion and delivery by the 
whole authority of good financial management so that public money is 
safeguarded at all times and used appropriately, economically, efficiently, and 
effectively. 
 
•   The CFO in a local authority must lead and direct a finance function that is 
resourced to be fit for purpose. 
 
•   The CFO in a local authority must be professionally qualified and suitably 
experienced. 
 
The S151 Officer is a key member of the Corporate Leadership Team and 
formally retains a direct reporting line to the Chief Executive when required.  

The S151 Officer routinely attends and advises the Strategic Management 
Board of the Council (Chief Executive and both Deputy Chief Executives).  
 
The assessment concluded that these arrangements provide an appropriate 
framework under which the CIPFA principles are able to be delivered. The 
senior management structure within the Council is regularly reviewed and 
changes made as required to help the management team focus on the current 
challenges and opportunities as well as to look ahead. 
 
The Annual Governance Statement also includes a review of the 
effectiveness of the system of internal control within group activities, where 
the Council is in a relationship with another entity to undertake significant 
activities. The following describes the group activities for the year ended 31st 
March 2019:  
 

• The Coventry and Solihull Waste Disposal Company Limited is owned jointly 
by Coventry City Council, Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council, 
Warwickshire County Council and Leicestershire County Council. A formal 
agreement sets out the governance arrangements between the shareholders. 
The Company is subject to the Industrial Emissions Directive and the 
conditions of its Environmental Permit issued by the Environment Agency. 
Furthermore, the Company monitors its activities through an Environmental 
Management System accredited to the ISO 14001 standard, its Health and 
Safety Management System which is certified to the OHSAS 18001 standard 
and the Cyber Essentials accreditation it has achieved for its IT systems. The 
Company has appointed Ernst & Young LLP as its external auditors. The last 
published Annual Report and Financial Statements, for the year ended 31st 
March 2018, did not highlight any concerns. 
 

• North Coventry Holdings (NCH) Limited is a wholly owned subsidiary of the 
Council. All the Directors of the Company are senior officers of Coventry City 
Council.  All transactions are processed using the Council’s financial systems 
and such activities are subject to an annual audit by the Council’s Internal 
Audit Service.  The Company has LDP Luckmans as its external auditors. 
There was an unqualified audit opinion for the last published Annual Report 
and Accounts, for the year ended 31st March 2018. The company's main 
purpose is to hold shares in Coventry North Regeneration Limited, although it 
is also engaged in providing business development services to the City 
Council.   
 

P
age 65



20 

• Coventry North Regeneration (CNR) Limited is a wholly owned subsidiary 
of NCH Limited. The main activity of the Company was the construction of the 
Ricoh Arena. All of the Directors of the Company are also senior officers of 
Coventry City Council. All transactions are processed using the Council's 
financial systems and such activities are subject to an annual audit by the 
Council's Internal Audit Service. The Company has LDP Luckmans as its 
external auditors. There was an unqualified audit opinion for the last 
published Annual Report and Accounts, for the year ended 31st March 2018. 
 

• Coombe Abbey Park Limited (CAPL) is a wholly owned subsidiary of the 
Council, which acquired 100% of the ordinary share capital of the company in 
December 2017. Three of the four Directors of the Company during 2018/19 
are senior officers of Coventry City Council.   As part of the original 
acquisition, the Council secured external independent advice from a number 
of sources to support the financial and legal due diligence assessment, as 
well as the valuation of the shares being purchased. The due diligence work 
highlighted some areas of financial control weaknesses, which it was felt that 
the Council would need to address following acquisition. In particular, a need 
to strengthen the finance function through increased capacity was recognised 
as important. In the light of the external due diligence, since the Council 
acquired CAPL, a programme of changes has been completed, including the 
restructuring of the Board, as well as recruitment of a new senior Operations 
Manager and finance staff. The Company has appointed RSM UK Audit LLP 
as its external auditors. The last published Annual Report and Financial 
Statements, for the year ended 31st March 2018, did not highlight any 
significant concerns. 
 

• The UK Battery Industrialisation Centre Ltd was incorporated on 27th 
February 2018 and the Council is currently the sole shareholder with 1 share 
which has a nominal value of £1. The purpose of the company is to run the 
proposed National Battery Development Facility which is currently under 
construction. The Council has appointed two of its officers as directors on the 
board.  The company will ultimately become a Joint Venture Private Limited 
Company with the Warwick Manufacturing Group and Coventry & 
Warwickshire Local Enterprise Partnership each appointing two directors. The 
City Council is initially purchasing all land and equipment in relation to the 
facility with funding coming from Innovate UK which is a Government backed 
agency. As a result, activity within the company has been minimal to date. 

 

• The Friargate Joint Venture Project Ltd was incorporated on 17th December 
2018. This is a 50/50 joint venture with Friargate Holdings 2 Limited, 

established to develop new buildings within the Friargate district of the city. 
Each of, Coventry City Council and Friargate Holdings 2 Ltd have been 
issued 1 Ordinary Share for a value of £10m each. The Council has appointed 
three of its officers as directors of the board. The company is still very much in 
its infancy and as a result, activity within the company has been minimal to 
date. 
 
 
Review of effectiveness  

Processes are in place to assess key elements of the governance framework 
throughout the year, for example, through the work of Internal Audit and the 
Council’s Audit and Procurement Committee. A review of the effectiveness of 
its governance framework is also undertaken annually as part of the 
production of the Annual Governance Statement. This is informed by the work 
of senior managers within the authority, who have responsibility for the 
development and maintenance of the governance environment, the Chief 
Internal Auditor’s opinion on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of 
Coventry City Council's internal control environment, and also by comments 
made by the external auditors and other review agencies and inspectorates.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Arrangements to assess the effectiveness of the governance framework 
include: 
  

P
age 66



21 

•   Regular and detailed monitoring of the Council's performance, by both 
Strategic Management Board and Members against targets and objectives set 
out in the Council’s Plan.  
 
•   Regular meetings of the Council’s Governance Steering Board to consider 
on-going and emerging governance issues and co-ordinate actions required.  
Updates on this work are provided to Strategic Management Board every 
month.  
  
•   Consideration of ethical governance matters by the Ethics Committee, 
including reflecting on national governance failings to identify if there are any 
lessons learnt for the Council to take forward. 
 
 •   On-going reviews of the Council's Constitution, overseen by the 
Constitution Advisory Panel and subject to approval by Full Council. These 
reviews include areas such as standing orders, financial procedures and the 
scheme of delegation.  
 
•   Regular reviews of the Council's strategies and procedures to ensure they 
continue to reflect the needs of the Council. 
 
• An annual review against the principles and best practice set out in the 
Code of Corporate Governance and which is used to identify improvements to 
strengthen the Council’s governance arrangements.  
 
 
The review of effectiveness has also been informed by:  
 
•   Reports from the external auditors and other inspection agencies.  
 
•   An annual assessment of the adequacy of internal controls/governance 
arrangements by each Deputy Chief Executive. 
 
• The Council’s Corporate Risk Register. 
 
•   The work of the Internal Audit Service during 2018-19. The Service works 
to a risk based audit plan, which is approved annually by the Council's Audit 
and Procurement Committee. An annual report is also produced and 
presented to the Committee. The report identifies those issues, which in the 
opinion of the Chief Internal Auditor, should be considered when producing 
the Annual Governance Statement.  

 
We have been advised on the implications of the result of the review of the 
effectiveness of the governance framework by the Audit and Procurement 
Committee, and can provide reasonable assurance that the arrangements 
continue to be regarded as fit for purpose in accordance with the governance 
framework and that a plan to address weaknesses and ensure continuous 
improvement of the system is in place.

P
age 67



22 

 
Significant governance issues

Table one below provides an update on the governance issues that were raised in the 2017-18 Annual Governance Statement.  
 
Table One 

 

Ref Governance issues 
identified in 2017-
18 

2018-19 Update 
 

1 Sustainable 
improvement in 
children’s services  

The Improvement Board has continued to meet to challenge and hold the Council to account for the 
effective improvement and delivery of Children’s Services. A comprehensive transformation 
programme is underway that will yield longer term and sustainable improvement to Children’s 
Services.  This has included the development of a stronger early help offer that expects partners to 
contribute to, a strengthening of the Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub and a restructure that better 
supports the child’s experience and journey through the system.  Other improvements have included 
a better placement mix for looked after children and this is supporting more effective and sustainable 
budget management.  Demand pressures remain that make this extremely challenging. 
 

2 Ensuring delivery of 
the Council’s vision 
and corporate 
objectives, in line 
with the Medium 
Term Financial 
Strategy  
 

The Council has set a balanced budget despite shortfalls in the delivery of some savings targets and 
the emergence of new expenditure pressures in areas including housing and homelessness and waste 
disposal. The new proposals to balance the budget involve some technical measures and the 
identification of income streams and a more commercial approach across some areas of the Council. 
 

3 The delivery of the 
Kickstart programme 
– the Council’s plan 
for making savings, 
supporting city 
centre regeneration 
including business 
rate growth and 
rationalising its office 
estate 

Following the completion of Friargate in October 2016 and the successful migration of staff, the 
Kickstart programme has been completed.  All the associated capital disposals have been completed, 
savings achieved and new ways of working embraced. City centre regeneration continues at pace, 
which will drive future business rates. As the governance of this is now under a different work-stream 
(and is identified as a separate issue in the statement), the Kickstart Programme has not been carried 
forward as a significant governance issue for 2019-20. 

4 Raising educational 
standards  

Evaluation of Primary Networks and Secondary Collaboratives evidences increased capacity for 
school-to school support and continued school improvement. As of December 2018, Coventry’s Ofsted 
profile (i.e. the proportion of pupils attending good or outstanding provision) was above national and 

P
age 68



23 

statistical neighbours for primary, secondary and special. In 2018 other notable improvements 
included: 

• Upward trend for Early Years Foundation Stage and Year 1 phonics 

• Improvement in Key Stage 2 results, specifically attainment, including for disadvantaged and 
Special Educational Need support 

• Upward trend and improvements at a faster rate than national for almost all Key Stage 4 indicators, 
including for pupils with an Education, Health and Care Plan and White British boys 

• Coventry NEET (not in education, employment or training) rate below (better than) national. 
 

5 Implementation of 
the Information 
Management 
Strategy 

The actions in the plan arising from the Information Commissioner’s Office audit continued to be 
implemented during the year and progress was reported to the Audit and Procurement Committee in 
February 2019. The Training Strategy was approved and implemented. 
  

6 Long term 
sustainability of adult 
social care in the 
context of financial 
and demand issues 
 

Coventry Adult Social Care remains a comparatively low spend per 100k population although is 
challenged by increasing care costs, and increasing referrals. However, the numbers of people 
supported overall remains relatively stable.  Our approach to short term services and using the 
voluntary sector helps reduce the numbers of people entering ongoing care and support.  The Council 
is currently reliant on the Better Care Fund to support financial pressures in social care and reduce 
the impact on health associated with social care and work with our colleagues in the Clinical 
Commissioning Group flexibly in order to achieve short term sustainability, with long term issues of 
sustainability being subject to the spending review and local government settlement later in 2019.  The 
Adult Social Care green paper has been further delayed so the government’s long term policy direction 
and possible funding solutions are also unclear.  The social care precept supports the ongoing 
financial position but with Adult Social Care being the single biggest Council cost further financial 
pressure is to be expected. From a governance perspective, as this is intrinsically linked to delivery of 
the Medium Term Financial Strategy, this has not been carried forward as a stand-alone issue for 
2019-20.  
 

7 Delivery of the 
workforce strategy 

The Council has made progress in relation to the delivery of its 2017-2020 workforce strategy: 
Planning – The development and enhancement of robust management information (HR analytics), to 
inform strategic decision making and to track progress has been embedded over 2018/19. 
Supporting – The 2018 staff engagement survey has provided the Council with a range of 
improvement areas to develop a more supportive offer for all of our employees, which has helped 
inform the One Coventry approach, Year of Wellbeing, our Organisational Development programme 
for 2019/20 as well as the Let’s Talk sessions between Senior Management Board and the wider 
workforce.  Good progress is being made in the implementation of the Council appraisal system.  The 
Council has re-launched its commitment to Equality, Diversity & Inclusion. 
Enabling – The Council, through the implementation of tools such as SKYPE for Business continues 
to support staff to work more flexibly and more effectively.  A new digital training package and 
additional resource has also been implemented to increase digital skill levels across the Council. 

P
age 69



24 

Transforming – The Council’s Our Future Workforce programme (formally Workforce Reform) seeks 
to modernise our terms, conditions and culture.  Progress has been challenging and will be a key area 
of focus for 2019/20 across the Council. 
Oversight and strategic leadership of this area has been recently strengthened with the establishment 
and successful recruitment to a Director of Human Resources post reporting in to the Senior 
Management Board. 

8 Establishing a 
Counter Fraud 
Framework 

A new Fraud and Corruption Strategy, including the Counter Fraud Framework was considered by the 
Audit and Procurement Committee in June 2018 and approved by the Cabinet Member for Policy and 
Leadership in July 2018. The actions linked to the various elements of the framework are now part of 
operational activity within Internal Audit.   Oversight of this work is provided by the Audit and 
Procurement Committee as part of their role to monitor the Fraud and Corruption Strategy. 
Consequently, as the Counter Fraud Framework has now been established and forms part of the 
annual programme of work undertaken by Internal Audit, this has not been carried forward as a 
significant governance issue for 2019-20. 
 

9 Risk Management 
Strategy  

The Risk Management Policy and Strategy were formally adopted in 2017-18. The process for 
identifying and reporting on Corporate Risks is well established and oversight of the Corporate Risk 
Register is provided by the Audit and Procurement Committee.  During 2018-19 actions were taken to 
embed risk management practice in the organisation. Risk Registers are in place for each Director’s 
area of operation and are reviewed at Leadership Team meetings on a regular basis. As a result, this 
has not been carried forward as a significant governance issue for 2019-20. 
 

10 Governance 
Steering Board  

The Governance Steering Board was established in September 2018.   The Board (which is chaired 
by the Council’s Monitoring Officer and includes members from Procurement, Finance, Human 
Resources, Internal Audit and Governance Services) meets on a regular basis to review the 
effectiveness of the governance framework throughout the year, help raise the profile of governance 
across the Council and co-ordinate improvement actions.  Updates on this work are provided to the 
Strategic Management Board every month.   As the Board is now embedded within the overall 
governance framework of the Council, this has not been carried forward as a significant governance 
issue for 2019-20.   
 

11 Delivery of the ICT 
Strategy  

Significant progress has been made during 2018/19 with regards to the delivery of the ICT Strategy. 
The Council have significantly increased the capacity of the ICT Security team and also introduced 
new cyber security toolsets to help protect our estate. The Council have undertaken a major 
restructure of the ICT & Digital service to introduce new senior management roles which will directly 
support the ongoing development and delivery of the ICT Strategy.  Significant improvements have 
also been made to our unified communications platform to enable a more flexible and effective 
workforce.   Two digital trainers have been introduced to the service who are taking responsibility for 
digital skills development across the organisation through our “DigiKnow” brand. In terms of the 
development of a revised ICT Strategy, the ICT service have engaged with the Corporate Leadership 
Team, Finance, and Corporate Services Scrutiny Board who have given direct input into how the 

P
age 70



25 

Strategy is taking shape. The Council are also continuing to engage Gartner for external input and 
verification to the Strategy and approach.  
 

12 Management of 
increasing demand 
in relation to 
homelessness and 
the associated costs 
of housing families in 
temporary 
accommodation 

The Council has made a significant investment into its housing service, which is specifically tasked to 
tackle the city’s homelessness.  A refreshed Housing and Homeless Strategy was adopted by Council 
in late 2018/19 which focuses on prevention, supporting homeless households, improving existing 
accommodation and increasing housing supply.  The Strategy also aims to reduce the existing 
financial pressure by 2020/21.  A number of key appointments and new roles have been made to 
increase the Council’s capacity and capability to address the significant issues.  The action plan to 
deliver the improvements is led by the Chief Executive at the Strategic Housing Board. 
 

 
 
The Council is seeking to continuously enhance its management arrangements to improve service delivery, efficiency and value for money, whilst achieving its 
objectives.  The review of effectiveness has informed identification of the following key challenges for 2018-19 (table two), along with the actions planned to 
address these matters to further enhance our governance arrangements. 
 
Table Two 
 

Ref Governance 
Issue 

Planned actions 2019-20 Responsibility Timescale 

1 Sustainable 
improvement in 
Children’s 
Services 

A new Executive Improvement Board has been 
established to drive forward continuous improvement 
of Children’s Services. A new Children’s Safeguarding 
Partnership is due to be launched later in the year in 
line with revised statutory guidance. A review of the re-
design has been concluded and small service changes 
will be made this year in response.  A further phase of 
transformational activity will commence to support 
further improvement activity. Service Performance 
reviews will be implemented service wide and Quality 
Assurance visits by Children’s Services Leadership 
Team will commence. 
 

Director of Children’s 
Services  

On-going 

2 Ensuring 
delivery of the 
Council’s vision 
and corporate 
objectives, in 
line with the 
Medium Term 

The Council faces uncertainty due to anticipated 
changes in the Local Government finance system and 
a lack of clarity on the future of some major income 
streams such as Better Care Fund resources. Initial 
estimates indicate a significant financial gap and work 
has begun at an early stage to identify a range of 
options to enable the Council to respond to the 

Director of Finance 
and Corporate 
Services  

February 2020 

P
age 71



26 

Financial 
Strategy  
 

possible range of budget scenarios. Members will 
receive regular briefings on potential new areas of 
policy development and these will be formally reported 
to Cabinet Members, Cabinet and Council as 
appropriate.   
 

3 Raising 
educational 
standards 

Continue to improve outcomes for ALL pupils, 
including pupils with an Education, Health and Care 
Plan (EHCP) and receiving Special Educational Needs 
(SEN) support, so they are in line with or better than 
national by ensuring that individual school, Primary 
Network and Secondary Collaborative priorities align 
with and contribute to specific citywide priorities: 
Early Years: Improving Good Level of Development 
(GLD) 
Primary:  
Increasing the proportion of children achieving Greater 
Depth in Writing and making accelerated progress in 
writing by the end of Key Stage 2 
Secondary and 16-18:  

• Improving Progress 8 

• Improving progress in both English and Maths by 
the end of 16-18 (GCSE resits) 

All phases: Narrowing the gap to national for our 
vulnerable groups: 

• GLD for all groups 

• Key Stage 1 and Key Stage 2 achievement for 
children with SEN and an EHCP 

• Key Stage 4 progress for disadvantaged and 
pupils receiving SEN support 

 

Director of Education 
and Skills  
 
Head of Education 
Improvement and 
Standards 0-19 
 
Senior Adviser 
Education 
Improvement 11-19 
(25) 

On-going 

4 Implementation 
of the 
Information 
Management 
Strategy 

Review and update of Information Management 
Strategy and Information Management Training 
Strategy. 
 

Head of Information 
Governance  

March 2020 

5 Delivery of the 
Workforce 
Strategy 

During 2019/20 the following actions are planned: 

• The further development and implementation of the 
workforce strategy to embed the Council’s One 
Coventry approach  

Director of Housing 
and Transformation  
 
(Responsibility will 
transfer to the Director 

On-going 

P
age 72



27 

• The launch of a new Equality, Diversity & Inclusion 
project focusing on recruitment and selection 

• A focus on ensuring that our case work is improved 
and timely 

•  The progression of ‘Our Future Workforce’ change 
programme 

• Creating opportunities for talent mapping and 
career progressions at all levels across the 
organisation 

• Improved Employee Engagement which can be 
measured through job satisfaction 

• Continued development of industrial relations 

•  Improvement in digital skills across the workforce 

•  The continuation of ensuring the safety and 
wellbeing of our employees. 

 

of Human Resources 
once in post in July 
2019) 

6 Delivery of the 
ICT Strategy 

During 2019/20 the Council will publish an updated ICT 
Strategy which will continue to provide assurance with 
regards to our core infrastructure, cyber security plans 
and digital skills development whilst also supporting 
innovation and our digitalisation agenda. The ICT 
Strategy will align with the One Coventry approach. 
 

Head of ICT & Digital  September 2019 
 
(delivery of the 
Strategy will be on-
going)  

7 Management of 
increasing 
demand in 
relation to 
homelessness 
and the 
associated 
costs of 
housing 
families in 
temporary 
accommodation 

To deliver to the Housing and Homelessness Strategy 
and the agreed action plan through the Council’s 
Strategic Housing Board. 
 

Director of Housing 
and Transformation  

On-going 

8 Corporate data 
access 
standard 

Development and implementation of a corporate 
access standard and protocol for all systems that hold 
personal data.  
 
 

Members and 
Elections Team 
Manager  

December 2019 P
age 73



28 

9 Governance 
over 
relationships 
with partners 
and outside 
bodies 

The Council has a strong foundation of partnership 
working, which was positively recognised in our recent 
Local Government Association (LGA) Corporate Peer 
Challenge. This has included our pivotal involvement 
in forming the West Midlands Combined Authority, the 
Place Forum and the Coventry and Warwickshire 
Local Enterprise Partnership.  However, it is 
recognised that in order to continue to respond to 
challenges and to adapt to new approaches in terms 
of the role of the local authority in the community, the 
Council needs to ensure that there are effective 
arrangements over its relationships with partners and 
outside bodies which provide governance and 
flexibility to deliver effective outcomes.  Partnership 
working principles have been established and work is 
planned in 2019/20 to develop protocols to underpin 
this.  These will be used to gain assurance that key 
relationships, such as with the City of Culture Trust and 
the Friargate Joint Venture are being appropriately 
governed.  In addition, a People Partnership is in its 
early stages of implementation with a focus on 
strengthening partnership arrangements across the 
City and working together to improve collaboration and 
connectivity in spirit of our One Coventry approach. 
 

Deputy Chief 
Executive (People) 

On-going  

10 Governance 
over the 
programme of 
capital projects 

The Council has an ambitious programme of capital 
projects, which in 2019/20 will continue to accelerate 
in advance of the Council becoming City of Culture in 
2021. Whilst providing ongoing regeneration and 
redevelopment of the city and supporting business rate 
growth, the scale of the programme requires robust 
governance and strategic control to ensure that the 
programme is delivered successfully. Governance 
arrangements are established with delivery overseen 
by project boards who report to the responsible cabinet 
members via established briefing and reporting 
mechanisms.  Governance is also provided via the City 
of Culture Readiness Board and the Place Programme 
Delivery Board.  In 2019/20 the focus will be on 
ensuring that as the programme continues to move at 
pace, governance arrangements remain embedded 

Deputy Chief 
Executive (Place)  

On-going  

P
age 74



29 

and integral to programme delivery whilst also 
ensuring that there are effective processes in place to 
maintain a view of the overall programme, so its inter-
dependencies are managed / joined up, maintaining 
momentum on the Council’s wider aspirations. 
 

 
We are satisfied that these steps will address the need for improvements that were identified in our review and we will monitor their implementation and 
operation, as part of our next annual review. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Cllr George Duggins       Martin Reeves  
Leader of Coventry City Council      Chief Executive of Coventry City Council      
 

P
age 75



30 

2 Main Financial Statements 
  

2.1 Overview of Main Financial Statements 
 
The Statement of Accounts includes the following 
core financial statements prepared in line with 
IFRS.  
 
Comprehensive Income & Expenditure 
Statement CIES (sections 2.2 & 4.2) 
 
This statement shows the accounting cost in the 
year of providing services in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting practices, rather 
than the amount to be funded from taxation. 
Authorities raise taxation to cover expenditure in 
accordance with statutory requirements; this may 
be different from the accounting cost. The taxation 
position is shown in both the Expenditure and 
Funding Analysis (section 3.2) and the Movement 
in Reserves Statement. 
  
The Movement in Reserves Statement (sections 
2.3 & 4.3) 
 
This statement shows the movement from the start 
of the year to the end on the different reserves 
held by the authority, analysed into ‘usable 
reserves’ (i.e. those that can be applied to fund 
expenditure or reduce local taxation) and other 
‘unusable reserves’. The Movement in Reserves 
Statement shows how the movements in year of 
the authority’s reserves are broken down between 
gains and losses incurred in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting practices and the 
statutory adjustments required to return to the 

amounts chargeable to council tax for the year. 
The Net Increase/Decrease line shows the 
statutory General Fund Balance movements in the 
year following these adjustments. Changes have 
been made to improve and simplify the 
presentation to the Movement in Reserves 
Statement in accordance with recommendations in 
the Code of Practice. Details of the movements in 
useable revenue reserves are provided within 
section 3.13. 
 
Balance Sheet (sections 2.4 & 4.4) 
 
The Balance Sheet shows the value, as at the 
Balance Sheet date, of the assets and liabilities 
recognised by the authority. The net assets of the 
authority (assets less liabilities) are matched by 
the reserves held by the authority. Reserves are 
reported in two categories. The first category of 
reserves are usable reserves, i.e. those reserves 
that the authority may use to provide services, 
subject to the need to maintain a prudent level of 
reserves and any statutory limitations on their use 
(for example the Capital Receipts Reserves that 
may only be used to fund capital expenditure or 
repay debt). The second category of reserves are 
those that the authority is not able to use to 
provide services. This category of reserves 
includes reserves that hold unrealised gains and 
losses (for example the Revaluation Reserve) 
where amounts would only become available to 
provide services if the assets are sold and 

reserves that hold timing differences shown in the 
Movement of Reserves Statement line  
‘Adjustments between accounting  basis and 
funding basis under regulations’. 
 
Cash Flow Statement (sections 2.5 & 4.5) 
 
The Cash Flow Statement shows the changes in 
cash and cash equivalents of the authority during 
the reporting period. The statement shows how 
the authority generates and uses cash and cash 
equivalents by classifying cash flows as operating, 
investing and financing activities. The amount of 
net cash flows arising from operating activities is a 
key indicator of the extent to which the operations 
of the authority are funded by way of taxation and 
grant income or from the receipts of services 
provided by the authority. Investing activities 
represent the extent to which cash outflows have 
been made for resources which are intended to 
contribute to the authority’s future service delivery. 
Cash flows arising from financing activities are 
useful in predicting claims on future cash flows by 
providers of capital (i.e. borrowing) to the 
authority.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 76



31 

2.2 Comprehensive Income & Expenditure Statement 
 

 

 
 
 
  

P
age 77



32 

 

2.3 Movement in Reserves Statement 
 
Usable Reserves and Overall Position 2018/19 

 

Unusable Reserves 2018/19 

 
 
Section 3.13 presents further details of the movements in usable and unusable reserves.  

P
age 78



33 

 
Usable Reserves and Overall Position 2017/18 Comparatives. 

  

 
 
Unusable Reserves 2017/18 Comparatives 

 
 

P
age 79



34 

2.4 Balance Sheet 
 

 
 
The unaudited accounts were authorised for issue on 24th May 2019.

P
age 80



35 

2.5 Cash Flow Statement 
 

 
 
 
Section 3.27 presents an analysis of the amounts included in the provision of services for non-cash movements and items included in investing and financing 
activities. 
 

P
age 81



36 

3 Notes to the Main Financial Statements 

3.1 Note to the CIES 
 

 
 
*The 2018/19 ‘Loss on Disposal of Fixed Assets’ includes £17,818k of derecognition as a result of schools transferring to academy status during the year. The equivalent figure 
for 2017/18 was £23,079. 

P
age 82



37 

 

3.2 Expenditure and Funding Analysis 
 
The objective of the Expenditure and Funding Analysis is to demonstrate how the funding available to the authority (i.e. government grants, council tax and 
business rates) for the year has been used in providing services in comparison with those resources consumed or earned by authorities in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting practices. The Expenditure and Funding Analysis also shows how this expenditure is allocated for decision making purposes 
between the Council’s directorates. Income and expenditure accounted for under generally accepted accounting practices is presented more fully in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (see section 2.2).   
 

 
 

  

P
age 83



38 

3.3 Note to the Expenditure and Funding Analysis 
 
This note provides a breakdown of the adjustments from the General Fund to arrive at the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement amounts 
 

 
 

 
Note 1: Adjustments for Capital Purposes – This 
column adds in depreciation and revaluation gains 
and losses on the services line, and includes 
adjustments for the following: 
Capital disposals with a transfer of income on 
disposal of assets and the amounts written off for 
those assets.  
Financing and investment income and expenditure 
- the statutory charges for capital financing i.e. 
Minimum Revenue Provision and other revenue 
contributions are deducted from other income and 

expenditure as these are not chargeable under 
generally accepted accounting practices.  
Capital grant income and expenditure - these are 
adjusted for income not chargeable under 
generally accepted accounting practices 
 
Note 2: Net change for the removal of pension 
contributions and the addition of IAS 19 Employee 
Benefits pension related expenditure and income.  
This represents the removal of the employer 
pension contributions made by the authority as 

allowed by statute and the replacement with 
current and past service costs.  
 
Note 3: Other differences between amounts 
debited/credited to the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement and amounts 
payable/receivable to be recognised under statute: 
For Financing and investment income and 
expenditure the other differences column 
recognises adjustments to the General Fund for 
the timing differences for premiums and discounts.  

P
age 84



39 

The charge under Taxation and non-specific grant 
income and expenditure represents the difference 
between what is chargeable under statutory 

regulations for council tax and NDR that was 
projected to be received at the start of the year 

and the income recognised under generally 
accepted accounting practices. 

P
age 85



40 

3.4 Revenue Outturn 
 

The following tables provide a reconciliation between the revenue outturn position reported to management and the first column of the Expenditure and Funding 
Analysis tables in section 3.2. 

 

P
age 86



41 

 

3.5 Segmental Analysis 
 
This note provides an analysis of income by segment and details of the revenue outturn position. These figures exclude the impact of internal recharges. 

 
 

P
age 87



42 

 

 

3.6 Income and Expenditure Analysis 
 
This note provides an analysis of the income received and expenditure incurred within the Provision of Services in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement. These figures exclude the impact of internal recharges. 
 

 
 

P
age 88



43 

 

3.7 Analysis of Capital Grants 
 

 
 
 
The Capital Grant total of £79,665k is the amount of grant applied during 2018/19. This represents the total level of grant received of £74,380k plus £5,285k 
which has been transferred from the Capital Grants Unapplied Reserve (see section 2.3). In addition the Council's Balance Sheet (as at 31/03/2019) reflects 
Capital Grants received in advance of £8,256k 
 
*The significant increase in the grant from Innovate UK was due to £28.8m being received for the new Battery Plant facility 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 89



44 

3.8 Analysis of Revenue Grants 
 
The following table provides an analysis of revenue grant income, separately identifying all grants with a value above £2m. 
 

 
 
*The difference between the level of Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) provided in this table and the amount provided within Deployment of Dedicated Schools 
Grant note (section 3.9) is due to adjustments agreed with the Department for Education. 
 
 
 

P
age 90



45 

 

3.9 Deployment of Dedicated Schools Grant 
 
The Council's expenditure on schools is funded 
primarily by grant monies provided by the 
Education Funding Agency, the Dedicated Schools 
Grant (DSG). DSG is ringfenced and can only be 
applied to meet expenditure properly included in 

the Schools Budget, as defined in the school 
Finance and Early Years (England) regulations 
2017.  The Schools Budget includes elements for 
a range of educational services provided on an 
authority-wide basis and for the Individual Schools 

Budget, which is divided into a budget share for 
each maintained school.  
 
Details of the deployment of DSG receivable for 
2018/19 are as follows: 

 
 

 
Notes 
A: Final DSG figure before any amount has been 
recouped from the authority excluding the January 
2019 early years block adjustment. 
 
B: Figure recouped from the authority in 2018/19 
by the DfE for the conversion of maintained 
schools into Academies. 
 

C: Total figure after EFA Academy recoupment for 
2018/19 
 
D: Figure brought forward from 2017/18 should be 
as agreed with the Department. Details of the 
exercise to obtain this agreement were contained 
in the Financial Monitoring Team's e-mail 
circulated in May 2019. 
 

E: Any amount which the authority decided after 
consultation with the schools forum to carry 
forward to 2019/20 rather than distribute in 
2018/19.  
 
F: Budgeted distribution of DSG, adjusted for carry 
forward, as agreed with the schools forum.  
 
 

P
age 91



46 

G: Changes to the initial distribution, for example, 
adjustments for exclusions, or final early years 
block adjustment. 
 
H: Budgeted distribution of DSG as at the end of 
the financial year. 
 
I: Actual amount of central expenditure items in 
2018/19 - amounts not actually spent. 
 
J: Amount of ISB actually distributed to schools 
(ISB is regarded for DSG purposes as spent by 

the authority once it is deployed to schools' budget 
shares). 
 
K: Any contribution from the local authority in 
2018/19 which will have the effect of substituting 
for DSG in funding the Schools Budget. 
 
L: Carry forward to 2019/20, ie: 
 
- For central expenditure, difference between 
budgeted distribution of DSG and actual 
expenditure, plus any local authority contribution. 

 
- For ISB, difference between final budgeted 
distribution and amount actually deployed to 
schools, plus any local authority contribution. 
 
- Total is carry-forward on central expenditure plus 
carry-forward on ISB plus/minus any carry-forward 
to 2019/20 already agreed. 
 
  

P
age 92



47 

3.10 Related Party Transactions 
 
The authority is required to disclose material 
transactions with related parties – bodies or 
individuals that have the potential to control or 
influence the Council or to be controlled or 
influenced by the council. Transactions with 
related parties are disclosed to allow users of the 
financial statements to judge their impact on the 
accounts. 
 
The Deputy Chief Executive (Place) is also the 
Chief Executive of the Coventry and Warwickshire 
Local Enterprise Partnership (CWLEP) and a 
senior officer is seconded to the role of Operations 
Director at the same organisation. A member of 
Coventry City Council is on the board of CWLEP.  
CWLEP was given grants of £1,024,951, and the 
Council received £15,000 in 2018/19. CWLEP is a 
company limited by guarantee and aims to co-
ordinate public and private sector partners to 
develop the economy and increase prosperity. The 
LEP also has a role in coordinating elements of 
government funding for growth.  
 
Members 

Members of the council have direct control over 
the council’s financial and operating policies. The 
total of members’ allowances is shown in note 
3.33. During 2018/19, works and services to the 
value of £804,536 were commissioned from 
organisations that 18 members had an interest in 
(most of which are not for profit). Contracts were 
entered into in full compliance with the council’s 
standing orders.  In addition, the Council paid 
grants totalling £3,931,090 to voluntary 
organisations in which 13 members had an 
interest.  In all instances, the grants were made 
with proper consideration to declarations of 
interest. Individual members’ declarations of 
interest are available on the City Councils website. 

The sum of £703,784 was received from 

organisations with which 17 members declared an 

interest. There was a debtors balance of £234,127 

with companies in which 18 members declared an 

interest; and a creditors balance of £200,895 in 

which 15 members declared an interest. 

Individual Members’ declaration of interest forms 

are available on the City Council’s website. 

Senior Officers 

In addition, during 2018/19, works and services to 
the value of £43,903 were commissioned from 
companies that 2 senior officers had an interest. 
Grants to the value of £792,621 were made to 
voluntary bodies in which 2 senior officers had an 
interest. Contracts were entered into in full 
compliance with the Council’s standing orders. In 
all instances, the payments were made with proper 
consideration to declarations of interest. The sum 
of £661,469 was received from organisations with 
which 2 senior officers declared an interest. There 
was a debtors balance of £78,724 with companies 
in which 2 senior officers declared an interest; and 
a creditors balance of £276,429 in which 2 senior 
officer declared an interest. 
 
 
Central Government 
 
Central Government has significant influence over 
the general operations of the authority – it is 
responsible for providing the statutory framework 
within which the authority operates, provides the 
majority of its funding in the form of grants, and 
prescribes the terms of many transactions that the 
authority has with other parties. Details of the main 
transactions between the Council and Government 
departments are set out in the Comprehensive 
Income and expenditure Statement (section 2.2). 

 
 

Other Public Bodies 
 
The Authority has transactions with a range of 
other organisations and public bodies reported 
elsewhere in the accounts. 

• Pension payments are made to the West 

Midlands Metropolitan Authorities Pension 

Fund, The Teachers’ Pension Agency and 

the NHS Business Service Authority. 

Further details are included in section 

3.30. 

• Precept payments are made to the West 

Midlands Crime and Police Commissioner 

and the West Midlands Fire Authority, and 

these are shown within the Collection fund 

Income and Expenditure Statements 

(Section 3.38). 

• Levy payments are made to the West 

Midlands Combined Authority and to the 

Environment Agency. These are shown 

within the Income and expenditure 

Statement in section 2.2. 

• The authority has a pooled budget 

arrangement with Coventry and Rugby 

Clinical Commissioning group to operate a 

Better Care Fund (BCF). Transactions and 

balances are detailed in section 3.11. 

 
Organisations Controlled or Significantly 
Influenced by the Council 

The Council has a combination of:  financial 
interests (shareholdings), representation at board 
of director level and significant financial influence 
in a number of companies. Details of transactions 
with those companies are as follows; 
 

P
age 93



48 

 
Coventry & Solihull Waste Disposal Company 
(CSWDC) 

CSWDC is a company set up by Coventry City 
Council and Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council 
for the disposal of waste arising from the two 
authorities. During the year, the Council made 
payments of £7,485,109 to the company for 
services received and in return provided services 
to the value of £111,297 of which £18,656 was 
unpaid as at 31st March 2019. 
 
In addition, the Council received Business Rates 
payments of £625,635 and dividends of 
£7,040,052 
 
Coventry North Regeneration Ltd (CNR) and 
North Coventry Holdings Ltd (NCH) 

There remains a balance outstanding of £5,000 on 
the cash flow assistance loan provided by the City 
Council to CNR. CNR receives contributions from 
the City Council to cover its expenses. In 2018/19 
the total was £4,963 of which £2,800 related to 
administrative services provided by the City 
Council. 
 
During 2018/19 NCH placed a cash deposit of 
£2,700,000 with the City Council. This was repaid 
to NCH including interest of £19,722 in March 
2019. NCH supplied services to the City Council to 
the value of £191,206. The City Council provided 
services to the value of £7,312. 
 
 
 
Culture Coventry Ltd 

Payment of £1,527,811 was made to Culture 
Coventry Trust on a long term arrangement for the 
provision of museum and tourist information 
services on behalf of the authority. In addition, the 
authority provided;  

• Services to the Trust totalling £69,135 of 
which £2,457 was unpaid as at 31st March 
2019.  

• A revolving cash flow facility of £600k of 
which £62,953 was repaid this year 
leaving £199,224 outstanding. 

• Contributions to restructure, exit and 
redundancy costs of £110,555. 

 
The Trust paid the City Council 

• £200,173 to cover part of their pension 
deficit 

• £23,800 in interest in respect of the 
revolving cash flow facility 

 
The Trust is deemed to be influenced by the 
Council due to its reliance on significant Council 
funding. 
 
Coombe Abbey Park Ltd  (CAPL) 
 
CAPL paid the City Council £850,403 in respect of 
rent on long lease agreements and £733,530 in 
respect of loan repayments. 
 
The City Council provided services to CAPL 
totalling £77,492 of which £13,582 was unpaid as 
at 31st March 2019.  The City Council also 
provided further a loan facility of £732,000. 
 
CAPL provided services to the City Council 
totalling £73,741 
 
UK Battery Industrialisation Centre UK Ltd 
(UKBIC) 
 
The City Council paid UKBIC £578,846 towards 
running costs. 
 
 
 
 

Friargate JV Project Ltd 
 
The City Council paid £494,750 to cover it’s share 
of a Stamp Duty Land Tax liability. 

.

P
age 94



49 

3.11 Pooled Budgets 
 
Better Care Fund 

Coventry City Council and Coventry and Rugby Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) drew up an agreement to operate a Better Care Fund (BCF) pooled 
budget from 1st April 2015.  This was established under Section 75 of the NHS Act 2006 with the purpose of further integrating the health and social care 
services within Coventry.  
 
There are 14 separate work-streams within the BCF pooled budget arrangements. These work-streams, together with the respective contributions from the two 
partner organisations and an analysis of the expenditure made by the City Council, are outlined in the table below. The City Council's expenditure is analysed 
according to the nature of the resourcing and decision making involved. 

 
 
1 - This is where resources are controlled and expended by City Council. 
2 - The City Council acts as lead commissioner and accounts for expenditure with service providers. 
3 - Resources are pooled and the City Council and CCG account for their share of the expenditure as a joint operation in line with the Section 75 agreement.  

P
age 95



50 

The following table provides details of the BCF contributions and expenditure for the previous year, for comparative purposes.  
 

 
 
The following table provides details of the total contribution and expenditure made by the two partner organisations during 2018/19, with comparative 
information for the previous year. 
 

 

P
age 96



51 

The BCF agreement also specified the rules governing the allocation of any surpluses or deficits at year end. The details for the position as at 31st March 2019 
are outlined in the following table, together with the position as at 31st March 2018 for comparative purposes. 
 

 
 
 
 
 

3.12 External Audit Costs 
 
Coventry City Council has incurred the following costs in relation to services provided by its external auditors:  
 

 
 
*2017/18 costs have been restated for an additional charge relating to an enhanced audit report. 
  
Since 2012/13 the appointed external auditors have been Grant Thornton UK LLP. The fees in respect of other services provided by Grant Thornton in 2018/19 
relate to certification of the Teachers’ Pension return (£4,200), provision of the CFO Insights online tool that delivers financial analysis against all local authority 
accounts (£10,000) and the certification of the Housing Benefit Subsidy Claim (£16,000).  
 
  P

age 97



52 

3.13 Usable and Unusable Reserves 
 
Further details of the Council's usable and unusable reserves, shown in section 2.3 are provided below: 
 
Usable Reserves 

 
 
* This is a working balance that is maintained to assist in managing unforeseen financial challenges. 
 

P
age 98



53 

Unusable Reserves

 

 
 

 
 
 

P
age 99



54 

Capital Adjustment Account 
The Capital Adjustment Account absorbs the 
difference arising from the different rates at which 
non-current assets are accounted for as being 
consumed and those at which resources are set-
aside to finance their acquisition, construction or 
enhancement. Movements in this reserve are 
shown in the table below, together with those of 
the Revaluation Reserve. 
 
Revaluation Reserve 
This reserve contains the gains made by the 
Council arising from increases in the value of its: 
Property, Plant and Equipment; and Non-
operational Assets. The reserve only includes 
gains since its inception on 1st April 2007. Prior to 
that, gains were consolidated into the Capital 
Adjustment Account. The balance is reduced 
when assets with accumulated gains are: 
    

• revalued downwards or impaired and the 
gains are lost; 

• used in the provision of services and the 
gains are consumed through depreciation; 
or 

• disposed of and the gains realised. 
    
Revaluation Reserve movements are shown in the 
table above, together with those of the Capital 
Adjustment Account. 
 

Financial Instruments Adjustment Account 
This account provides a balancing mechanism 
between the different rates at which the gains and 
losses (such as premiums on the early repayment 
of debt) are recognised under the Code Of 
Practice on Local Authority Accounting and those 
required by statute to be met from the General 
Fund. 
 
Collection Fund Adjustment Account 
This account contains the cumulative difference 
between the accrued income from Council Tax 
and Business Rates and the amounts required by 
regulation to be credited to the General Fund. 
  
Pension Reserve 
This reserve absorbs the timing differences arising 
from the different arrangements for accounting for 
post-employment benefits and for funding benefits 
in accordance with statutory provisions. A 
breakdown of the movements in this reserve is 
provided in section 3.31. 
 
Accumulated Absences Account 
The account absorbs the differences that would 
otherwise arise on the General Fund from 
accruing for compensated absences earned but 
not taken in the year, e.g. annual leave entitlement 
carried forward at 31st March. Statutory 
arrangements require that the impact on the 
General Fund is neutralised by transfers to or from 
the Account. 

 
Available for Sale Financial Instruments 
Reserve 
This records unrealised revaluation gains arising 
from holding available for sale investments, plus 
any unrealised losses that have not arisen from 
impairment of the assets. 
 
Deferred Capital Receipts Reserve 
The Deferred Capital Receipts Reserve holds the 
gains recognised on the disposal of non-current 
assets but for which cash settlement has yet to 
take place. Under statutory arrangements, the 
authority does not treat these gains as usable for 
financing new capital expenditure until they are 
backed by cash receipts. When the deferred cash 
settlement eventually takes place, amounts are 
transferred to the Usable Capital Receipts 
Reserve. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
  

P
age 100



55 

3.14 Adjustments between Accounting Basis & Funding Basis under Regulations 

 
This note details the adjustments that are made to the total comprehensive income and expenditure recognised by the Authority in the year to the resources that 
are specified by statutory provisions as being available to meet future capital and revenue expenditure. 
 

 
 

P
age 101



56 

3.15 Property, Plant and Equipment 
The table below shows the movement in the City Council's Property, Plant and Equipment during the year. 
 

 
 
  

P
age 102



57 

The table below shows the movement in the City Council's Property, Plant and Equipment during the previous year for comparative purposes. 
 

 
 
 
 
Revaluation of Fixed Assets is undertaken within a 
5 year rolling programme. This is a re-assessment 
of asset valuations and has been undertaken by 
qualified City Council staff in accordance with the 
"Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors Appraisal 
and Valuation Manual". The valuation bases used 
for the fixed asset classifications are detailed in 
the accounting policies, see section 5.7.  In 

addition, a review is undertaken by the Council’s 
valuer to determine whether the carrying amount 
of other assets, not due for valuation as part of the 
rolling programme, is consistent with their current 
value. The valuer has considered both external 
factors, such as market conditions and changes in 
the regulatory environment, and internal factors, 
such as obsolescence and physical damage. 

There was also a review of specialist PPE, of 
which schools are the most significant. For the 
build costs the BCIS all-in Tender Price Index was 
applied and for land the Knight Frank Residential 
Development land Index. There was no change 
required to the value of schools because of this 
review. 
 

P
age 103



58 

Depreciation is a calculation of the amount an 
asset has decreased in value due to general wear 
and tear etc. and is provided for on all assets with 
a determinable finite life (except for land, 
community assets, heritage assets and non-
operational properties), by allocating the value of 
the asset in the balance sheet over the periods 
expected to benefit from their use.  
 
The basis upon which depreciation is charged for 
the different asset types is detailed in the 
accounting policies, see section 5.7. 

P
age 104



59 

3.16 Heritage Assets 
Heritage assets are those assets that are intended 
to be preserved in trust for future generations 
because of their cultural, environmental or 
historical associations. They are held by the 
authority principally for their contribution to 
knowledge and culture.  
 

Heritage assets that have been included in the 
financial statements at valuation are based on 
external or internal insurance valuations. These 
valuations were last updated in 2007 and have not 
been reassessed during 2018/19 because the cost 
of carrying this out is considered to outweigh the 
benefits to users of the financial statements. 

The table provides a breakdown of the brought 
forward balance of Heritage Assets on 1st April 
2018 and the carried forward balance on 31st 
March 2019. There have been no significant or 
material additions or disposals over the last five 
years that warrant any further disclosure. 

  
 

P
age 105



60 

Heritage assets relate predominantly to the 
museum collections at The Herbert Art Gallery & 
Museum, Coventry Transport Museum and other 
assets situated in the Council House and St Mary's 
Guildhall which have been categorised in the table 
above. 
 
Details of the following classification of heritage 
asset which are most significant in terms of value 
are:  
 
Visual Art collection - The Authority holds a 
significant collection of paintings which are on 
display at The Herbert. The collection is reported 
on the Balance Sheet at insurance valuations 
based on market values of which the most 
significant valuations include 'Ebbw Vale' by 
Lowry, 'King George III' by Lawrence and 'Bacchus 
and Ariadne' by Giordano and Brueghel. 
 
Textile Collection - The Authority holds an 
extensive collection of textiles which are on display 
at The Herbert and St Mary's Guildhall. The 
collection is reported on the Balance Sheet at 
insurance valuations based on market values of 
which the most significant valuation relates to the 
Tournai Tapestry that was commissioned to 
commemorate the visit of King Henry VII and 
Queen Elizabeth in 1500. 
 
Transport Museum Collection - The Authority 
holds an extensive transport collection which is on 
display at The Coventry Transport Museum. The 
collection is reported on the Balance Sheet at 
insurance valuations based on market values of 
which the most significant valuations include the 
Thrust 2 and Thrust SSC cars. Thrust SSC 
(supersonic car) is the current world land speed 
record holder and became the first car to officially 
break the sound barrier. 
 
Heritage assets have been recognised where the 
authority has information on the cost or value. 

Where the cost or value is not available, and the 
cost of obtaining the information outweighs the 
benefits to users of the financial statements, they 
have not been recognised and are disclosed 
separately below: 
 
Monuments - There are approximately sixty 
monuments consisting of sculptures, public art, 
murals and memorials situated around the city that 
have not been included in the financial statements 
due to not previously having values for these 
items. It is the view of the Authority that the cost of 
obtaining the information outweighs the benefits to 
users of the financial statements. Three of the 
most significant monuments of historic importance 
to Coventry and recognised internationally include: 
 

• Self Sacrifice, The Lady Godiva Statue - 
created in 1944 and installed in Broadgate 
in 1949. 

 

• Godiva and Peeping Tom figures 
Broadgate Clock Tower - Carved 
wooden figures which form part of the 
clock located in Broadgate. Created in 
1951 by Trevor Tennant. 

 

• Broadgate Standard - Standard 
containing elephant and castle from City 
coat of arms. Located in Broadgate and 
installed in March 1948. 

 
Artefacts and archaeology relating to the 
Pottery and Ceramics Industry - The Authority 
holds a significant collection of pottery and 
ceramics at various sites that have been obtained 
via collection and archaeological finds. None of 
these collections satisfy the authority's capital de 
minimis policy and, although they warrant 
recognition in terms of their contribution to 
knowledge and culture, this is the reason they are 
not included in the Balance Sheet. One of the 
most significant collections of historic importance 

to Coventry is the collection from the Lunt Roman 
Fort which is now located at the Whitefriars site, 
circa 40 complete or near complete Roman "pots". 
 
Local History Archive - Within the History Centre 
at The Herbert, the Authority holds a wide range of 
records and material relating to the history of 
Coventry which includes books, maps, 
newspapers, electoral registers and building plans. 
 
Further information about the Authority's 
Acquisition and Disposal Policy for Museum 
Archives and Local History Collections, including 
details regarding the preservation and 
management of assets can be viewed on the 
council's website (www.coventry.gov.uk).  
 
 

 
 
 
 

P
age 106



61 

3.17 Non-Operational Assets 
 
The tables below show the movement in the City Council's Non-Operational Assets during 2018/19, followed by comparative movements for the previous year. 
 

 
 
* All Under Construction Non-Operational Assets are Investment Properties and are included within that category on the Balance Sheet. These are reviewed annually and have 
been revalued where material differences arise.  
The Council changed its approach in 2017/18 so that a higher proportion of its investment properties is revalued each year. As a result, over 80% of investment properties have 
been revalued. The remaining assets have been subject to a review to ensure that there have been no material changes to their value. 
There are some property interests held under operating leases that the authority sub-lets. These properties are accounted for as Investment Properties. 
 

P
age 107



62 

Operating expenditure incurred and rental income generated from Investment Property is shown as ‘Commercial Property’ within the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 

Account (section 2.2). 

The table below provides a breakdown of Investment Properties. These are all valued at Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.  
 
 

 

P
age 108



63 

 

 

3.18 Capital Expenditure and Capital Financing 
 
The table below shows how capital expenditure in 2018/19 has been financed: 
 

 
 
 
The Council's capital spending for the year, outlined in section 1.2 and identified in its management accounting reports (£146,697) includes all the items 
recorded under capital investment above (£146,905k) less new assets recorded as part of the Street Lighting PFI contract (£208k) see section 3.28. 

P
age 109



64 

3.19 Revaluation of Property, Plant and Equipment 
 
The following statement shows the total value of the revaluations carried out in the financial years 2014/15 to 2018/19. The valuations were carried out by 
Graham Stephens MRICS, from the Property Division – Place Directorate. The basis for valuation is set out in the statement of accounting policies. The 
effective date of each revaluation is the date that the revaluation was produced. 
 
 

 

P
age 110



65 

3.20 Capital Commitments 
 
The City Council approved capital programme for 2018/19 of £262.4m and a provisional programme of £239.6m for 2019/20 and £191.2m for 2020/21. The 
following are significant contracts legally committed to finish projects already started on 31st March 2019.

 
 

 
 
 
 
  

P
age 111



66 

 

3.21 Long Term Investments 
 
The City Council has long term investments in a number of companies.  Details of the investments are shown below and further details of the companies are 
shown in section 3.35 Associated Company Interests & Holdings. 
 

 
 

A valuation exercise undertaken jointly with 
BDO LLP in 2018 valued the Council’s 
shareholding in Birmingham Airport Holdings 
Limited at £29.2m. A subsequent valuation in 
2019 again undertaken jointly with BDO LLP 
has resulted in a marginally increased valuation 
of £29.3m.  
 
A valuation exercise undertaken jointly with 
BDO LLP in 2018 valued the Council's 
shareholding in the Coventry and Solihull 
Waste Disposal Company at £51.7m. A 
subsequent valuation exercise in 2019 again 
undertaken jointly with BDO LLP has resulted in 
a revised valuation of £57.0m.  
 
The Council completed the purchase of a 100% 
shareholding in Coombe Abbey Park Limited in 
December 2017. The Company owns and 
operates the Coombe Abbey Hotel which is 
situated just outside the city boundary. The fair 
value of the investment was calculated to be 

£12.0m in 2017/18. An updated valuation 
exercise undertaken jointly with BDO LLP in 
2019 has reduced the valuation to £11.4m.  
 
The Council purchased 50% of Friargate Joint 
Venture Project Limited in January 2019. This is 
a 50/50 joint venture with Friargate Holdings 2 
Limited, established to develop new buildings 
within the Friargate district of the city. The 
investment is being held at a value of £10.5m 
consistent with the purchase value of the 
shareholding. 
 
Details of the Council’s investment in North 
Coventry Holdings Limited are provided in 
section 3.35.  
 
The Council maintains a shareholding in the 
University of Warwick Science Park Innovation 
Centre Ltd. This has been valued at nil as at 
31st March 2019. 
 

The UK Battery Industrialisation Centre Ltd was 
incorporated in February 2018 and the Council 
is currently the sole shareholder. The purpose 
of the company is to run the proposed National 
Battery Development Facility which is currently 
under construction. The company will ultimately 
become a Joint Venture Private Limited 
Company with the Warwick Manufacturing 
Group and Coventry & Warwickshire Local 
Enterprise Partnership. The City Council is 
initially purchasing all land and equipment in 
relation to the facility with funding coming from 
Innovate UK which is a Government backed 
agency. As a result, activity within the company 
has been minimal to date and it is held at nil 
value as at 31st March 2019. 
  
See section 3.35 for further details regarding 
the Council’s company interests. 
 

P
age 112



67 

3.22 Long Term Debtors  
 
This note identifies the amounts owing to the authority, which are being repaid over various periods longer than one year. 
 
Long term debtors include a number of different types of financial assets, including loans provided for service purposes and debtors arising from finance lease disposals. 
Under IFRS9 debtors are accounted for as either at amortised cost or fair value through profit and loss, with the former being assessed for impairment. Transitional 
disclosures are included in section 3.34. 
 

 

P
age 113



68 

3.23 Short Term Debtors 
 
An analysis of the Council's short term debtors is shown below: 

 

 
 
 
The past due but not impaired amount for local taxation (council tax and non-domestic rates) can be analysed by age as follows: 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 114



69 

 

3.24 Short Term Creditors 
 
An analysis of the Council's short term creditors is shown below: 
 

 
 
 

 

3.25 Provisions 
 
Provisions are made for liabilities the City Council has incurred where it is more likely than not that it will have to make a payment to discharge the liability.  If it 
is found that a provision is no longer needed it is returned to revenue.  The movement in the City Council's provisions during 2018/19 is explained below: 

 

  
 

P
age 115



70 

 
The split between short and long term provisions, as at 31st March 2019, is provided in the following table: 

 
 
 
The Council's provision for its self-insurance liability is based upon the full value of known insurance claims. The provision is used when insurance claims 
require settlement, the timing of which is uncertain. The Council also maintains an insurance earmarked reserve that is set aside for claims that have been 
incurred but not yet received as detailed within the note on usable and usable reserves. 
 
The Local Government Finance Act 2012 introduced a business rates retention scheme that enables local authorities to retain a proportion of the business rates 
generated in their area. One of the implications for this is that the Council is required to make provisions for refunding ratepayers who successfully appeal 
against the rateable value of their properties including amounts relating to 2018/19 and earlier financial years although the amount and timing of future 
payments are uncertain.  
 

3.26 Other Funds 
 
The City Council administers several funds that have been established from donations, contributions and bequests. The funds are set up to achieve specific 
objectives. The following table provides details of the balances held in these funds. 
 

P
age 116



71 

3.27 Notes to the Cash Flow 
 
The Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services has been adjusted for the following non-cash movements: 
 

 
 
The Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services has been adjusted for the following items that are investing and financing activities: 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

P
age 117



72 

 
 
All changes in liabilities arising from financing activities are a result of financing cash flows. No such changes relate to non-cash movements. 
 
The cash flows for operating activities include the following items: 
 

 
 
 
The balance of Cash and Cash Equivalents is made up of the following elements: 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 118



73 

3.28 Private Finance Initiative (PFI) 
 
PFI is an arrangement involving a partnership agreement with an external body in order to generate investment in Council services. In return for this investment 
the Council pays an annual fee. 
 
These PFI arrangements have been classified and accounted for as 'service concessions' under IFRIC 12, recognising finance leases under IAS 17 'Leases'. 
 
The Council's contracts under PFI arrangements are outlined in this disclosure note. 
 
Caludon Castle School PFI Contract 

 
In December 2004 the City Council entered into a PFI contract with Coventry Education Partnership for the provision of a fully rebuilt community secondary 
school (Caludon Castle), along with facilities management services, for a 30 year period. The contractor started on site in December 2004 and the first phase of 
the school opened in 2005/06.   
 
In February 2013 Caludon Castle School transferred to Academy Status. This transfer did not result in any fundamental changes to the PFI contract itself. 
However, as a result of the transfer the value of the school's land and buildings was removed (as an impairment) from the Council's balance sheet. 
 
The Council is due to receive PFI grants of £56.3m from central government over the period of this contract.   
 
In 2018/19 expenditure on unitary charge payments to the contractor was £3,152k, compared with £3,109k, in 2017/18. This unitary charge is divided into three 
elements; service charge, repayment of the liability and interest. 
 
The forecast unitary charge payments the Council will make under the contract are as follows:  

 

 
 
The payments to the contractor are calculated using an assumed rate of inflation.  The actual payments will be dependent on actual inflation and/or penalty 
deductions applied in respect of underperformance and non-availability. 
 
The liability held on the Balance Sheet under this PFI scheme and an analysis of the movement within 2018/19 are shown in the tables below. 

 

P
age 119



74 

 
 
New Homes for Old PFI Contract 

 
In March 2006 the City Council entered into a PFI contract with Anchor Trust for the provision of community care services.  The contract comprises the provision 
of two 40 bed specialist dementia units, including 10 respite beds, and three extra care units with domiciliary care support for up to 120 tenants along with 
facilities management services, for a 25 year period. 
 
The five sites were transferred to the contractor, under licence, to enable works to take place. All units became operational during 2007/08. Following the 
commencement of services, the Council entered into a 25 year contract with Anchor Trust.   
 
The Council is due to receive PFI grants of £43.5m from central government over the period of this contract.   
 
In 2018/19 expenditure on unitary charge payments to the contractor was £7,308k, compared with £7,016k in 2017/18. This unitary charge is divided into three 
elements; service charge, repayment of the liability and interest. 
 
The forecast unitary charge payments the Council will make under the contract are as follows: 

 

 
 
The payments to the contractor are calculated using an assumed rate of inflation.  The actual payments will be dependent on actual inflation and/or penalty 
deductions applied in respect of underperformance and non-availability. 
 
 
The liability and assets held on the Balance Sheet under this PFI scheme and an analysis of the movement within 2018/19 are shown in the tables below. 
 

P
age 120



75 

 
 
At the end of the contract (June 2032) the facilities and sites will transfer back to the Council at nil consideration 
 
Street Lighting PFI Contract 

 
In August 2010 the City Council entered into a PFI contract with Balfour Beatty (Connect Roads Coventry Ltd) for the provision of street lighting services. The 
contract provides for the replacement and maintenance of street lights and similar equipment across the city, together with the associated energy costs, for a 
period of 25 years. The Council is due to receive PFI grants of £124.3m from central government over the period of this contract.   
 
In 2018/19 expenditure on unitary charge payments to the contractor was £7,927k, compared with £7,585k in 2017/18. 
This unitary charge is divided into three elements; service charge, repayment of the liability and interest. 
 
The forecast unitary charge payments the Council will make under the contract are as follows: 
 
  P

age 121



76 

 
 
The payments to the contractor are calculated using an assumed rate of inflation.  The actual payments will be dependent on actual inflation and/or penalty 
deductions applied in respect of underperformance and non-availability. 
 
The liability and assets held on the Balance Sheet under this PFI scheme and an analysis of the movement within are shown in the tables below. 
 

 
 
 

 
 
At the end of the contract (October 2035), the infrastructure assets will transfer back to the Council at nil consideration.

P
age 122



77 

3.29 Leases 
 
Authority as Lessee 

 
Finance Leases 
The Authority has acquired a number of properties, vehicles, plant and IT equipment under finance leases.  The assets acquired under these leases are carried 
in the Balance Sheet at the following net amounts: 
 

 
 
The Authority is committed to making minimum payments under these leases comprising settlement of the long-term liability for the interest in the property 
acquired by the Authority and finance costs that will be payable by the Authority in future years while the liability remains outstanding.  The minimum lease 
payments are made up of the following amounts: 
 

 
 
The minimum lease payments will be payable over the following periods: 
 

 
 
The minimum lease payments do not include rents that are contingent on events taking place after the lease was entered into, such as adjustments following 
rent reviews.  In 2018/19 there were no contingent rents payable by the Authority. 
 

P
age 123



78 

Operating Leases 
 
The Authority also has a number of properties, vehicles, plant and IT equipment under operating leases. 
The future minimum lease payments due under non-cancellable leases in future years are: 
 

 
 
 
Authority as Lessor 

 
Finance Leases 
 
The Authority have gross investments in leases, made up of the minimum lease payments expected to be received over the remaining terms and the residual 
values anticipated for the properties when the leases comes to an end.  The minimum lease payments comprise settlement of the long-term debtor for the 
interest in the properties acquired by the lessee and finance income that will be earned by the Authority in future years whilst the debtors remain outstanding.  
The gross investments are made up of the following amounts: 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 124



79 

The gross investment in the lease and the minimum lease payments will be received over the following periods: 
 

 
 
The minimum lease payments do not include rents that are contingent on events taking place after the lease was entered into, such as adjustments following 
rent reviews.  In 2018/19, contingent rents receivable by the Authority totalled £75k. 
 
 
Operating Leases 
The Authority leases out land and buildings to third parties under operating leases. The minimum lease payments receivable under non-cancellable leases in 
future years are: 
 

 
 
 

P
age 125



80 

3.30 Pension Costs 
 
The Council currently participates in three post-
employment pension schemes on behalf of its 
employees: the West Midlands Metropolitan 
Authorities Pension Fund in relation to the majority 
Council employees; the NHS Pensions Scheme of 
which a small number of adult social care and 
public health employees are members; and the 
Teachers' Pension Scheme which covers 
Teachers employed by the Council. 
 
The Council’s pension deficit remained fairly static 
in 2018/19. When compared to the total value of 
everything the Council owns, the overall pension 
deficit remains a significant matter for 
consideration. Further details on pension liabilities 
are provided in note 3.31. 
 
Officers  
The overall position on pensions has required 
increases in Local Government Pension scheme 
pension contributions from employers and 
employees nationally. Coventry City Council has 
made year-on-year increases in employer pension 
contributions since 2014/15 Although these 
increases continue to represent extra costs to the 
Council, these are being managed within its 
overall budget and mean that the financial position 
of the authority remains sound. 
 
 
In 2017/18 the City Council made an upfront 
payment of £93,300k to cover employer 
contributions up to 2019/20. The amount that 
would have been paid without this upfront payment 
was £36,877k, (£34,469k in 2017/18), 
representing 27.3% of employees' pensionable 

pay into the West Midlands Metropolitan 
Authorities Pension Fund.  The contributions were 
set in line with local government pension 
regulations, following the actuarial review by 
Barnett Waddingham LLP as at March 2016. 
 
The Council is also responsible for all pension 
payments relating to employees who retire early 
and additional pension contributions.  In 2018/19, 
this amounted to £1,909k (£2,895k in 2017/18). 
 
No allowance has been made for the recent 
McCloud judgement which relates to age 
discrimination within the New Judicial Pension 
Scheme. It is currently unclear how this judgement 
may affect LGPS members’ past or future service 
benefits. Barnett Waddingham continue to 
participate in discussions with the governing 
bodies of the LGPS to understand how this may 
affect mechanisms within the scheme. 
 
This fund is administered by Wolverhampton 
Metropolitan Borough Council and provides 
members with defined benefits related to pay and 
service.  Further information can be found in West 
Midlands Metropolitan Authorities Pension Fund's 
Annual report, which is available upon request 
from the Pension Fund. 
 
 
Teaching Staff 
In 2018/19, the City Council paid £9,059k 
(£10,163k in 2017/18) to the Department for 
Education (DfE) for teachers' pension costs, which 
represents 16.48% of pensionable pay. In addition, 
the City Council is responsible for all pension 
payments relating to teachers who retire early and 

additional pension contributions.  In 2018/19, 
these amounted to £2,379k (£2,426k in 2017/18) 
representing 2.4% of pensionable pay. 
 
The Scheme is a defined benefit scheme, 
administered by the Teachers Pensions Agency 
(TPA).  Although the scheme is unfunded, the TPA 
uses a notional fund as a basis for calculating the 
employers' contribution rate paid by local 
education authorities.  However, it is not possible 
for the authority to identify a share of the 
underlying liabilities in the scheme attributable to 
its own employees.  For the purposes of this 
statement of accounts, it is therefore accounted for 
on the basis as a defined contribution scheme. It is 
expected that the level of contributions during the 
next annual reporting period will be £9.9m 
although the actual level would be significantly 
affected in the event of transfers of schools to 
academy status. 
 
NHS Staff 
Staff who work for the public health service which 
transferred to the City Council on 1st April 2013 
may be members of the NHS Pension Scheme, 
which is administered by the NHS Business 
Services Authority.  It is a defined benefit scheme.  
However, as the authority's share of the underlying 
assets and liabilities cannot be identified, it is 
treated as a defined contribution scheme.  The 
pension costs charged to the accounts are the 
employer’s contributions payable to NHS Pension 
Scheme. In 2018/19 the City Council paid £28k to 
the NHS Pension Scheme in respect of former 
NHS staff retirement benefits (£48k in 2017/18), 
which represents 14.3% of pensionable pay.  
 

P
age 126



81 

3.31 Retirement Benefits 
 
Coventry participates in the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) through the West Midlands Authorities Pension Fund, which is administered by 
Wolverhampton Council.  This is a funded defined benefit scheme, meaning that the authority and employees pay contributions into a fund, calculated at a level 
intended to balance the pension fund's liabilities with investment assets. 
In addition to this scheme, Coventry is also responsible for all pension payments relating to added years awarded for allowing premature retirement of teachers.  
This is an unfunded scheme, meaning that there are no investment assets built up to meet the pensions liability, and cash has to be generated to meet actual 
pension payments as they fall due. 
Barnett Waddingham LLP, the current actuary for the pension fund, has undertaken the assessment of the value of assets and liabilities on behalf of the 
member authorities of the West Midlands Pension Fund.  
 
Summary of Outcome 

The overall decrease in the deficit is analysed as follows: 
 

 
  
The liabilities show the underlying commitments that the authority has in the long term to repay retirement benefits.  The total liability has a substantial impact 
on the net worth of the authority as recorded on the balance sheet.  However, statutory arrangements for funding the deficit mean that the financial position of 
the authority remains healthy. 
 
Whilst the LGPS deficit remained fairly static within 2018/19 there were some significant movements within the outcome which can largely be explained as 
follows: 

• A decrease in the discount rate which creates a liability increase. Every time there is a decrease in discount rates it drives up the value of pension 
benefits and increase current service costs. 

• A decrease in life expectancy which accounts for a decrease in liabilities 

• Continuing benefit of an upfront payment of £93,300k made by the City Council to the Pension Fund in April 2017 which covered  the next  3 years 
pension contributions 

P
age 127



82 

 
The deficit on the local government scheme will be made good by increased contributions over the working life of the employees and other scheme changes, as 
assessed by the scheme's actuary. 
 
Finance is only required to be raised to cover the cost of teachers’ pensions relating to added years when the pensions are actually paid. 
 
The cost of retirement benefits is recognised in the Net Cost of Services when they are earned by employees, rather than when the benefits are eventually paid 
as pensions. The charge we are required to make against Council Tax is based on the cash payable in the year based on the current level of Employer 
Superannuation contributions. The difference between the two is adjusted as part of the Adjustments between Accounting Basis and Funding Basis under 
Regulations. 
 
The following transactions have been made in the Income and Expenditure Account and as Adjustments between Accounting Basis and Funding Basis under 
Regulations: 
 

 
The cumulative amount of re-measurements recognised in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement from 1st April 2010 to 31st March 2019 is a 
loss of £61.61m. 

P
age 128



83 

 
Reconciliation of fair value of the scheme (plan) assets: 
 

 
 
The expected return on scheme assets is determined by considering the expected returns available on the assets underlying the current investment policy.  
Expected yields on fixed interest investments are based on gross redemption yields as at the Balance Sheet date. 
 
Expected returns on equity investments reflect long-term real rates of return experienced in the respective markets. The actual return on scheme assets in the 
year was a £45.4m gain (compared to a £0.8m gain in 2017/18). 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

P
age 129



84 

 
Reconciliation of present value of the scheme liabilities (defined benefit obligation):

 
 
Basis for Estimating Assets and Liabilities 

Liabilities have been assessed on an actuarial basis using the projected unit method, an estimate of the pensions that will be payable in future years dependent 
on assumptions about factors such as mortality rates and salary levels. 
 

 

P
age 130



85 

 
 
The defined benefit obligation is an estimate and as such is sensitive to the actuarial assumptions in the table above. The table below is a sensitivity analysis 
based on possible changes to these assumptions. The sensitivity analysis assumes that for each change in assumption, all of the other assumptions remain 
constant. 
 

 
 
Assets are valued at fair value, and consist of the following categories, by proportion:  
 

 

P
age 131



86 

3.32 Officers' Remuneration (including exit packages) 
 
Employee's Remuneration (excluding pension contributions) exceeding £50,000 

The Council is required to disclose the number of employees whose remuneration during 2018/19 exceeded £50,000. Remuneration includes salaries and 
wages (net of pension contributions) and other allowances. The table below shows the number of City Council employees whose remuneration fell within the 
relevant bands: 

 

 

P
age 132



87 

 
Senior Officer's Remuneration (including pension contributions) 

The Council is required to disclose details of senior officer's remuneration. This includes: salaries; fees; allowances; bonuses; benefits in kind; expenses 
allowances; compensation for loss of employment; and pension contributions (employer's contributions and any other emoluments). The tables below provide 
the required disclosure: 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 133



88 

 
Exit Packages 

The Council is required to disclose details of exit packages paid to employees. These include redundancy costs, pension contributions in respect of added 
years, ex-gratia payments and other departure costs. 
 

 
 
 

3.33 Members' Allowances 
 
The Council paid the following amounts to members during the year: 
 

 

 
 
  

P
age 134



89 

3.34 Financial Instruments 
 
Financial instruments include both assets and liabilities. 
 
The financial assets held by the Council during the year are accounted for under the following classifications: 
 

• Amortised cost, comprising: cash; fixed term deposits; loans provided for service purposes; corporate bonds; trade and lease receivables. 

• Fair value through other comprehensive income (OCI), comprising: pooled bond, equity and property funds and shares held in certain companies.  

• Fair value through profit and loss, comprising: money market funds and loans provided where the cash flows are not solely payments of principal and interest. 

 
The financial liabilities held by the Council during the year are measured at amortised cost and comprise: long-term loans from the Public Works Loan Board 
and commercial lenders; short-term loans from other local authorities; lease payables; Private Finance Initiative contracts detailed in note 3.28 and trade 
payables for goods and services received. 
 

The Balance Sheet includes the following categories of financial instruments: 
 

 
 
 

P
age 135



90 

 
 

P
age 136



91 

 
 
Current borrowings and investments represent amounts due to be settled within 12 months, including accrued interest. In 2018/19 borrowing costs of £1,410k 
on qualifying assets were capitalised. 
 
The Council has elected to account for a number of investments as equity instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income because they are long-
term strategic holdings and changes in their fair value are not considered to be part of the Council’s annual financial performance. These are divided between 
those held at 31st March 2019 and those derecognised during 2018/19, with the latter being disposed of as part of realignment of the Council’s investment portfolio 
in the light of cashflow requirements: 

 

P
age 137



92 

The 2018/19 Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement include the following amounts in relation to financial instruments: 

 
Financial instruments, except those classified at amortised cost, are carried in the Balance Sheet at fair value, which for most assets is taken from the market 
price. The fair values of other instruments have been estimated by calculating the net present value of the remaining contractual cash flows at 31st March 2019, 
using the following methods and assumptions: 

• for Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) and other local authority loans using the appropriate market rate for such loans as at 31st March 2019.  

• for "Lenders Option Borrower's Option" market loans (LOBOs) and Stock Issue loans, using the appropriate interest rate swap added to the value of any 
embedded options. 

• for PFI and finance leases using the appropriate corporate bond rate 

• for other long term loans and investments using market rates for similar instruments and with similar maturity terms  

• for shares, taking into account the company’s net assets and expected future profits 

• no early repayment or impairment is recognised. 

• where an instrument will mature in the next 12 months, including trade payables and receivables, the carrying amount is assumed to approximate fair 
value. 

Fair values are shown below, split by their level in the fair value hierarchy: 

• Level 1 – fair value is only derived from quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities, e.g. bond prices. 

• Level 2 – fair value is calculated from inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability, e.g. interest rates or yields for similar 
instruments. 

• Level 3 – fair value is determined using unobservable inputs, e.g. non-market data such as cash flow forecasts or estimated creditworthiness.

P
age 138



93 

 
The fair value of financial liabilities reflects the amount of fixed interest debt taken out in the past at higher rates of interest, and includes accrued interest. The 
fair value figures for PWLB, Market Loans & Stock Issue above have been calculated by the Council's treasury advisors, Arlingclose. The loan stock, which is 
listed on the London Stock Exchange, totals £12.004m, is at a fixed interest rate of 8.25% and is due to mature for repayment on 5th January 2026. The fair 
value figure for PFI has been calculated in house, using an Arlingclose calculator. Fair value figures for Other Local Authority, Creditors & Other Liabilities are 
all calculated in house. 
 
Financial assets and liabilities categorised as Level 3 are: 
 

• Shares in unlisted companies, as included in note 3.21. Fair value is calculated by applying a market based discount rate or multiplier to the forecast 
earnings set out in the financial plans of the companies. A 5% variation in earnings would alter the value of the shares by £5.7m.  
 

P
age 139



94 

• Long term loans to companies, as included in note 3.22. Fair value is calculated by discounting the future value of cashflows under the loans at the 
market rate as at 31st March 2019. A 1% variation in the discount rate would alter the value of the loans by £2.4m. 
 

The authority's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: 
 
Credit risk – the possibility that other parties might fail to pay amounts due to the authority. 
 
Liquidity risk – the possibility that the authority might not have funds available to meet its commitments to make payments. 
 
Market risk – the possibility that financial loss might arise for the authority as a result of changes in such measures as interest rates and stock market 
movements. 
 
The authority's overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the 
resources available to fund services.  Risk management is carried out by a central treasury management team, under policies approved by the Council in the 
annual Treasury Management Strategy.   
 
Credit risk 

Credit risk arises from deposits with banks and financial institutions, as well as credit exposures to the authority's customers and loans provided by the Council.   
 
Credit risk arising from deposits made with banks and financial institutions is managed based on limits set out in the Council Investment Strategy and Policy, 
which forms part of the annual Treasury Management Strategy. For 2018/19 this required that deposits were only made with banks, building societies & 
corporate bonds with a high quality credit rating (minimum A- long term). In addition, as at 31st March 2019 the policy limited the maximum that can be 
deposited with an institution at any point in time to £10m. Under the Treasury Management Strategy the Section 151 officer will, as appropriate, restrict 
investment activity to those institutions considered of higher quality than the minimum. 
  

P
age 140



95 

The following analysis summarises the authority's potential maximum exposure to credit risk arising from deposits made with banks and financial institutions, 
based on experience of default and uncollectability over the last five financial years, adjusted to reflect the current market conditions. 
 

 
 
The deposits set out above as at 31st March 2019 were held with financial institutions domiciled in the following countries: 
 

 
 
Pooled property and equity funds are included in the above tables for completeness but are subject to price risk, as referred to later in this note. 
 
Overall limits to exposure to individual institutions were not exceeded during the year and the authority does not expect any losses from non-performance by 
any of its counterparties in relation to deposits.  
 
Credit risk on long term debtors including service loans, is assessed through the review of the risk of default and the level of loss given the occurrence of a 
default, taking into account collateral. Where available, and where relevant, the following information is used to assess the risk of default: 

• financial and other information about the particular debtor, including statutory accounts, credit rating and forward looking business planning data; 

• the extent to which contract payments are overdue; 

• recovery or repayment plans where payments are overdue; 

• the wider local and national context.  

Write off is considered only where it is assessed that the amount will be not be paid, taking into account any recovery plans. 

P
age 141



96 

Financial instruments are assessed at each balance sheet date to assess whether credit risk has increased significantly since recognition and the previous 
balance sheet date. Where it is deemed that the credit risk has not increased significantly or that the risk is low, then loss allowances are calculated as 12 
month expected credit losses, based on the likelihood of a credit loss event occurring in the following 12 months. Otherwise loss allowances are calculated 
based on the expected lifetime credit losses. 
 
The Council manages the credit risk arising from its loans for service purposes, together with any loan commitments in line with the Commercial Investment 
Strategy approved by Council on 19th February 2019. 
 
The authority does not generally allow credit for trade debtors.  Loss allowances are calculated by reference to the historic cost of default, viewed on collective 
basis.  £4,335k of the £46,788k  trade debtor balance is past its due date for payment. The past due amount can be analysed by age as follows:  
 

 

Liquidity Risk 
 
As the authority has ready access to borrowings from the PWLB, there is no significant risk that it will be unable to raise finance to meet its commitments under 
financial instruments.  Instead, the risk is that the authority will be bound to replenish a significant proportion of its borrowings at a time of unfavourable interest 
rates. This risk is managed through the use of Prudential Indicators, set as part of the Treasury Management Strategy, limiting the amount of borrowing that 
matures over the next 10 years. 
 
The maturity analysis of financial liabilities is as follows: 
 

 

P
age 142



97 

In the above table, in order to illustrate liquidity risk, financial liabilities are stated at the value of principal to be repaid in future, rather than at their carrying 
amounts. As such, they exclude adjustments in arriving at the fair value of stepped interest loans, accrued interest on loans and liabilities in respect of PFI and 
Finance Leases. 
 
LOBO loans are included in the maturity analysis of financial liabilities based on their actual contractual maturity date, rather than the earliest date on which the 
lender can opt to increase the interest rate. In the event of the lender increasing the interest rate the City Council can opt to repay the loan. A total of £38m of 
such loans are held, £10m of which the lenders have interest review options at up to annual intervals, and £28m at 5 yearly intervals, from May 2015. All trade 
and other payables are due to be paid in less than one year. 
 
Market Risk 

Interest rate risk 
 
The authority is exposed to risk in terms of the impact of interest rate movements on its borrowings and investments. Movements in interest rates have a 
complex impact on the authority.  For instance, a rise in interest rates would have the following effects: 
 
Borrowings at variable rates – the interest expense charged to the Income and Expenditure Account will rise. 
Borrowings at fixed rates – the fair value of the liabilities borrowings will fall. 
Investments at variable rates – the interest income in the Income and Expenditure Account will rise. 
 
Borrowings are not carried at fair value, so nominal gains and losses on fixed rate borrowings would not impact on the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement.  However, changes in interest payable and receivable on variable rate borrowings and investments will be posted to the Income and Expenditure 
Account and affect the General Fund Balance pound for pound.  Movements in the fair value of fixed rate investments will be reflected in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement. 
 
The authority has a number of strategies for managing interest rate risk.  Prudential Indicators, as set out in the Treasury Management Strategy, are used to 
manage interest rate risk by limiting the value of variable interest rate exposure to £89.1m in 2018/19. In addition, further Prudential Indicators limit the amount 
of borrowing that matures, and may need to be refinanced, in the next 10 years. In practical terms, the extensive use by local authorities of PWLB fixed rate 
borrowing limits the impact of interest rate fluctuations on the General Fund balance.  
 
The treasury management team has an active strategy for assessing interest rate exposure that feeds into the setting of the annual budget and which is used to 
update the budget quarterly during the year.  This allows any adverse changes to be accommodated.  The analysis will also advise whether new borrowing 
taken out is fixed or variable. 
 
According to this strategy, at 31st March 2019, a 1% variation in interest rates would not have a material impact on variable rate borrowings, investments or 
government grant receivable for financing costs. 
 
However, a 1% increase in interest rates would result in a decrease in the fair value of fixed rate borrowing liabilities of £63.6m. This movement would be equal 
and opposite for a 1% fall in interest rates.  
 
 
 
 

P
age 143



98 

Price Risk 

The Council’s investment in pooled property funds is subject to the risk of falling commercial property prices. This risk is limited by the Council’s maximum 
exposure to property investments of £16.6m. A 5% fall in commercial property prices at 31st March 2019 would result in a £638k (2018 £572k)  charge to Other 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure which is then transferred to the Financial Instrument Revaluation Reserve. 
 
The Council’s investment in pooled equity funds is subject to the risk of falling share prices. This risk is limited by the Council’s maximum exposure to equity 
investments of £13.56m A 5% fall in equity prices at 31st March 2019 would result in a £374k (2018 not applicable) charge to Other Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure which is then transferred to the Financial Instrument Revaluation Reserve 
 
In addition, the Council has shareholdings to the value of £111m in a number of joint ventures and in local industry. The authority is consequently exposed to 
losses arising from movements in the value of shares. 
 
As the shareholdings have arisen in the acquisition of specific interests, the authority is not in a position to limit its exposure to value movements by diversifying 
its portfolio. Instead it only acquires shareholdings in return for 'open book' arrangements with the company concerned so that the authority can monitor factors 
that might cause a fall in the value of specific shareholdings. 
 
All movements in the value of shares will impact on gains and losses recognised in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.  A general shift of 
5% in the general value of shares (positive or negative) would thus have resulted in a gain or loss being recognised in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement for 2018/19. 
 

Foreign Exchange Risk 

During the year, the authority purchased £17.285m of euros at an exchange rate of 1.1657 euros to the pound. The purchase was made to enable certainty of 
project costs when paying suppliers in euros for UK Battery Industrialisation Centre (UKBIC) equipment. The full cost of the purchase of euros is being 
reimbursed by Innovate UK who are the funders for the UKBIC project. As at 31st March 2019 the authority had €18.871m of unspent euros. 
 
Due to the guarantee of funding from Innovate UK the authority has no exposure to loss arising from movements in exchange rates. 
 
Transition to IFRS9 Financial Instruments 
 
The Council has adopted the IFRS9 Financial Instruments accounting standard with effect from 1st April 2018. The main changes include the reclassification 
and remeasurement of financial assets and the earlier recognition to the impairment of financial assets. 
  

P
age 144



99 

The Council has made use of transitional provisions in IFRS9 to not restate the prior year’s financial statements, and the effect of the remeasurement is instead 
shown as an additional line in the movement in Reserves Statement. The changes on transition to the balance sheet are summarised below: 

P
age 145



100 

3.35 Associated Company Interests & Holdings 
 
The City Council maintains investments and/or interests in a number of companies. The following summarises the latest information and where applicable the 
latest audited accounts. Companies in which the City Council maintain investments as shown in note 3.21. 
 

 

P
age 146



101 

 
 

 
 

P
age 147



102 

 

 
 

 
 
 
Where not specifically stated above, copies of company accounts can be obtained directly from Companies House.  
 
 
   

P
age 148



103 

3.36 Events after the Balance Sheet Date 
 
The Statement of Accounts was authorised for 
issue by the Director of Finance and Corporate 
Services on 24th May 2019. There have been no 
events after 31st March 2019 requiring the financial  

statements and notes to be adjusted or which 
provide information that is relevant to the 
understanding of the Authority's financial position 
but do not relate to conditions at that date. 

 
 
 
 

 

3.37 Contingent Liabilities and Assets 

Contingent Liabilities 

 
University Hospital Mandatory Business Rates 
Relief 
 
The Council received a letter in February 2016 
sent on behalf of University Hospitals Coventry 
and Warwickshire NHS Trust requesting 
mandatory Business Rates relief for University 
Hospital. The appeal for relief replicates similar 
claims made to other local authorities across the 
country. If the relief were to be granted this would 
represent an on-going impact on Business Rates 
revenue in excess of £2m with potential for a back-
dated element of c£23m. This would affect the 
Council and might also impact the West Midlands 
Combined Authority although the precise split of 
potential financial liability would depend on the 
future structure of the local government finance 
system and the existing 100% Business Rates 
Pilot.  
 
At a national level, the total level of claims are 
thought to be sufficient to represent a significant 
impact on the wider funding model for local 
government, especially if there was a risk that 
claims could be extended to other similar or 
related properties.  
 

The Council has taken legal advice, organised 
through the Local Government Association and 
following this has responded to the claim, stating 
that it does not regard there to be an entitlement to 
relief. Given the current nature of the proceedings 
the Council believes that there are strong grounds 
for rejecting the claim and it has not been reflected 
as a provision in these accounts. However, 
because it remains possible that the claim is 
upheld and because the potential costs are so 
large, it is appropriate to record the matter as a 
contingent liability. 
 
Connecting Communities Grant Claw-Back 
 
The Council has previously invested capital 
resources into a number of children's centres in 
the city funded by Government grants including 
Surestart Grant. Some of these buildings are 
amongst those affected by the Council’s 
Connecting Communities Programme. Should the 
buildings no longer be used for the purposes set 
out within the grant conditions they could face a 
potential claw-back of grant as a result. In order to 
mitigate against this risk, the Council is 
endeavouring to ensure that the buildings will 
continue to be used for similar activities such that 
it is able to avoid the need for any grant claw-back. 
The level of Capital spend involved is in the region 
of £2.1m. 
 

Friargate Bridgedeck Claw-Back 
 
As a result of a European Court of Auditors (ECA) 
audit on European Regional Development Fund 
(ERDF) spend on Friargate Bridge-deck the 
Council could face potential claw-back of ERDF 
grant. The key risk lies with the ECA’s challenge 
over the validity of the procurement process, 
although having accessed a Highways England 
procurement framework, a widely used national 
procurement route, the Council maintains that it 
has observed the correct process in this regard. 
The Council continues to receive support for its 
case from the Ministry of Housing, Communities 
and Local Government.  
 
Following the audit the Council has submitted 
supporting paperwork justifying its position and the 
matter is subject to an ongoing dialogue. The 
Council’s continued stance is that the claw-back 
argument is also based on a flawed understanding 
of the procurement process, form of contract and 
the contract management process in relation to 
grant funding claimed on the project. No current 
liability has been demonstrated and there is no 
indication of the size of any potential claw-back. 
However, given that the overall value of ERDF 
Bridgedeck expenditure amounts to £3.5m it is 
appropriate to record this as a contingent liability. 
 

P
age 149



104 

3.38 Collection Fund Statement and Notes 
 
This account shows how much Council Tax and 
National Non-Domestic Rates (Business Rates) 
are collected within the City. It shows how much 
has been transferred to the Income and 
Expenditure Account to pay for Council Services 

and how much has been paid to central 
government, the Police (West Midlands Police and 
Crime Commissioner) and Fire (West Midlands 
Fire and Rescue Authority). The difference 
between these two amounts is then a surplus or a  

deficit which is shared between the Council, 
central government, and the Police and Fire 
organisations.  

 

P
age 150



105 

 
Income and Expenditure Account 

The Collection Fund is a statutory account, which 
receives income from the Council Tax and 
Business Rates from which payments are made to 
the City Council's General Fund, the Police and 
Crime Commissioner for the West Midlands, the 
West Midlands Fire Authority and Central 
Government.  These payments represent, for 
Council Tax, the amounts requested by each 
organisation at the beginning of the year to fund 
their net budgets and, for Business Rates, the 

amounts determined by the nationally set multiplier 
and the local Business Rates tax base and split by 
pre-determined percentages.  
 
Income from Business Rates 

The City Council collects rates from local 
businesses on behalf of Central Government. The 
Government determines the level of rates payable, 
which was 49.3p per £ of rateable value (47.9p in 
2017/18). The Valuation Office Agency sets the 
rateable value of each property and the total was 

£318,565,753 at 31st March 2019 (£312,922,430 
at 31st March 2018). The Government uses the 
total collected for the whole country to finance part 
of its contribution to the cost of local government.  
In addition to a bad debt provision, to meet the 
anticipated impact of debts being written off, there 
is also a provision for the estimated future liability 
amendments due to appeals. Details of the 
movement in these provisions are provided within 
the tables later in this section. 

 
 
Calculation of the Council Tax Base 

The level of Council Tax is set at the beginning of 
the year and is calculated so as to ensure that the 
Collection Fund can meet its obligations. Council 
Tax paid by taxpayers is based on the valuation of 
their property.  Each property is placed into one of 
eight valuation bands (A to H). 

 
 
The total income required by the Collection Fund 
is divided by the "Council Tax Base". The Council 
Tax Base represents the number of equivalent 
band D properties in the City (i.e. properties in a 
higher valuation band are treated as more than 
one band D property, properties in a lower  

 
 
valuation band are treated as a fraction of a band 
D property), multiplied by the estimated eventual 
collection rate of 98.3%. The total number of 
dwellings on the valuation list is 141,077 of which 
7,458 are exempt. Details of the Tax Base 
calculation are shown in the table below: 

 

 

P
age 151



106 

Provisions and Write Offs 

 
 
* The provision figures provided in section 3.25 include 99% of the Appeals Provision figures shown in the table above. This is the City Council's share of the 
Business Rates balances. 
 
Gross Debtors 

 
 
Precepts and Demands on the Collection Fund 

The amounts accrued into the precepting organisations' own accounts are detailed below: 
 

 
 

 

P
age 152



107 

4 Additional Financial Statements - Group Accounts 
 

4.1 Overview of Group Accounts 
 
The Group Accounts have been prepared in 
accordance with IFRS and where material, the 
accounts of other group entities have been 
adjusted to align their accounting policies with that 
of the Local Authority parent. Sections 4.2 to 4.5 
present the Group Accounts core financial 
statements. The purpose of these statements is 
described in section 2.1, together with details of 
changes in the presentation of the Movement in 
Reserves Statement. 
 
Note 3.35 to Coventry City Council's balance sheet 
shows details of the various companies in which it 
has an interest.  Coombe Abbey Park Ltd (CAPL), 
North Coventry Holding (NCH) and Coventry North 
Regeneration (CNR) are included as subsidiaries 
within the Group, and Coventry & Solihull Waste 
Disposal Company (CSWDC) and Friargate JV 
Project Ltd are included as joint ventures. 

 
Birmingham Airport Holdings and University of 
Warwick Science Park Business Innovation Centre 
have not been included within the Group as it was 
deemed under IAS 28 that the Council did not 
have the power to exercise significant influence 
over the business and financial affairs of these 
companies. Culture Coventry Limited, Coventry & 
Warwickshire Local Enterprise Partnership Limited 
and UK Battery Industrialisation Centre UK Ltd 
have not been included as it was considered by 
doing so it would not have had a material effect on 
the Group Accounts. 
 
IFRS require that the financial statements of the 
reporting authority (Coventry City Council) and its 
subsidiaries, associates and jointly controlled 
entities shall be prepared as of the same date. 
Where this does not happen, for consolidation 

purposes, additional financial statements, as of the 
same date as the reporting authority shall be 
prepared unless it is impracticable to do so. For 
consolidation purposes draft accounts as at 31st 
March 2019 for NCH, CNR and CSWDC have 
been used. For CAPL draft accounts as at 31st 
December 2018 and management accounts for 
January to March 2019 have been used. Friargate 
JV Project Ltd was only incorporated on 17th 
December 2018 so management accounts up to 
31st March 2019 have been used. 
 
Subsidiaries have been consolidated into the 
Group Accounts on a line by line basis 
incorporating their income and expenditure fully in 
the relevant service revenue accounts. Joint 
ventures have been consolidated into the group 
accounts under the equity method. 

 

P
age 153



108 

4.2 Group Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Account 
 

 
 
 

  

P
age 154



109 

4.3 Group Movement in Reserves Statement 
 
Group Useable Reserves and Overall Position 
 

 
 
 
Group Unusable Reserves  

P
age 155



110 

Group Usable Reserves and Overall Position Comparatives 

 
 
Group Unusable Reserves Comparatives 
 

  

P
age 156



111 

4.4 Group Balance Sheet 
 
The Group Balance Sheet shows the value as at the Balance Sheet date of the assets and liabilities recognised by the authority. The net assets of the authority 
(assets less liabilities) are matched by the reserves held by the authority. 

 

P
age 157



112 

4.5 Group Cash Flow Statement 
 
The Group Cash Flow Statement shows the changes in cash and cash equivalents of the authority during the reporting period. The statement shows how the 
authority generates and uses cash and cash equivalents by classifying cash flows as operating, investing and financing activities. 
 

 
 
Note 3.27 presents an analysis of the amounts relevant to the Single Entity accounts for: non-cash movements; items included in the provision of services that 
are investing and financing activities; investing activities; and financing activities. The following table provides a reconciliation of the adjustments between the 
Single Entity and the Group accounts for these amounts. 
 

 

P
age 158



113 

4.6 Reconciliation of Single Entity to Group Accounts 
 
Income and Expenditure Surplus/Deficit Adjustments 

 

 

Balance Sheet Adjustments 

 
 
Explanations of these balance sheet adjustments are provided in section 4.9. 
 
 

P
age 159



114 

4.7 Group Tax Expense 
 
The group tax expense (income) related to profit and loss from ordinary activities is presented in the statement of comprehensive income, the table below 
details the breakdown of this amount. 
 

 
 
 

4.8 Group Companies Disclosure 
 
Coventry & Solihull Waste Disposal Company (CSWDC) 

CSWDC is operated as a Joint Venture Company by its major shareholders, Coventry City Council (CCC) and Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council (SMBC) . 
The shareholding is held in a ratio of 66 Coventry shares and 33 Solihull shares. 
 
CCC hold ‘A’ class shares and SMBC hold ‘B’ class shares. 
 
With the agreement of CCC and SMBC, CSWDC raised a new class of share (Class C). One class C share has been issued to each of Warwickshire County 
Council and Leicestershire County Council at nil value. This Class C share confers no dividend rights, no rights to appoint its own director to the shareholder 
panel and only limited voting rights at the shareholders panel on matters relating to the control of the Company.  
CCC and SMBC will continue to hold the only primary (ordinary) shares in CSWDC and receive a dividend in accordance with this shareholding.  
 
As at 31st March 2019 the Company had Capital Commitments of £703,000. 
 
Despite the issue of the C Class share and changes to the Shareholders Agreement the fundamental status of CSWDC has not changed. CCC & SMBC will 
continue to work together to arrive at mutually agreed decisions which are voted on accordingly at the Shareholder Panel. As a result of this, the existing 

P
age 160



115 

treatment of CSWDC in the group accounts of both Coventry and Solihull, is for the Company to be treated as a Joint Venture. This position implies that no 
shareholder has ultimate control.  
 
North Coventry Holdings Limited (NCH) 

The Council holds 100% of the shares (value £2.7m) in North Coventry Holdings Ltd and has 100% of the voting rights. NCH is included within the Council's 
group accounts as a subsidiary. The Council is fully responsible for meeting any accumulated deficits or losses of NCH. 
NCH's main activity is to hold 100% shares in Coventry North Regeneration (CNR)  
 
Coventry North Regeneration Limited (CNR) 

NCH holds 100% of the shares (value £nil) in Coventry North Regeneration Limited (CNR) and has 100% of the voting rights. CNR is included within the 
Council's group accounts as a subsidiary. The Council is fully responsible for meeting any accumulated deficits or losses of the company. 
 
Coombe Abbey Park Limited (CAPL) 

Coventry City Council holds 100% of the shares (value £11.4m) in CAPL. CAPL is included within the Council's group accounts as a subsidiary. The Council is 
fully responsible for meeting any accumulated deficits or losses of the company. 
 
Friargate JV Project Ltd (FJVP) 
 
FJVP was incorporated on 17th December 2018. This is a 50/50 joint venture with Friargate Holdings 2 Limited, established to develop new buildings within the 
Friargate district of the city. Each of, Coventry City Council and Friargate Holdings 2 Ltd have been issued 1 Ordinary Share for a value of £10m each. The 
Council has appointed three of its officers as directors of the board. 
 
Related Party Transactions 

Details of related party transactions are provided in section 3.10. 
 
  

4.9 Notes to the Group Balance Sheet  
 
Where there is no material difference between the Single Entity Accounts and the Group Accounts, no new additional notes have been provided therefore, 
reference should be made to section 3 'Notes to the Main Financial Statements' for information. 
 
The group balance sheet excludes the long term investments of £57,000k in CSWDC, £2,703k in NCH, £11,359k in CAPL and £10,495 in FJVP as included in 
the single entity accounts. 
 
Capital Adjustment Account - Reflects £33.189m original grant investment in North Coventry Holdings Ltd and Coventry North Regeneration Ltd.  
 

P
age 161



116 

 
 
 
Unusable Reserves  
 
CSWDC – The Council’s investment of £51,667k in CSWDC has been excluded from the group Available for Sale Reserve. 
 
NCH – The Council’s investment of £2,703k in NCH has been excluded from the group Available for Sale Reserve. 
 
CAPL – The Council’s initial investment in CAPL of £2,859k has been removed from the group Available for Sale Reserve. The recent purchase of the 
remaining interest in CAPL of £9,147k has been excluded from the group Capital Adjustment Account. 
 
FJVP – The Council’s investment of £10,495k in FJVP has been excluded from the group Available for Sale Reserve. 
 

 
 
Additional information relating to subsidiaries and joint ventures, including net assets and results, and where accounts of the companies may be acquired are 
included in note 3.35 to the single entity accounts.

P
age 162



117 

5  Statement of Accounting Policies 
 

5.1 General  
 
The Statement of Accounts summarises the 
Council's transactions for the 2018/19 financial 
year and its position at the year-end of 31st 

March 2019. It has been prepared in 
accordance with the Code of Practice on Local 
Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 
2018/19 – Based on International Financial 

Reporting Standards (IFRS). The accounting 
convention adopted is historical cost, modified 
by the revaluation of certain categories of 
tangible fixed assets.  

 

5.2 Significant Assumptions made in estimating Assets and Liabilities 

The Authority's Balance Sheet contains some 
estimated figures that are based on 
assumptions. Some of these assumptions have 
a significant risk of resulting in material 
adjustments within the next financial year. The 
items in the Authority's Balance Sheet for which 
there is a significant risk are: 
 
Pensions Liability - This liability remains at 
£542m at the end of the 2018/19 financial year. 
Estimation of the net pension liability to pay 
pensions depends on a number of complex 

judgements relating to the discount rate used, 
the rate at which salaries are projected to 
increase, changes in retirement ages, mortality 
rates and expected returns on pension fund 
assets. New information can lead to changes to 
these judgments, which could lead to material 
adjustments. During 2018/19 the updating of 
data and assumptions by the Council's 
actuaries has led to a net nil change. 
 
Asset Valuations – Valuations are undertaken 
on the basis of a five year rolling programme 

with investment properties being revalued on a 
more regular basis. This is supplemented by 
annual reviews to reflect significant changes in 
market values. The valuations are heavily 
assumption sensitive and are influenced by 
economic and financial circumstances which 
can change significantly from year to year. An 
increase of 1% in the average valuation of 
assets would have the effect of increasing the 
carrying value of these assets by approximately 
£10m with a corresponding increase in the level 
of unusable reserves.

 

5.3 Critical Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies 
 
In applying the Authority's accounting policies, 
management has had to make some 
judgements other than those involving 
estimations. The judgements made in this 
Statement of Accounts that have the most 
significant effect on the amounts recognised in 
the financial statements are as follows: 
 
Treatment of Schools in the Council's 
Accounts 

The material assets and revenue transactions 
of community, foundation and voluntary 

controlled schools are reflected in these 
accounts. The revenue transactions of 
voluntary aided schools have also been 
included; however the land and buildings used 
by these schools are not included on the 
balance sheet. This treatment is based on the 
fact that these land and buildings are not under 
the Council's ownership, the Council has no 
legal agreement with the relevant Dioceses in 
respect of them, and there are no obligations 
to/from the Dioceses in respect of them. The 
Dioceses also have the right to terminate the 
Council’s occupation of the relevant land and 

buildings. Neither the revenue transactions nor 
the assets of academy schools are reflected 
within the accounts. 
 
 
 
The Better Care Fund 

Coventry City Council and Coventry and Rugby 
Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) drew up 
an agreement to operate a Better Care Fund 
(BCF) pooled budget from 1st April 2015, with 
the purpose of further integrating the health and 

P
age 163



118 

social care services within Coventry. Note 3.11 
details the respective contributions to the 
pooled budget during 2018/19 and the 
respective expenditure made by the two partner 
organisations. The BCF agreement included 
details of the working relationships that were 
envisaged at the time, including management 
and control of expenditure decisions. However, 
the details of the expenditure identified in note 

3.11 have been determined by applying 
principles of ‘substance over form’ in which the 
level of expenditure allocated to each partner 
reflects the actual degree of control and 
influence over that spend during the year (the 
'substance') rather than allocating it on the 
basis of the control and influence outlined in the 
BCF agreement (the 'form'). 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

5.4 Accounting standards issued, but not yet adopted  
 
The Council is required to disclose information relating to the impact of any accounting changes that will be required by new standards that have been issued 
but not yet adopted in the CIPFA Code of Practice. The accounting standards that are to be introduced in the 2019/20 Code include: 
 

• Amendments to IAS 40 Investment Property: Transfers of Investment Property 

• IFRIC 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration 

• IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments 

• Amendments to IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation 
 

These changes are not expected to have a material impact on the Council’s single entity statements or group statements. 

5.5 Changes in Accounting Policies 
 
IFRS9 Financial Instruments has been adopted with effect from 1st April 2018. The standard impacts on the classification, remeasurement and impairment of 
financial instruments, and the consequent accounting treatment. Further details are set out in sections 3.34 Financial Instruments, 3.22 Long Term Debtors and 
3.21 Long Term Investments, as well as below within the accounting policies. The Council has made use of the transitional provisions in IFRS9 not to restate 
prior year’s financial statements. However, the impact of the remeasurement of instruments as at 1st April 2018 is included in section 3.34. 
 
The Council has incorporated the requirements of IFRS 15 Recognition from Contracts with Customers within its accounting policy for accruals of income and 
expenditure below. Adopting this policy has not led to any changes in the timing of income recognition within the 2018/19 accounts. 
 
The Council has incorporated the requirements of IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts within its accounting policy for provisions below. ‘IFRS4 Insurance Contracts’ 
requires an insurer (in this case the Council) to assess at the end of each reporting period whether its recognised insurance liabilities are adequate under its 
insurance contracts. This has been applied specifically in relation to pension guarantees provided by the Council to a number of organisations that have been 
admitted to the West Midlands Pension Fund. The Council has considered the probability of the guarantees being called and is satisfied that they do not 
represent a significant potential liability for the Council in the form of a provision. Therefore there is no recognition in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement. 

P
age 164



119 

 

5.6 Accounting Policies – Categories 
 
Section 5.7 provides details of the accounting policies that the Council has applied in reporting its financial position in these accounts. The policies are 
separated into the following categories:  
 

 
  

Accruals of Income and Expenditure

Provisions

Reserves

Property, Plant & Equipment, Investment Property and Assets Held for Sale

Revenue Expenditure Funded from Capital Under Statute

Government Grants and Contributions

Value Added Tax (VAT)

Investments

Financial Instruments

Leases

Employee Benefits

Professional and Other Support Services

Private Finance Initiative

Group Accounts

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Contingent Liabilities

Contingent Assets

Tax Income

Joint Operations

Events after the Balance Sheet Date

Prior Period Adjustments, Changes in Accounting Policies & Estimates & Errors

P
age 165



120 

5.7 Accounting Policies  
 
Accruals of Income and Expenditure 

Activity is accounted for in the year that it takes place, not simply when cash payments are made or received. In particular: 

• Fees, charges and rents due from customers are accounted for at the date the Council provides the relevant goods or satisfies the relevant service 
obligations. 

• Supplies are recorded as expenditure when they are consumed – where there is a gap between the date supplies are received and their consumption, 
they are carried as stocks on the balance sheet. 

• Works are charged as expenditure when they are completed, before which they are carried as assets under construction on the balance sheet. 

• Interest payable on borrowings and receivable on investments is accounted for on the basis of the effective interest rate for the relevant financial 
instrument rather than the cash flow fixed or determined by the contract. 

• Where income and expenditure has been recognised but cash has not been received or paid, a debtor or creditor for the relevant amount is recorded in 
the balance sheet.  Where it is doubtful that debts will be settled, the balance of debtors is written down and a charge made to revenue for the income 
that might not be collected. 

• Income relating to Council Tax and Business Rates is measured at the full amount receivable (net of any impairment losses) as they are non-
contractual, non-exchange transactions. 

The Council has a de-minimis threshold of £5,000 for revenue accruals of income and expenditure that are not system generated. This threshold is applied for 
10 working days following the end of the financial year, after which a draft outturn position is circulated to managers. To avoid small fluctuations in this outturn 
position the threshold is lifted to £50k (working days 11-20) and £500k thereafter. 
 
Provisions 

Provisions are made where an event has taken place that gives the Council an obligation that probably requires settlement by a transfer of economic benefits 
that can be reliably measured, but where the timing of the transfer is uncertain.  For instance, the Council may be involved in a court case that could eventually 
result in the making of a settlement or the payment of compensation. 
 
Provisions are charged as an expense to the appropriate service revenue account in the year that the authority becomes aware of the obligation, based on the 
best estimate of the likely settlement.  When payments are eventually made, they are charged to the provision set up in the balance sheet.  Estimated 
settlements are reviewed at the end of each financial year – where it becomes more likely than not that a transfer of economic benefits will not now be required 
(or a lower settlement than anticipated is made), the provision is reversed and credited back to the relevant service revenue account. 
 
Where some or all of the payment required to settle a provision is expected to be met by another party (e.g. from an insurance claim), this is only recognised as 
income in the relevant service revenue account if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received if the obligation is settled. 
 
An assessment is made as to whether the liabilities incurred through insurance contracts (including pension guarantees) are adequately recognised in the 
accounts. 
 
Reserves  

The Council sets aside specific amounts as reserves for future policy purposes or to cover contingencies.  Reserves are created by appropriating amounts out 
of the General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement.  When expenditure to be financed from a reserve is incurred, it is charged to the 

P
age 166



121 

appropriate service category within the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.  The reserve is then appropriated back into the General Fund 
Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement, so that there is no net charge against Council Tax for the expenditure. 

Certain reserves are kept to manage the accounting processes for non-current assets, financial instruments, retirement and employee benefits and do not 
represent usable resources for the Council. These reserves are explained in the relevant policies below. 
Property, Plant & Equipment, Investment Property and Assets Held for Sale 

 
Property, Plant & Equipment - Assets that have physical substance and are held for use in the provision of services or for administrative purposes on a 
continuing basis. 
 
Investment Property - Assets held solely to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation purposes. 
 
Assets Held for Sale - This is a classification for property assets that are being actively marketed for sale, likely to be completed within 12 months of 
classification. 
 
Recognition - Expenditure on the acquisition, creation or enhancement of Non-Current Assets is capitalised on an accruals basis, provided that it yields 
benefits to the Council and the services that it provides for more than one financial year. Expenditure that secures but does not extend the previously assessed 
standards of performance of an asset (e.g. repairs and maintenance) is charged to revenue as it is incurred. The de minimis policy for capital expenditure is 
£20,000 for construction/acquisitions and nil for enhancement expenditure and vehicles. 
 
Donated assets transferred to the Council are recognised immediately at fair value together with income in the Consolidated Income and Expenditure 
Statement, to the extent that any associated conditions of the transfer have been met. Where conditions have yet to be met the Donated Assets account is 
credited with deferred income, which is the transferred to the Consolidated Income and Expenditure Statement once the conditions have been satisfied. 
 
Measurement - Assets are initially measured at cost, comprising all expenditure that is directly attributable to bringing the asset into working condition for its 
intended use.  After recognition, assets are then carried in the balance sheet using the following measurement bases: 
 

 
 
Property valuations have been performed by RICS (Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors) qualified internal valuers in accordance with RICS valuation 
standards. The methods and significant assumptions applied in estimating the value of assets included in the balance sheet at fair value are: 

Asset Type Measurement Type

Other Land and Buildings Current Value (Existing Use)

Surplus Properties Fair Value

Vehicles, Plant & Equipment Depreciated Historical Cost

Infrastructure Depreciated Historical Cost

Community Assets Historical Cost

Heritage Assets Historical Cost/Valuation

Assets under Construction Historical Cost

Investment Property Fair Value

Assets Held for Sale Fair Value

P
age 167



122 

• The amount for which an asset could be exchanged, between knowledgeable, willing parties, in an arms’ length transaction (with reference to 
observable prices in an active market or recent market transactions on arms’ length terms); 

• Fair value equates to market value; 

• Land and Buildings other than surplus properties are valued using the Existing Use Value method; 

• Specialised assets with no market-based evidence of fair value were valued using the depreciated replacement cost (DRC) method; 

• For non-property assets that have short useful lives and/or low values, the depreciated historical cost has been used as a proxy for fair value; 

• Investment property assets are measured initially at cost, i.e. purchase price and transaction costs, and then subsequently at fair value at the end of the 
reporting period, assessing their value at highest and best use. This value is derived from the capitalisation of an income stream at a yield derived from 
market evidence. 

 
All fair value measurements are classified at level 2 in the Fair Value Hierarchy. 
 
PPE assets are subsequently valued at current value on the basis recommended by the Code of Practice on LA accounting and in accordance with RICS 
standards. 
 
Assets included in the balance sheet at fair value are revalued where there have been material changes in the value, but as a minimum every five years, except 
Assets Held for Sale which are valued annually and Investment Properties, of which the 50 with the highest values are valued annually and the remainder at 
least every 3 years. With the exception of Investment Property, where changes to fair value are taken to Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services, 
valuation increases to other fair value assets are recognised in the Revaluation Reserve except when the increase is reversing a previous decrease charged to 
Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services on the same asset. Similarly, for all fair value assets except Investment Property and Assets Held for Sale, 
revaluation decreases are recognised in the Revaluation Reserve up to the amount in the Revaluation Reserve for each respective asset and thereafter in 
Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services. For Investment Property and Assets Held for Sale, valuation decreases are recognised in Surplus or Deficit on 
the Provision of Services. 
 
The Revaluation Reserve contains revaluation gains recognised since 1 April 2007 only. Gains arising before that date have been consolidated into the Capital 
Adjustment Account.  
 
Componentisation - Property, Plant and Equipment assets (above a materiality threshold of £1.5m) are considered for componentisation when they are either 
acquired, enhanced or revalued. A component will only be considered and assessed separately if it has a different asset life from the rest of the asset, and if the 
current gross replacement cost of the component is greater than 25% of the current gross replacement cost of the asset. 
 
Heritage Assets - Assets held principally for their contribution to knowledge and culture, and recognised where information on the cost or value is available. 
Where the cost or value is not available, and the cost of obtaining the information outweighs the benefits to readers of the financial statements, the assets have 
not been recognised but addressed in a separate disclosure. Heritage assets that have been included in the financial statements at valuation are based on 
external or internal insurance valuations. 
 
Schools Assets - The following table details how the authority accounts for different types of non-current schools assets, determined on the basis of whether it 
holds or controls rights and obligations in relation to them. 
 

P
age 168



123 

 
 
* Voluntary Controlled and Foundation school fixed assets are recognised on the basis that overall control, and the associated economic benefits, can ultimately 
flow to the City Council. 
 
When a school that is held on the Council's Balance Sheet transfers to Academy status the Council accounts for this as a derecognition. The resultant loss is 
charged to Other Operating Expenditure in the Consolidated Income and Expenditure Statement. 
 
Impairment - Under the IFRS Code, all impairment losses are taken initially to the revaluation reserve to the extent that there is a balance on that reserve 
relating to the specific asset. Any further losses (or if there is no balance on the revaluation reserve) are taken to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement.  
 
Disposals - When an asset is disposed of or decommissioned, the value of the asset in the balance sheet is revalued to the sale value, so we no longer 
recognise the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services as part of the gain or loss on disposal.  
 
The balance of receipts is required to be credited to the Usable Capital Receipts Reserve, and can then only be used for new capital investment or set aside to 
reduce the Council's underlying need to borrow (the capital financing requirement). The written-off value of disposals is not a charge against Council Tax, as the 
cost of Non-Current Assets is fully provided for under separate arrangements for capital financing. 
 
Depreciation - Depreciation is provided for on all assets with a determinable finite life (except for land, community assets, heritage assets and non-operational 
properties), by allocating the value of the asset in the balance sheet over the periods expected to benefit from their use. Depreciation is calculated on the 
following basis: 
 

  
 
 
Intangible Assets 

School Type Recognised in the accounts

Community Yes

Voluntary Controlled Yes*

Voluntary Aided No

Foundation Yes*

Academy No

Asset Type Period of Years

Operational Buildings 50 years (less if there is evidence to the contrary)

Vehicles, Plant & Equipment Estimated Useful Life

Infrastructure 40 years

Land Depreciation not charged

Community Assets Depreciation not charged

Heritage Assets Depreciation not charged

Non-Operational Assets Depreciation not chargedP
age 169



124 

Are those assets that do not have a physical substance and are identifiable and controlled by the council e.g. software licenses. The balance is amortised fully 
in the year of investment. Unless identified otherwise, assets have been acquired separately and the asset lives are finite. It is not possible to quantify exactly 
how much of the amortisation is attributable to each service heading on the income statement. 
 
Revenue Expenditure Funded from Capital Under Statute 

Legislation allows for some expenditure, for example grants and expenditure on property not owned by the authority, to be classified as capital for funding 
purposes when it does not result in the expenditure being carried as an asset on the Balance Sheet. Expenditure that falls into this category has been charged 
to Cost of Services in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.  Where the council has determined to meet the cost of this expenditure from 
existing capital resources or by borrowing, a transfer to the Capital Adjustment Account then reverses out the amounts charged in the Adjustments between 
Accounting Basis and Funding Basis under Regulation so there is no impact on the level of Council Tax. 
 
Government Grants and Contributions 

Government grants and contributions are recognised in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement when there is reasonable assurance that the 
payment will be received and conditions will be satisfied. Conditions are stipulations that specify that the future economic benefits or service potential embodied 
in the asset acquired using the grant or contribution are required to be consumed by the recipient as specified, or future economic benefits or service potential 
must be returned. 
 
Monies advanced as grants and contributions for which conditions have not been satisfied are carried in the balance sheet as a liability, either within creditors or 
within the Capital Grants Receipts in Advance (for Capital grants).  
 
When conditions are satisfied (or none exist) the grant or contribution is credited to the relevant service line (for attributable revenue grants and contributions) or 
to 'Taxation and non-Specific Grant Income' (for non-ringfenced grants and all capital grants) in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 
 
Capital grant (without conditions) that is yet to be used to finance capital expenditure is posted to the Capital Grants Unapplied Reserve. When capital grant is 
applied to finance capital expenditure it is posted to the Capital Adjustment Account. 
 
 
Value Added Tax (VAT) 

VAT payable is included as an expense within the accounts only to the extent that elements are irrecoverable from Her Majesty's Revenue and Customs and 
therefore charged to service expenditure. VAT receivable is excluded from income. 
 
Investments 

The Council has material interests in companies and other entities that have the nature of subsidiaries and joint ventures and require it to prepare group 
accounts.  In the Council's own single entity accounts, the interests in companies and other entities are classified as Long Term Investments (available for sale 
assets) and valued at fair value. 
 
 
Financial Instruments 

Financial Liabilities 

P
age 170



125 

Financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value and carried at their amortised cost.  Annual charges to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement for interest payable are based on the carrying amount of the liability, multiplied by the effective rate of interest for the instrument. The effective 
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments over the life of the instrument to the amount at which it was originally recognised. 
For most of the borrowings that the Council has, this means that the amount presented in the Balance Sheet is the outstanding principal repayable and interest 
charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement is the amount payable for the year in the loan agreement. 
 
Gains and losses on the repurchase or early settlement of borrowing are credited and debited to Net Operating Expenditure in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement in the year of repurchase/settlement.  However, where repurchase has taken place as part of a restructuring of the loan portfolio that 
involves the modification or exchange of existing instruments, the premium or discount is respectively deducted from or added to the amortised cost of the new 
or modified loan and the write-down to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement is spread over the life of the loan by an adjustment to the 
effective interest rate. 
 
Where premiums and discounts have been charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, regulations allow the impact on the General 
Fund Balance to be spread over future years.  The Council has a policy of spreading the gain/loss over the term that was remaining on the loan against which 
the premium was payable or discount receivable when it was repaid, subject to a 10 year limit set in the case of a discount, as required by capital finance 
regulations.  The reconciliation of amounts charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement to the net charge required against the General 
Fund Balance is managed by a transfer to or from the Financial Instruments Adjustment Account in the Statement of Adjustments between Accounting Basis 
and Funding Basis under Regulation. 
 
Borrowing costs, in the form of interest expenses, are capitalised where the asset in question is a qualifying asset and takes a substantial period of time to bring 
into operation.  Borrowing costs will only be capitalised on schemes for which expenditure is incurred over a period of more than 12 months, until the asset is 
operationally complete, and where a material level of capital expenditure is resourced by borrowing. 
 
Financial Assets 
Financial assets are classified based on a classification and measurement approach that reflects the business model for holding the financial assets and their 
cashflow characteristics. There are three main classes of financial assets measured at: 
 

• amortised cost, where cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest and the Council’s business model is to collect those cash flows; 

• fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI), where cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest and the Council’s business 
model is to both collect those cash flows and sell the instrument; and equity investments that the Council has elected into this category; 

• fair value through profit or loss (FVPL), all other financial assets. 
 
The authority’s business model is to hold investments to collect contractual cash flows. Financial assets are therefore classified as amortised cost, except for 
those whose contractual payments are not solely payment of principal and interest (ie where the cash flows do not take the form of a basic debt instrument). 
 
Financial Assets Measured at Amortised Cost 
Financial assets measured at amortised cost are recognised on the Balance Sheet when the authority becomes a party to the contractual provisions of a 
financial instrument and are initially measured at fair value. They are subsequently measured at their amortised cost. Annual credits to the Financing and 
Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (CIES) for interest receivable are based on the carrying 
amount of the asset multiplied by the effective rate of interest for the instrument. For most of the financial assets held by the authority, this means that the 

P
age 171



126 

amount presented in the Balance Sheet is the outstanding principal receivable (plus accrued interest) and interest credited to the CIES is the amount receivable 
for the year in the loan agreement.  
 
Where loans to organisations are made at less than market rates these are classified as soft loans, in which case a loss is recorded in the CIES (debited to the 
appropriate service) for the present value of the interest that will be foregone over the life of the instrument, resulting in a lower amortised cost than the 
outstanding principal. Interest is credited to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the CIES at a marginally higher effective rate of 
interest than the rate receivable from the voluntary organisations, with the difference serving to increase the amortised cost of the loan in the Balance Sheet. 
Statutory provisions require that the impact of soft loans on the General Fund Balance is the interest receivable for the financial year – the reconciliation of 
amounts debited and credited to the CIES to the net gain required against the General Fund Balance is managed by a transfer to or from the Financial 
Instruments Adjustment Account in the Movement in Reserves Statement.  
Any gains and losses that arise on the derecognition of an asset are credited or debited to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the 
CIES. 
 
Expected Credit Loss Model  
The authority recognises expected credit losses on all of its financial assets held at amortised cost, either on a 12-month or lifetime basis. The expected credit 
loss model also applies to lease receivables and contract assets. Only lifetime losses are recognised for trade receivables (debtors) held by the authority. 
 
Impairment losses are calculated to reflect the expectation that the future cash flows might not take place because the borrower could default on their 
obligations. Credit risk plays a crucial part in assessing losses. Where risk has increased significantly since an instrument was initially recognised, losses are 
assessed on a lifetime basis. Where risk has not increased significantly or remains low, losses are assessed on the basis of 12-month expected losses. Where 
reasonable and supportable information that is not available without undue cost or effort to support the measurement of lifetime expected losses on an 
individual instrument basis, losses are assessed on a collective basis. 
 
Financial Assets Measured at Fair Value 
Financial assets that are measured at Fair Value through Profit of Loss (FVPL) are recognised on the Balance Sheet when the authority becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of a financial instrument and are initially measured and carried at fair value.  
 
Where equity instruments are expected to be held for the long-term, the Council may make an irrevocable election upon initial recognition to present changes in 
their fair value in Other Comprehensive Income. The Council elected to present changes in the fair value of the following equity investments in other 
comprehensive income as permitted by IFRS9: 

• Birmingham Airport Holdings Ltd 

• Coventry Solihull Waste Disposal Co (CSWDC) 

• Coombe Abbey Park Ltd 

• North Coventry Holdings Ltd 

• Coventry North Regeneration Ltd 

• University of Warwick Science Park Business Innovation Centre Ltd 

• UK Battery Industrialisation Centre Ltd 

• Friargate JV Project Limited 

• Threadneedle Strategic Bond Fund 

• Investec Diversified Income Fund 

• M&G Optimal Income Sterling 

P
age 172



127 

• M&G Strategic Corporate Bond Fund Sterling 

• M&G UK Income Distribution Fund Sterling 

• Schroder Income Maximiser 

Fair value gains and losses on such instruments are held in the Financial Instruments Revaluation Reserve and transferred to the General Fund when the 
instrument is derecognised though sale or write off. Dividend income from these instruments is recognised in the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services 
when the Council’s right to receive payment is established and its value can be measured reliably. Fair value gains and losses are recognised as they arrive in 
the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services.  
 
The fair value measurements of the financial assets are based on the following principles: 

• Instruments with quoted market prices – the market price: 

• Other instruments with fixed and determinable payments – discounted cash flow analysis: 

• Equity shares with no quoted market prices – based on multiple earnings & net asset valuation techniques and historic costs where appropriate. 
 
Where assets are identified as impaired because of a likelihood arising from a past event that payments due under the contract will not be made, the asset is 
written down and a charge made to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 
 
Any gains and losses that arise on the derecognition of the asset are credited/debited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, along with any 
accumulated gains/losses. 
 
Where fair value cannot be measured reliably, the instrument is carried at cost (less any impairment losses). 
 
Financial instruments are categorised by their level in the fair value hierarchy. 
 
Leases 

Leases are classified as finance leases where the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the Property, 
Plant or Equipment from the lessor to the lessee.  All other leases are classified as operating leases. 
 
Where a lease covers both land and buildings, the land and buildings elements are considered separately for classification. 
 
Arrangements that do not have the legal status of a lease but convey a right to use an asset in return for payment are accounted for under this policy where 
fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of specific assets. 
 
The Authority as Lessee - Finance Leases - Property, Plant and Equipment held under finance leases is recognised on the Balance Sheet at the 
commencement of the lease at its fair value measured at the lease's inception (or the present value of the minimum lease payments, if lower). The asset 
recognised is matched by a liability for the obligation to pay the lessor. Initial direct costs of the Authority are added to the carrying amount of the asset. 
Premiums paid on entry into a lease are applied to writing down the lease liability. Contingent rents are charged as expenses in the periods in which they are 
incurred. 

 
 

P
age 173



128 

Lease payments are apportioned between: 

• a charge for the acquisition of the interest in the property, plant or equipment - applied to write down the lease liability, and 

• a finance charge (debited to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement). 
 
Property, Plant and Equipment recognised under finance leases is accounted for using the policies applied generally to such assets, subject to depreciation 
being charged over the lease term if this is shorter than the asset's estimated useful life (where ownership of the asset does not transfer to the authority at the 
end of the lease period). 
 
The Authority is not required to raise Council Tax to cover depreciation or revaluation and impairment losses arising on leased assets. Instead, a prudent annual 
contribution is made from the revenue funds towards the deemed capital investment in accordance with statutory requirements. Depreciation, revaluation and 
impairment losses are therefore substituted by a revenue contribution in the General Fund Balance, by the way of an adjusting transaction with the Capital 
Adjustment Account in the Movement in Reserves Statement for the difference between the two. 
 
The Authority as Lessee – Operating Leases - Rentals paid under operating leases are charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 
as an expense of the services benefitting from use of the leased Property, Plant or Equipment. Charges are made on a straight-line basis over the life of the 
lease, even if this does not match the pattern of payments (e.g. there is a rent-free period at the commencement of the lease). 
 
The Authority as Lessor - Finance Leases - Where the Authority grants a finance lease over a property or an item of plant or equipment, the relevant asset is 
written out of the Balance Sheet as a disposal. At the commencement of the lease, the carrying amount of the asset in the Balance Sheet (whether Property, 
Plant and Equipment or Assets Held for Sale) is written off to the Other Operating Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 
also as part of the gain or loss on disposal (i.e. netted off against the carrying value of the asset at the time of disposal) matched by lease (long-term debtor) 
asset in the Balance Sheet. 
 
Lease rentals receivable are apportioned between: 

• a charge for the acquisition of the interest in the property - applied to write down the lease debtor (together with any premiums received), and 

• finance income (credited to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement) 
 
The gain credited to the Comprehensive Income & Expenditure Statement on disposal is not permitted by statute to increase the General Fund Balance and is 
required to be treated as a capital receipt, subject to the requirements of the capital finance regulations. Where a premium has been received, this is posted out 
of the General Fund Balance to the Capital Receipts Reserve in the Movement in Reserves Statement. Where the amount due in relation to the lease asset is to 
be settled by payment of rentals in future financial years, this is posted out of the General Fund Balance to the Deferred Capital Receipts Reserve in the 
Movement in Reserves Statement. When the future rentals are received, the element for the capital receipt for the disposal of the asset is used to write down 
the lease debtor. At this point, the deferred capital receipts are transferred to the Capital Receipts Reserve. 
 
The written-off value of disposals is not a charge against Council Tax, as the cost of fixed assets is fully provided for under separate arrangements for capital 
financing. Amounts are therefore appropriated to the Capital Adjustment Account from the General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement. 
 
The Authority as Lessor - Operating Leases - Where the Authority grants an operating lease over a property or an item of plant or equipment, the asset is 
retained in the Balance Sheet. Rental income is credited to the Other Operating Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 
Credits are made on a straight-line basis over the life of the lease, even if this does not match the pattern of payments (e.g. there is a premium paid at the 
commencement of the lease). Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging the lease are added to the carrying amount of the relevant asset and 
charged as an expense over the lease term on the same basis as rental income.  

P
age 174



129 

Employee Benefits - Payable during Employment   

Short-term employee benefits are those due to be settled within 12 months of the year-end. They include such benefits as salaries and paid annual leave and 
are recognised as an expense for services in the year in which employees render the service to the Authority. An accrual is made for the cost of holiday or leave 
entitlements earned by employees but not taken before the year-end which employees can carry forward into the next financial year. The accrual is charged to 
the relevant service line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, but then reversed out through the Movement in Reserves Statement, so that 
holiday benefits are charged to revenue in the financial year in which the holiday absence occurs.  

 
Employee Benefits - Post-Employment Benefits – Pensions 

 
Teaching Staff - Teachers may be members of the Teachers Pension Scheme, which is administered by the Department of Education.  It is a defined benefit 
scheme.  However, as the authority's share of the underlying assets and liabilities cannot be identified, it is treated as a defined contribution scheme.  The 
pension costs charged to the accounts are the employer’s contributions payable to the Teachers’ Pension Scheme. 
 
Former NHS Staff - Staff who transferred to the City Council on 1st April 2013 may be members of the NHS Pension Scheme, which is administered by the 
NHS Business Services Authority.  It is a defined benefit scheme.  However, as the authority's share of the underlying assets and liabilities cannot be identified, 
it is treated as a defined contribution scheme.  The pension costs charged to the accounts are the employer’s contributions payable to the NHS Pension 
Scheme.  
 
Other Staff - Non-teaching staff may be members of the defined benefit Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS).  Coventry contributes to the West 
Midlands Pension Fund, which is administered by Wolverhampton City Council.  
 
Liabilities are discounted to their value at current prices, using a discount rate based on current market yields on high quality corporate bonds. 
 
The assets of the West Midlands Pension Fund attributable to the council are included in the balance sheet at their fair value: 

• Quoted securities – bid price. 

• Unquoted securities – professional estimate. 

• Unitised securities – average of the bid and offer rates. 

• Property – market value. 
 
The change in the net pensions liability is analysed into the following components: 
 

• Current service cost – the increase in liabilities as a result of years of service earned this year – debited in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement to the revenue accounts of services for which the employees worked. 

• Past service cost – the increase in liabilities arising from current year decisions whose effect relates to years of service earned in earlier years – debited 
to the Cost of Services in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as part of Non Distributed Costs. 

• Interest on pension liabilities – the expected increase in the present value of liabilities during the year as they move one year closer to being paid – 
debited to Finance and Investment Income and Expenditure in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 

P
age 175



130 

• Interest on pension assets – the annual investment return on the fund assets attributable to the Council, based on an average of the expected long-term 
return – credited to Finance and Investment Income and Expenditure in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 

• Gains/losses on settlements and curtailments – settlements which relieve the Council of liabilities or events that reduce the expected future service or 
accrual of benefits of employees and curtailments which increase the liabilities in respect of past service – included within the Cost of Services in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as part of Non Distributed Costs. 

• Re-measurements – changes in the net pensions liability that arise because events have not coincided with assumptions made at the last actuarial 
valuation or because the actuaries have updated their assumptions – included within Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure, and transferred to 
the Pension Reserve. 

• Employer contributions paid to the West Midlands Pension Fund – cash paid as employer's contributions to the pension fund in settlement of liabilities; 
not accounted for as an expense. 

• Administration Expenses - debited to the Cost of Services in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 

Statutory provisions limit the Council to raising council tax to cover the amounts payable by the Council to the pension fund in the year.  In the Adjustments 
between Accounting Basis and Funding Basis under Regulation there are appropriations to and from the Pensions Reserve to remove the notional debits and 
credits for retirement benefits and replace them with debits for the cash paid to the pension fund and any amounts payable to the fund but unpaid at the year-
end. 
 
Discretionary Employee Benefits 

The Council also has restricted powers to make discretionary awards of retirement benefits in the event of early retirements. Any liabilities estimated to arise as 
a result of an award to any member of staff (including teachers) are accrued in the year of the decision to make the award and accounted for using the same 
policies as are applied to the Local Government Pension Scheme.  
 
Overheads and Support Services 

The costs of overheads and support services are charged to service segments in accordance with the authority’s arrangements for accountability and financial 
performance. 
 
Private Finance Initiatives (PFI) 

Under IFRIC 12, the PFI arrangements have been classified and accounted for as 'service concessions', recognising the finance leases under IAS 17 'Leases'. 
PFI and similar contracts are agreements to receive services, where the responsibility for making available the fixed assets needed to provide the services 
passes to the PFI contractor. As the Council is deemed to control the services that are provided under the PFI schemes and as ownership of the fixed asset will 
pass to the Council at the end of the contract for no additional charge, the Council carries the fixed asset used under the contracts on the Balance Sheet.  
The original recognition of the asset is balanced by the recognition of a liability for amounts due to the scheme operator to pay for the assets. 
 
The amounts payable to the PFI operators each year are analysed into the following five elements: 

• Fair Value of the services received during the year (charged to the relevant service area); 

• Finance Costs (interest charged on the outstanding Balance Sheet liability); 

• Contingent Rent (increases in the amount to be paid for the asset arising during the contract); 

• Payment towards liability (writing down the Balance Sheet liability towards the PFI contractor); 

• Lifecycle replacement costs (recognised as fixed assets on the Balance Sheet). 

P
age 176



131 

 
Group Accounts 

The Council has interests in companies and other entities. Where these interests are material, and satisfy one of the criteria tests: that the Council has control, 
either individually or jointly with another party; or has significant influence over the entity, then group accounts will be prepared in accordance with the IFRS 
based Code of Practice. In the Council's own single entity accounts, the interests in companies and other entities are classified as Long Term Investments 
(available-for-sale assets) and valued at fair value. 
 
Cash and Cash Equivalents 

The Council identifies 'cash and cash equivalents' as the total of cash in hand, bank current account balances and investments repayable on call. 
 
Contingent Liabilities 

A contingent liability arises where an event has taken place that gives the authority a possible obligation whose existence will only be confirmed by the 
occurrence or otherwise of uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the authority. 
Contingent liabilities also arise in circumstances where a provision would otherwise be made but either it is not probable that an outflow of resources will be 
required or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured reliably. Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the Balance Sheet but disclosed in a note to 
the accounts. 
 
Contingent Assets 

A contingent asset arises where an event has taken place that gives the Council a possible asset whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or 
otherwise of uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Council. Contingent assets are not recognised in the Balance Sheet but disclosed in a 
note to the accounts where it is probable that there will be an inflow of economic benefits or service potential. 
 
Council Tax and Non-Domestic Rates 

Coventry City Council is a billing authority that acts as an agent, collecting council tax and non-domestic rates (NDR) on behalf of the major preceptors and 
central government, and as a principal collecting council tax and NDR for the Council itself. Billing authorities are required by statute to maintain a separate fund 
(the Collection Fund) for the collection and distribution of amounts due in respect of council tax and NDR. Billing authorities, major preceptors and central 
government share proportionally the risks and rewards that these amounts could be less or more than predicted. The difference between the income from 
Council Tax and Non Domestic Rates that is included in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement and the amount required by regulation to be 
credited to the General Fund is taken to the Collection Fund Adjustment Account and reported in the Movement in Reserves Statement. 
 
Joint Operations 

Joint Operations are arrangements where parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the assets and obligations for the liabilities relating to 
the arrangement. In relation to its interest in a joint operation, the Authority recognises its share of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. 
 
Schools 

In accordance with the Code of Practice the balance of control for local authority maintained schools lies with the local authority. Therefore schools’ transactions 
and balances are recognised in each of the single entity financial statements of the authority as if they were those of the authority. 

P
age 177



132 

 
Events after the Balance Sheet date 

Events after the Balance Sheet date are those events, both favourable and unfavourable, that occur between the end of the reporting period and the date when 
the Statement of Accounts is authorised for issue. Two types of events can be identified: 
 
Adjusting Events 
Those events that provide evidence of conditions that existed at the end of the reporting period – the Statement of Accounts is adjusted to reflect such events. 
 
Non-adjusting Events 
Those events that are indicative of conditions that arose after the reporting period – the Statement of Accounts is not adjusted to reflect such events, but, where 
a category of events would have a material effect, disclosure is made in the notes of the nature of the events and either their estimated financial effect or a 
statement that such an estimate cannot be made reliably. 
 
Events taking place after the date of authorisation for issue are not reflected in the Statement of Accounts. 
 
Prior Period Adjustments, Changes in Accounting Policies and Estimates and Errors 

Prior period adjustments may arise as a result of a change in accounting policies or to correct a material error. Changes in accounting estimates are accounted 
for prospectively, i.e. in the current and future years affected by the change and do not give rise to a prior period adjustment. 
 
Changes in accounting policies are only made when required by proper accounting practices or the change provides more reliable or relevant information about 
the effect of transactions, other events and conditions on the Council’s financial position or financial performance. Where a change is made, it is applied 
retrospectively (unless stated otherwise) by adjusting opening balances and comparative amounts for the prior period as if the new policy had always been 
applied. 
 
Material errors discovered in prior period figures are corrected retrospectively by amending opening balances and comparative amounts for the prior period. 
  

P
age 178



133 

6 Glossary of Terms 
 
Accruals 
An accounting principle that recognises income and expenditure as they are earned or incurred, not as money is received or paid. 
 
Actuarial Assumptions 
These are predictions made for factors that will affect the financial condition of the pension scheme. 
 
Amortisation 
The gradual write off of initial costs of intangible assets. 
 
Bad Debt Provision 
Bad debts are amounts owed to the Council which it does not believe will ever be paid back to them.  The Council makes a provision for the amount of bad debt 
it expects to occur. 
 
Business Rates 
Business rates is a tax that is paid by the occupiers of all business properties. The income raised helps to pay for local services. 
 
Capital Contract 
This is a contract the Council has with a company to carry out major building or construction work that will take a significant amount of time. 
 
Capital Adjustment Account 
The account which reflects the extent to which the City Council's resources have been applied to finance capital expenditure and to meet future debt redemption 
or other credit liabilities. 
 
Capital Receipts 
Income received from selling fixed assets. 
 
CIPFA 
This is the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy.  This is an institute that represents accounting in the Public Sector. 
 
Contingent Liabilities 
These are amounts that the Council may be, but is not definitely, liable for. 
 
Council Tax 
A tax paid by residents of the city that is based on the value of the property lived in and is paid to the Council and spent on local services. 
 
Creditors 
These are people or organisations which the Council owes money to for work, goods or services which have not been paid for by the end of the financial year. 
 
 

P
age 179



134 

Current Assets 
These are assets that are held for a short period of time, for example cash in the bank, stocks and debtors. 
 
Debtors 
Sums of money owed to the City Council but not received at the end of the year. 
 
Depreciation 
The amount an asset has dropped in value is the amount it has been judged to have depreciated. Accountants use depreciation to demonstrate how much of a 
fixed asset value has been used and therefore lowered during a financial year, for example because of wear and tear. 
 
Donated Assets 

Assets transferred at nil value or acquired at less than fair value. 

Earmarked Reserves 
Money set aside for a specific purpose. 
 
Fair Value 
The amount for which an asset could be exchanged between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm's length transaction. 
 
Finance Lease 
A lease is a financial agreement to pay for an asset, for example a vehicle, in regular instalments. If the person paying the lease owns the asset then this is 
known as a finance lease (see also operating lease). 
 
Financial Instrument 
Any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity instrument of another entity. 
 
Financial Year 
Runs from 1st April through to the following 31st March. 
 
Fixed Assets 
Tangible assets that give benefit to the City Council and the services it provides for more than one year. 
 
Heritage assets 
Are held by the authority principally for their contribution to knowledge and culture. 
 
IFRS 
International Financial Reporting Standards. 
 
Impairment 
An asset has been impaired when it is judged to have lost value. 
 
Intangible Assets 

P
age 180



135 

An item which does not have physical substance (e.g. software license) but can be identified and used by the Council over a number of years. 
 
Inventories 
Goods owned by the Council which have not been used by the end of the financial year. 
 
Investment Properties 
Interest in land and/or buildings which are held for their investment potential rather than for operational purposes. 
 
LASAAC 
This is the Local Authority (Scotland) Accounts Advisory Committee which shares responsibility with CIPFA for determining the accounting Code of Practice.   
 
Liabilities 
Amounts due to individuals or organisations which will have to be paid at some time in the future. Current liabilities are usually payable within one year of the 
Balance Sheet date. 
 
Liquid Resources 
Current asset investments held as readily disposable stores of value, either readily convertible into cash, or traded in an active market. 
 
Levy 
A payment made by the Council to another local service, for example: local transport; and the environment agency. 
 
Market Value of Assets 
This is the price that an asset can currently be bought or sold at. 
 
Materiality 
An item is material if its inclusion in the accounts has the ability to influence the decision or change the judgement of a reasonable person. 
 
Movement in Reserves Statement (MIRS) 
A core statement showing the movement in the year on different reserves held by the Council, analysed into 'usable reserves' and 'unusable reserves'. 
 
Net asset value 
The value of the Council's assets less its liabilities. 
 
Net Book Value (NBV) 
The value of an asset after depreciation has been deducted. 
 
Operating Leases 
A lease is a financial agreement to pay for an asset, for example a vehicle, in regular instalments. If the person paying the lease does not own the asset then 
this is known as an operating lease. In this case the person is paying to borrow an asset (see also Finance Leases). 
 
Precept 
A payment to the Council's General Fund, or another Local Authority, from the Council's Collection Fund. 

P
age 181



136 

 
Prior Year Adjustments 
These are changes made to the previous year's accounts to show things that were not known until after the prior year accounts were produced. 
 
Provisions 
Money set aside for a debt that will arise in the future i.e. a known insurance claim. 
 
Revaluation Reserve 
The account that reflects the amount by which the value of the City Council's assets has been revised following revaluation or disposal. 
 
Revenue Expenditure Funded From Capital Under Statute 
Expenditure on grants or property not owned by the authority that may properly be classified as capital for funding purposes, but does not result in an asset 
owned by the Council. 
 
Revenue Support Grant (RSG) 
A grant from Central Government towards the cost of providing services. 
 
SOLACE 
This is the Society of Local Authority Chief Executives and Senior Managers. It is a representative body for senior strategic managers working in the public 
sector. 
 
Specific Revenue Grants 
Grants received from Central Government in respect of specific services. 
 
Work in Progress 
If the Council is in the process of constructing an asset at the time when the accounts are prepared the value of this work is shown in the accounts as 'Assets 
Under Construction'.

P
age 182



137 

7 Audit Certificate
 
(To be added on completion of the audit) 

P
age 183



T
his page is intentionally left blank



                1

Is this a key decision?
No

Executive summary:

This report to the Audit and Procurement Committee has two purposes:

 To summarise the Council’s Internal Audit activity for the period April 2018 to March 2019 
against the agreed Audit Plan for 2018-19 and the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards.

 To provide the Audit and Procurement Committee with the Chief Internal Auditor’s opinion 
on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of Coventry City Council's internal control 
environment for the financial year 2018-19 (as documented in section 2.3 of this report).

Recommendations:

Audit and Procurement Committee is recommended to note and consider:

1. The performance of Internal Audit against the Audit Plan for 2018-19.

2. The results of the Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme and the Chief Internal 
Auditor’s statement on conformance with the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards.

 Public report

Report to

Audit and Procurement Committee                                                                           24th June 2019 

Name of Cabinet Member:
Cabinet Member for Policy and Leadership – Councillor G Duggins

Director approving submission of the report:
Deputy Chief Executive (Place)

Ward(s) affected:
City Wide

Title:
Internal Audit Annual Report 2018-19

Page 185

Agenda Item 9



2

3. The summary findings of key audit reviews (attached at appendix two) that have not 
already been reported to Audit and Procurement Committee during municipal year 2018-19 
and which are relevant to the opinion on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of 
Coventry City Council's internal control environment.

 
4. The opinion of the Chief Internal Auditor on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of 

Coventry City Council's internal control environment.

List of Appendices included:

Appendix One - Audits completed in 2018-19

Appendix Two - Summary findings from key audit reports 

Background papers:

None

Other useful documents:

Half Year Internal Audit Progress Report 2018-19
https://edemocracy.coventry.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=553&MId=11821&Ver=4

Internal Audit Plan 2018-19 – Quarter Three Progress Report
https://edemocracy.coventry.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=553&MId=11825&Ver=4

Has it or will it be considered by scrutiny?

No other scrutiny consideration other than the Audit and Procurement Committee.

Has it, or will it be considered by any other council committee, advisory panel or other 
body?

No

Will this report go to Council?

No

Page 186

https://edemocracy.coventry.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=553&MId=11821&Ver=4
https://edemocracy.coventry.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=553&MId=11825&Ver=4


3

Report title:
Internal Audit Annual Report 2018-19

1. Context (or background)

1.1 The Audit and Procurement Committee approved the Council's Internal Audit Plan for 
2018-19 at its meeting on the 18th June 2018.  During the last financial year, the Committee 
has received progress reports summarising completed audit activity in November 2018 and 
February 2019. 

1.2 This report details the performance of the Internal Audit Service against the Plan for 2018-
19, which is presented in order for the Audit and Procurement Committee to discharge its 
responsibility, as reflected in its term of reference - “To consider the Head of Internal 
Audit's Annual Report and Opinion, and a summary of internal audit activities (actual and 
proposed) and the level of assurance given within the Annual Governance Statement 
incorporated in the Annual Accounts”.

1.3 The report is split into the following sections:

 Assessment of the performance of the Internal Audit Service against its key targets.

 The results of the Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme and the Chief 
Internal Auditor’s statement on conformance with the Public Sector Internal Audit 
Standards.

  A summary of the audit activity in 2018-19, and highlighting issues that have not 
been reported to the Audit and Procurement Committee previously and are relevant 
to the overall opinion.

 The Chief Internal Auditor’s opinion on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of 
Coventry City Council's internal control environment.

2. Options considered and recommended proposal

2.1 Performance of the Internal Audit Service 

2.1.1 The key target for the Internal Audit and Risk Service is to complete 90% of its agreed work 
plan by the 31st March 2019.   The chart below shows that the Service met this target.

Chart One: Performance of Internal Audit 2018-19

Page 187



4

It should be noted that the reported performance was based on revised audit plan of 480 
days which reflected un-planned absence within the Team and which was reported to the 
Audit and Procurement Committee in February 2019.   

2.1.2 In addition to the delivery of the Plan, the Service has a number of other key performance 
indicators (KPIs) which underpin its delivery. These KPIs are aimed at ensuring that the 
audit process is completed on a timely basis. The table below details the performance of 
Internal Audit for 2018-19, compared with performance in 2017-18. 

Table One: KPIs for the Internal Audit Service

Performance Measure Target Performance
2018-19

Performance 
2017-18

Planned Days Delivered 100% 94% 93%

Productive Time of Team
(% of work time spent on audit work)

90% 91% 91%

Draft Report to Deadline
(Draft issued in line with date agreed)

80% 84% 82%

Final Report to Deadline
(Final issued within 4 weeks of draft)

80% 82% 100%

Audits Delivered within Budget Days 80% 77% 75%

Whilst improvements in performance are still required around audits delivered within 
budget days, this does need to be seen in the context of the size of the audit plan in that 
out of 60 audits completed, 14 over-ran in terms of budget days. Actions to continue to 
improve performance form part of the Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme 
(see 2.2 below).

2.2 Quality Assurance Improvement Programme

2.2.1 The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards require that the Internal Audit Service develops 
and maintains a quality assurance programme that covers all aspects of the internal audit 
activity.  In 2018-19, the Programme included the following:

 An annual self-assessment of the Internal Audit Service against the Public Sector 
Internal Audit Standards.  This was undertaken by the Chief Internal Auditor.

 On-going supervision and review of audit work. In 2018-19, quality review checklists 
have also been introduced which are completed after every audit to provide a formal 
assessment of the quality of the work undertaken and identify areas for improvement.

Page 188



5

 Monitoring of key performance indicators and work with individual members of staff 
on planning and time management to deliver audits in budget days. In 2018-19, this 
has included bi-monthly one to ones with staff where individual performance against 
targets is reviewed. 

 Results of staff performance appraisals

2.2.2 As a result of the Programme, a number of improvement actions have been identified, 
which are summarised in table two below. These include actions where progress was 
delayed in 2018-19 due to the restructure of the Internal Audit Service.  Forthcoming 
progress against these actions will be included in future reports to the Audit and 
Procurement Committee.   

 :
Table Two: Internal Audit Improvement 

Actions

Public Sector 
Internal Audit 
Standards 

Specific  Standard Improvement Action 

Code of Ethics Competency Development of a training strategy for Internal 
Audit and skills matrix 

Attribute 
standards

Purpose, authority 
and responsibility 

Review and update of the Internal Audit 
Charter 

Attribute 
standards

Proficiency and due 
professional care 

Continuing to develop knowledge of available 
technology based audit and data analysis 
techniques to perform audit work

Attribute 
standards

Quality Assurance 
and Improvement 
Programme 

Planning for a full external assessment 
against the Public Sector Internal Audit 
Standards to be undertaken in 2020-21.

Attribute 
standards

Quality Assurance 
and Improvement 
Programme

Introduction of a formal mechanism for 
capturing customer feedback

Performance 
standards

Managing the Internal 
Audit activity 

Review and update of the Internal Audit 
Manual

Performance 
standards

Managing the Internal 
Audit activity 

Continued focus on planning and time 
management to deliver audits in budget days

2.2.3 In considering the results of the quality assurance and improvement programme, it has 
been concluded that the Internal Audit Service partially conforms with the Public Sector 
Internal Audit Standards and it is recognised that there are improvement opportunities to 
achieve full conformance.  Where improvements have been identified, it is not considered 
that this impacts on the overall scope or operation of the internal audit activity. 

2.3 Audit Activity 2018-19 

2.3.1 Appendix One details the audit reviews that have been carried out in the financial year 
2018-19 along with the level of assurance provided. Table three overleaf provides 
definitions to support the level of assurance applied to audit reviews carried out by the 
Service.

Page 189



6

Table Three: Definitions of Assurance Levels

Assurance 
Opinion

What does this mean?

Significant There is an appropriate level of control for managing all the significant 
inherent risks within the system.  Testing shows that the controls are being 
applied consistently and system objectives are being achieved efficiently, 
effectively and economically.

Moderate There are generally appropriate levels of control for managing the majority 
of the significant inherent risks within the system. Some control failings 
have been identified from the systems evaluation and testing that need to 
be corrected. The control failings do not put at risk achievement of the 
system’s objectives.

Limited There are weaknesses in the level of control for managing the significant 
inherent risks within the system.  A number of control failings have been 
identified from the systems evaluation and testing. These failings show 
that the system is clearly at risk of not being able to meet its objectives and 
significant improvements are required to improve the adequacy and 
effectiveness of control.

No There are major, fundamental weaknesses in the level of control for 
managing the significant inherent risks within the system. The weaknesses 
identified from the systems evaluation and testing are such that the system 
is open to substantial and significant error or abuse and is not capable of 
meeting its objectives.  

2.3.2 Other – A summary of the findings of key audits that have not already been reported to the 
Committee during municipal year 2018-19 are included at Appendix Two. In all cases, the 
relevant managers have agreed to address the issues raised in line with the timescale 
stated. These reviews will be followed up in due course and the outcome reported to the 
Audit and Procurement Committee.  

2.3.3 Follow up of Disclosures made in the Internal Audit Annual Report 2017-18 – In the 
previous annual report, the Chief Internal Auditor identified a number of areas where she 
believed significant control improvements were required. An update on each of these areas 
is provided below:

 The Council’s readiness for the implementation of the General Data Protection 
Regulations (GDPR) – This disclosure was based on the findings of the 2017-18 
review of the Council’s preparations for GDPR.  In 2018-19, follow up audit work has 
confirmed that action has been taken to address a number of the key concerns 
highlighted and moderate assurance has now been given that the Council has 
appropriate arrangements in place to comply with the Data Protection Act 2018.  

 Homelessness – This disclosure was based on the acknowledged risk around the 
increasing costs of temporary accommodation. In 2018-19, an audit review was 
undertaken around the Council’s response to preventing and relieving homelessness, 
the findings of which are summarised at Appendix Two.  In addition, a refreshed 
Housing and Homeless Strategy was adopted by the Council in March 2019. This 
focuses on prevention, supporting homeless households, improving existing 

Page 190



7

accommodation and increasing housing supply. A number of key appointments and 
new roles have been made to increase the Council’s capability in this area.  As these 
arrangements are still embedding, this issue has been considered in the preparation 
of the Annual Governance Statement for 2018-19.

 Delivery of the IT Strategy – During 2018-19, the existing IT Strategy has been 
reviewed, with input from across the Council.  Alongside this, there has been a major 
restructure of the ICT and Digital Service with the introduction of new senior 
management roles which will support the on-going development and delivery of the IT 
Strategy.  An updated IT Strategy is planned in 2019-20 and this has been 
considered in the preparation of the Annual Governance Statement for 2018-19.  

2.4 Annual Report - Opinion on the Overall Adequacy and Effectiveness of Coventry City 
Council's Internal Control Environment

2.4.1 The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) highlights that a key responsibility of 
Internal Audit is to provide an objective evaluation of, and assurance on, the effectiveness 
of the organisation’s risk management, control and governance arrangements. It requires 
that the annual internal audit opinion provided by the Chief Internal Auditor is a key element 
of the framework of assurance that informs the Annual Governance Statement.

2.4.2 Given the above, an Internal Audit Charter was approved in April 2013, requiring the 
Internal Audit Annual Report to include the following information:

 An opinion on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of Coventry City Council’s 
internal control environment.

 Disclosure of any qualifications to that opinion, together with the reason for the 
qualification.

 Present a summary of the audit work undertaken to formulate the opinion, including 
reliance placed on the work of other assurance bodies.

 Draw to the attention of the Audit and Procurement Committee any issues particularly 
relevant to the preparation of the Annual Governance Statement.

2.4.3 Audit Opinion / Disclosures –   In the Chief Internal Auditor’s view, sufficient assurance 
work has been carried out to allow her to form a reasonable conclusion on the adequacy 
and effectiveness of Coventry City Council’s internal control environment.  It is the Chief 
Internal Auditor’s opinion that moderate assurance can be provided that there is generally 
a sound system of internal control in place designed to meet the Council's objectives. This 
means that there is generally an appropriate level of control for managing the majority of 
the significant inherent risks to the Council’s objectives to a reasonable level. 

In giving this opinion, assurance can never be absolute as the system of internal control is 
designed to manage risk to a reasonable level.  It cannot eliminate all risk and can 
therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness. 

Through Internal Audit work, actions are agreed to improve the control environment and 
assist the Council in achieving its objectives.   A defined process exists within the Service 
to gain assurance that all actions agreed have been implemented on a timely basis.

2.4.4 Audit work undertaken – Appendix One details the audit reviews that have been carried 
out in the financial year 2018-19 along with the level of assurance provided.  In considering 

Page 191



8

the outcome of audit activity for 2018-19, we have initially looked at the number of ‘limited’ 
or ‘no’ assurance audits (as these require immediate improvements) and compared the 
results with the previous two years. 

Table Four: Comparison of Audit Assurance Levels 

Financial 
Year

Number 
of Audits

Number of Audits With 
'limited' or 'no' Assurance

Percentage of Audits with 
'limited' or 'no' Assurance

2018-19 60 5 8%

2017-18 65 7 11%

2016-17 58 6 10%

Table four above indicates that the number of audits that require immediate improvements 
remains at a low level in comparison to the overall number of audits carried out and is 
largely consistent with the number of these reviews over the last three years.   Other 
factors that have been have been considered in the assessment of the control environment 
include:

 The impact that the weaknesses identified have on the overall Council control 
environment - When considering the five reviews, they fall into one of the following 
categories:

 
 Reviews that are focused on working practices in specific services / functions. 

 Reviews where issues have a corporate impact either in terms of finance, 
reputation and / or service delivery. 

 Whether there is any specific change in audit focus / approach that may have 
impacted on the number of ‘limited’ or ‘no’ assurance audits – there are two aspects 
to this, namely:

 A small number of fact-finding reviews have been undertaken as in some 
circumstances this approach is viewed as a more appropriate way of 
responding to identified /emerging risks. This includes reviews linked to 
providing advice around proposed changes to systems and the assessment of 
risks and as such, an assurance level is not provided given the specific scope 
of such reviews.

 In 2018-19, the audit plan included a number of reviews arising from specific 
requests from management to provide assurance as concerns already existed 
that improvements were required to manage risks effectively. 

2.4.5 Issues relevant to the preparation of the Annual Governance Statement – In 
undertaking the assessment of the Council's internal control environment, the Chief Internal 
Auditor has identified a number of areas that, in her opinion, need to be considered when 
the Council produces its Annual Governance Statement for 2018-19.

From a general point of view, whilst any audit where ‘limited’ or ‘no’ assurance was 
provided requires attention, an assessment is also made as to whether the review has a 
significant corporate impact and consequently needs to be considered in the producing the 

Page 192



9

Annual Governance Statement, or whether the review is limited to specific working 
practices in service areas which do not have a wider bearing on the Council’s control 
environment. 

In terms of key issues identified, the following are highlighted: 

1. Homelessness – This reflects the findings of the review of the Council’s processes 
to prevent and relieve homelessness which is summarised at Appendix Two, along 
with the need for new arrangements to become embedded, as highlighted in section 
2.3.3 of this report. 

2. Controls over accessing system data – This reflects the findings of a review of the 
Council’s arrangements to govern employees’ use of ICT systems holding personal / 
sensitive data.  The findings of this review were reported to the Audit and 
Procurement Committee in February 2019 and whilst moderate assurance was given 
that the Council has appropriate arrangements, the review highlighted the need for a 
corporate approach to be taken to manage risk, given the number of systems in place 
across the Council.  Consequently, the requirement for a corporate data access 
standard has been considered in the preparation of the Annual Governance 
Statement for 2018-19. 

3. Delivery of the IT Strategy – This reflects the requirement for an updated IT 
Strategy, which as highlighted in section 2.3.3 of this report, is planned for 2019-20 
and the findings of a review of the Council’s IT Strategy, Policies and Procurement 
which is summarised at Appendix Two.  Whilst a new IT Strategy was originally 
planned to be produced in 2018-19, this has been delayed to allow for closer 
alignment to the One Coventry approach.  

3. Results of consultation undertaken

3.1 None

4. Timetable for implementing this decision 

4.1 There is no implementation timetable associated with this report, although the opinion of 
the Chief Internal Auditor on the adequacy of the Council's internal control environment is a 
key source in the preparation of the Annual Governance Statement.

5. Comments from the Director of Finance and Corporate Services

5.1 Financial Implications

There are no specific financial implications associated with this report. Internal audit work 
has clear and direct effects, through the recommendations made, to help improve value for 
money obtained, the probity and propriety of financial administration, and / or the 
management of operational risks.

5.2 Legal implications

The City Council is required by the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 to approve, and 
subsequently publish, the Annual Governance Statement alongside the Statement of 
Accounts.  The opinion of the Acting Chief Internal Auditor on the adequacy of the 
Council’s internal control environment as included in the Annual Report is a key source in 
the preparation of the Annual Governance Statement.  Reporting on progress in regards to 

Page 193



10

the delivery of the Annual Audit Plan ensures that the Council meets its statutory 
obligations in respect of maintaining an internal audit function and represents good 
governance. 

6. Other implications

6.1 How will this contribute to achievement of the Council Plan?

Internal Auditing is defined in the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards as "an 
independent, objective assurance and consulting activity designed to add value and 
improve an organisation’s operations. It helps an organisation accomplish its objectives by 
bringing a systematic, disciplined approach to evaluate and improve the effectiveness of 
risk management, control and governance processes”. As such the work of Internal Audit is 
directly linked to the Council's key objectives / priorities with specific focus agreed on an 
annual basis, and reflected in the annual Internal Audit Plan. 

6.2 How is risk being managed?

In terms of risk management, there are two focuses:

    Internal Audit perspective - The main risks facing the Service are that the planned 
programme of audits is not completed, and that the quality of audit reviews fails to 
meet customer expectations. Both these risks are managed through defined processes 
(i.e. planning and quality assurance) within the Service, with the outcomes included in 
reports to the Audit and Procurement Committee.  Delays in the delivery of individual 
audits could occur at the request of the customer, which could impact on the delivery of 
the plan.  This risk is managed through on-going communication with customers to 
agree timing and identify issues at an early stage to allow for remedial action to be 
taken. 

 Wider Council perspective - The key risk is that actions agreed in audit reports to 
improve the control environment and assist the Council in achieving its objectives are 
not implemented. To mitigate this risk, a defined process exists within the Service to 
gain assurance that all actions agreed have been implemented on a timely basis. Such 
assurance is reflected in reports to the Audit and Procurement Committee. Where 
progress has not been made, further action is agreed and overseen by the Audit and 
Procurement Committee to ensure action is taken.

 
6.3 What is the impact on the organisation?

None 

6.4 Equalities / EIA 

None

6.5 Implications for (or impact on) the environment

No impact

6.6 Implications for partner organisations?

None

Page 194



11

Report author(s): 
Karen Tyler

Name and job title: 
Chief Internal Auditor

Directorate: 
Place

Tel and email contact
Tel: 024 76972186
Email: Karen.tyler@coventry.gov.uk
Enquiries should be directed to the above person.

Contributor/approver name Title Directorate or 
organisation Date doc 

sent out
Date response 

received or 
approved

Contributors:
Lara Knight Governance 

Services Co-
ordinator 

Place 4/6/2019 6/6/2019

Paul Jennings Finance 
Manager 
Corporate 
Finance 

Place 4/6/2019 5/6/2019

Names of approvers: 
(officers and members)
Barry Hastie Director of 

Finance and 
Corporate 
Resources

Place 4/6/2019 12/6/2019

Adrian West Member and 
Elections 
Team 
Manager 

Place 4/6/2019 12/6/2019

Councillor G Duggins Cabinet 
Member for 
Policy and 
Leadership 

- 4/6/2019 13/6/2019

This report is published on the council's website:
www.coventry.gov.uk/meetings

Page 195

http://www.coventry.gov.uk/meetings
http://www.coventry.gov.uk/meetings
http://www.coventry.gov.uk/meetings


12

Appendix One – Internal Audit Reviews Completed in 2018-19

Audit Area Audit Title Assurance

2017-18 B/Fwd User accounts Moderate 
Housing benefits Significant 

Corporate Risk Children’s Services (section 17 monies) 
Financial Culture*  

n/a fact finding 

Controls over accessing system data* Moderate
ICT Strategy, policies and procurement Moderate 

Sharepoint / legacy storage Moderate 
Council / Audit 

Priorities
Changes to invoice processing n/a systems advice 

Mandatory training* Moderate
Resourcelink self service – delegated 

authority* 
Limited

Homelessness – prevention and relief duties Limited
Tax evasion n/a risk assessment

Controls over cash administration Moderate
Purchasing cards n/a systems advice 

Financial Systems Accounts payable Significant
Accounts receivable Significant

Payroll Significant 
Council tax Significant 

CareDirector (income and expenditure) Moderate 
Regularity Annual governance statement n/a Annual Review 

Early Measures Grant n/a verification
Declaration of Interest n/a Annual Review

S256 Health Grant n/a verification 
Troubled Families Programme Claim 1 n/a verification 

Castlewood School Moderate 
Troubled Families Programme Claim 2 n/a verification 

Foxford School Moderate 
Spon Gate Primary School  Significant 
Disabled Facilities Grant n/a verification 

Disabled Facilities Additional Grant n/a verification 
Teachers’ Pension statements n/a verification 

Post 16 Schools Funding n/a verification 
Bus Subsidy Grant n/a verification 

Highway Maintenance / Incentive / Pothole 
Grant 

n/a verification 

Integrated Transport Block Grant n/a verification 
Highways Maintenance Challenge Fund Grant n/a verification 

Swanswell Viaduct Grant n/a verification 
Catch Grant n/a verification 

School Direct grant  n/a verification 
Frederick Bird Primary School* Limited

Sowe Valley Primary School Moderate
Corley Centre Moderate 

Coventry North Regeneration Significant 
North Coventry Holdings Significant 

UK Cite Grant  n/a verification  
UK Autodrive Grant  n/a verification  
Risk Management Moderate

Page 196



13

Audit Area Audit Title Assurance

Troubled Families Programme Claim 3 n/a verification 
Troubled Families Programme Claim 4 n/ verification 

Directorate issues Children’s Services permanence payments* Moderate
Learning disability providers contract 

management 
Moderate 

Agency workers contract  n/a advice 
Car park passes n/a verification 

Administration of corporate identify cards* Limited  
Community support grants  Significant 

Follow Up GDPR readiness* Moderate 
Hillfields School  Significant 

Edgewick School  Significant 
Housing benefit overpayments Moderate 

Energy billing  Significant 
Direct payments Moderate 

Management of plant and equipment Limited 

(*) Audit findings reported to Audit and Procurement Committee during municipal year 2018-19

Page 197



14

Appendix Two – Summary Findings from Key Audit Reports 

Audit Review / 
Actions Due /
Responsible Officer(s)

Key Findings

Homelessness – prevention 
and relief duties 

October 2019

Head of Housing / Customer 
Services Manager 

Overall Objective: To ensure that the Council has effective and efficient processes in place to prevent and relieve 
homelessness.

Key controls assessed:

-  Processes are in place to ensure all eligible households who are threatened with homelessness have access to 
appropriate support and Personal Housing Plans are agreed on a timely basis to ensure reasonable steps can 
be taken to prevent homelessness. 

- Processes are in place to ensure all eligible households who are already homeless or become homeless are 
provided with appropriate support to help secure accommodation on a timely basis.

- Financial support is made available to prevent and relieve homelessness where applicable to do so, which is 
underpinned by robust arrangements to support the assessment of funding requests, approval of payments and 
monitoring of the impact of awards made. 

- Processes are in place to enable the Council to discharge their Prevention and Relief Duties where appropriate, 
due to an applicant’s deliberate and unreasonable refusal to co-operate with the steps agreed within the 
Personal Housing Plan. 

Opinion: Limited Assurance             

Agreed Actions – risk level high (H) or medium (M):

 Ensure that responsibility is allocated for adapting and publishing self-helps packs and agree a deadline for this 
work to be undertaken to enable customers to take action themselves to resolve their housing problems. (M)

 As part of the on-going development of the Service / transformation work, consider how improvements can be 
made to working practices to ensure all customers who make an approach under the prevention duty are 
assessed for eligibility on a timely basis. (H)

 Introduce arrangements to take account of existing caseloads when producing rotas for housing officers to 
ensure that officer caseloads are appropriately managed. (H)

 As part of the on-going development of the Service / transformation work, introduce a risk based approach to 
how customers are supported to prevent and relieve homelessness based on an assessment of their individual 
support needs. (H)

 Produce a library of information sheets which staff can refer to and which provides guidance around what 

P
age 198



15

Audit Review / 
Actions Due /
Responsible Officer(s)

Key Findings

support actions should be considered for different types of customers. (H)
 Introduce appropriate governance arrangements, including (a) development of documented procedures which 

cover all key aspects of the prevention and relief duty process (b) establishing performance targets in relation to 
the timeliness of actions (c) introduce a programme of quality assurance checks on officers cases by Senior 
Housing Officers and use the results as part of on-going performance management arrangements (d) continue 
to develop the service’s understanding of the functionality of the Jigsaw system in respect of management 
information which can be used to assist in providing oversight of cases and managing performance. (H)

 Communicate to all officers the requirement for all interventions with the customer to be recorded within the 
Jigsaw system. (M)

 Communicate to all officers the requirement to record within the Jigsaw system when notifications are received 
by the Salvation Army that customers have left or been evicted from their interim accommodation. (M)

 Consider whether the weekly lists provided by the Salvation Army to Housing Benefits are fit for purpose and 
take action to ensure that reliance can be placed on this information. (M)

 Issue a copy of the framework for the use of Prevention Pot funding to all staff and develop a written procedure 
which provides detailed requirements of the processes that staff need to follow. (H)

 In all cases where the financial assessment identifies the need to submit an application for a Discretionary 
Housing Payment, ensure that housing officers provide sufficient support to the customer to complete the 
application form and submit it on a timely basis. (M)

 Work with the Benefits Team to streamline the Discretionary Housing Payment application process, including 
sharing of supporting information obtained by housing officers. (M)

 Reallocate budget holder responsibility for Prevention Pot funding to an appropriate officer within the Housing 
Team. (M)

 Take action to revise the scheme of delegation under the Prevention Pot Framework to reflect a more 
appropriate view of risk. (M)

 Undertake analysis / evaluation of the overall effectiveness of Prevention Pot funding to inform strategy to 
maximise the benefit. (M)

 Establish procedures to provide governance over all decisions to discharge the Council’s duty as a result of the 
customers actions / behaviour. (M)

 Establish arrangements for the peer review of cases where a decision is taken to discharge the Councils duty 
for a customers deliberate and unreasonable refusal to co-operate, including determining a process for 
recording these reviews. (M)

P
age 199



16

Audit Review / 
Actions Due /
Responsible Officer(s)

Key Findings

IT Strategy, policies and 
procurement 

September 2019

Head of ICT and Digital

Overall Objective: A review of the Council’s IT Strategy and associated polices to ensure processes are 
sufficiently directed, they are complied with and opportunities to operate more efficiently and be prepared for 
forthcoming changes are identified.  
 
Key controls assessed:
- Documented and approved IT Strategy
- Comprehensive and documented information security policies
- User awareness of cyber security threats including ransomware and spear phishing 
- Vendor support for all key IT database and operating system platforms
- Procurement process linked to any major developments 
- Procurement of non-IT approved software and hardware

Opinion: Moderate Assurance            

Agreed Actions – risk level high (H) or medium (M):

 Management to ensure that a new IT Strategy is produced in line with the Council’s One Coventry vision and 
priorities. (M)

 Management to ensure that all un-supported Windows 2003 servers are promptly decommissioned. (M)
 Management to ensure that all un-supported SQL server 2005 databases are promptly decommissioned. (M)
 Management to ensure user access to personal and insecure email services is withdrawn. (M) 

P
age 200



17

Audit Review / 
Actions Due /
Responsible Officer(s)

Key Findings

Direct Payments Follow Up 
review 

April 2020

Independent Living Practice 
Adviser / Head of Social 
Work Mental Health and 
Sustainability 

A summary of progress made 
against the agreed actions is 
shown below:

Number of 
Actions

11

Implemented 8

No Progress 0

On-going 3

Overall Objective: To provide assurance that agreed actions have been implemented as planned and there are 
now robust systems in place to ensure that arrangements for administering and monitoring direct payments are 
effective, efficient and includes appropriate processes to protect the public purse. 

Recommendations followed up: 
- Re-allocate the task of setting up the payment details for new direct payment clients to a more appropriate 

resource. (H)
- Review whether other administrative tasks undertaken by the Financial Monitoring Officer are necessary and if 

so whether they can be carried out by other parts of the business. (H)
- Ensure that the Independent Living Team cease undertaking checks linked to the set up of direct payments and 

review whether the administration task of recording the Agresso code in CareDirector should be undertaken by 
other parts of the business in line with other processes. (M)

- Review and update the starter letters to direct payment clients to include more payment information to the client 
in advance of their direct payment commencing. (M)

- Change the current approach to monitoring direct payments to a rolling programme of reviews. (H)
- Revise the process for obtaining monitoring information from direct payment clients.  This should include (a) 

sending a written request to clients in advance of the date the information is required which details what they 
need to provide and deadline for providing it (b) reducing the number of reminder letters issued to one with an 
appropriate deadline by which clients must respond by (c) ensuring that where clients do not respond after the 
first reminder deadline, details are promptly escalated to case management. (H)

- Where issues relating to direct payments need to be escalated, ensure that these are raised through 
CareDirector. (H)

- Review the process for dealing with escalated cases to ensure they are dealt with in a timely manner. (H)
- Introduce an annual monitoring spreadsheet which clearly records the checks performed / results and follow up 

action and which is consistent across all types of direct payments. (H)
- Ensure that direct payments for one-off Disabled Facility Grants are monitored. (M)
- Ring fence the back log work on direct payment ends and adequately prioritise / resource the activity so that 

this work is completed promptly and complete work on new direct payment ends on a weekly basis to ensure 
that backlogs do not recur. (H)

Opinion: Moderate Assurance            

P
age 201



18

Audit Review / 
Actions Due /
Responsible Officer(s)

Key Findings

Agreed Actions – risk level high (H) or medium (M):

 Review and update the starter letters to direct payments to include (a) a proposed start date for the direct 
payment and (b) the gross amount of the direct payment that they are due. (M)

 Review the process for dealing with escalated cases to ensure they are dealt with in a timely manner. (H)
 Ensure that work to process outstanding direct payment ends continues to be undertaken on a timely basis, 

including action to identify and recover all excess balances in accordance with the Direct Payments policy. 

P
age 202



19

Audit Review / 
Actions Due /
Responsible Officer(s)

Key Findings

CareDirector Income and 
Expenditure 

April 2020

Head of Business Systems / 
Financial Operations 
Manager / Operational 
Manager Financial 
Assessments 

Overall Objective: To provide assurance that the Council has effective systems in place to administer both 
payments made through CareDirector and income due from client contributions in respect of adult social care.
 
Key controls assessed:
- All source input to the CareDirector system is accurate, complete and carried out on a timely basis.
- All relevant clients in receipt of care provision are subject to a financial assessment, which determines accurate 

charges to be applies against the relevant client account on CareDirector. 
- Payments to individuals and suppliers are accurate, authorised prior to payment and are made on a timely 

basis.
- Changes in circumstances that affect both services provided and client charges raised in CareDirector are dealt 

with accurately and on a timely basis. 
- Controls exist to ensure that the interface between CareDirector and Agresso is processed accurately and 

completely. 
- Appropriate action is taken to pursue outstanding monies owed to the Council and provide accurate budgetary 

control information for management.

Opinion: Moderate Assurance            

Agreed Actions – risk level high (H) or medium (M):

 Consider how workflow within adult social care can be improved to ensure service provisions are input on a 
timely basis. (H)

 Take action to ensure (a) ensure that arrangements for the electronic filing of invoices are fit for purpose and 
complied with (b) introduce risk based checks over manual variations to invoices input to the CareDirector 
system to ensure that they are supported by an approved Service Request Form. (H)

 Take action to improve the timeliness of ending service provisions on the CareDirector system. (H)
 Take action to reduce / minimise retrospective requests for service provisions being received. (H)
 Ensure that checks on out of city placements are undertaken on a quarterly basis. (M)
 Consider how workflow within adult social care can be improved to ensure referrals to Financial Assessments 

are received on a timely basis. (M)
 Ensure that all outstanding audit actions linked to the financial assessment process are implemented. (M)

P
age 203



T
his page is intentionally left blank



                1

Is this a key decision?
No

Executive summary:

The purpose of this report is to share the draft Internal Audit Plan for 2019-20 with the Audit and 
Procurement Committee to allow the Committee to express its views on the extent and nature of 
the planned coverage.

Recommendations:

Audit and Procurement Committee is recommended to consider the draft Internal Audit Plan for 
2019-20 (Appendix One) and provide any comments on the content and scope of the proposed 
Plan.

 Public report

Report to

Audit and Procurement Committee                                                                     24th June 2019

Name of Cabinet Member:
Cabinet Member for Policy and Leadership – Councillor G Duggins 

Director approving submission of the report:
Deputy Chief Executive (Place)

Ward(s) affected:
City Wide

Title:
Internal Audit Plan 2019-20

Page 205

Agenda Item 10



2

List of Appendices included:

Appendix 1 Draft Internal Audit Plan 2019-20

Background papers:

None

Has it or will it be considered by scrutiny?

No other scrutiny consideration other than the Audit and Procurement Committee

Has it, or will it be considered by any other council committee, advisory panel or other 
body?

No

Will this report go to Council?

No

Page 206



3

Report title:
Draft Internal Audit Plan 2019-20

1. Context (or background)

1.1 The Audit and Procurement Committee, within its terms of reference, is required to: 

'Consider the Head of Internal Audit’s Annual Report and Opinion, and a summary of 
internal audit activities (actual and proposed) and the level of assurance given within the 
Annual Governance Statement incorporated in the Annual Accounts'. 

1.2 In terms of proposed audit activities, the draft Internal Audit Plan attached at Appendix One 
documents the outcome of the audit planning process for 2019-20. This report provides the 
mechanism for allowing the Audit and Procurement Committee to discharge its 
responsibility as highlighted above, but also enables the Committee, as a key stakeholder 
of the Internal Audit Service, to comment on the content and scope of the proposed Internal 
Audit Plan.

2. Options considered and recommended proposal

2.1 Background – Internal Audit is an essential part of the Council’s corporate governance 
arrangements. In considering the Public Sector Internal Standards (PSIAS) which became 
applicable to local authorities in April 2013 (and updated March 2017), Internal Audit is 
defined as: 

"An independent, objective assurance and consulting activity designed to add value and 
improve an organisation’s operations. It helps an organisation accomplish its objectives by 
bringing a systematic, disciplined approach to evaluate and improve the effectiveness of 
risk management, control and governance processes”.  

The priorities of internal audit activity are determined through the development of an annual 
risk- based Internal Audit Plan.  This report documents the planning process and identifies 
the outcome of this process, namely the draft Internal Audit Plan for 2019-20. 

In developing the Audit Plan, we aim to achieve the following objectives:

 To provide a cost effective, targeted and value added service to our customers. This 
requires the Service to achieve a balance between delivering standard audit reviews 
and responding to new / emerging risks faced by the Council, both at the operational 
and corporate level. 

 To provide a quality Internal Audit Service in line with the Public Sector Internal Audit 
Standards, to assist the Council in achieving its aims and objectives. 

 To provide the Service with a degree of flexibility to allow it to be able to respond to the 
changing needs of stakeholders during the year and provide relevant assurance. 

 Ensuring that the level and skills of audit resources available is appropriate to meet the 
audit needs of the Council.

 To allow the Chief Internal Auditor to provide the Council with an annual opinion on the 
effectiveness of the organisation's risk management, control and governance 
arrangements.

Page 207



4

2.2 Draft Audit Plan 2019-20 – The results of the initial assessment of priorities are shown in 
Appendix One.  Key points to note include:

  The draft plan is based on an allocation of priorities against the current level of audit 
resources available.  The resource requirements have been assessed, taking into 
account the requirement to produce an annual audit opinion and the Council’s overall 
assurance framework.  For 2019-20, this assessment has also been influenced by the 
following factors:

 The Internal Audit Service has recently undergone a restructure, which is currently 
being implemented and includes undertaking a recruitment exercise. However, at this 
stage, it is difficult to predict with any certainty the exact timescales of when the new 
structure will be fully populated. 

 Unplanned absence within the Team.

Consequently, the level of resources available in 2019-20 for audit and corporate fraud 
work cannot be precisely defined at the current time.  Taking these factors into account, 
alongside an assessment of the resources which will be available when the new 
structure has been fully implemented, the draft plan has been developed on an estimate 
of 550 days available for audit and corporate fraud work. This compares to 480 days 
which were available in 2018-19.  Whilst the level of resources will continue to be closely 
monitored, it is envisaged that any short-term reduction will be compensated for later in 
the year.  Updates on the resource position and any resulting change to the audit plan 
will be provided in future reports to the Committee.  
   
In focusing the available resources to develop a plan which meet the needs of the 
Council, the following approach has been taken:

 A documented risk assessment has been undertaken, which considers the Council’s 
corporate risk register and key priorities as identified from consultation with Directors 
and other senior managers, alongside other priorities identified from (a) the annual 
review of the Local Code of Corporate Governance and (b) areas of risk which have 
been highlighted by the Chief Internal Auditor during the course of the year.  Where 
appropriate, an assessed risk level has been included in appendix one.  Where the 
risk has been assessed as medium rather than high, this generally reflects the 
findings of previous audit reviews in the respective area / an initial assessment of the 
control environment.  

 A risk-based approach to the audit of schools based on links with School Finance / 
issues raised by schools, rather than a fixed programme of audit work. In 2019-20, 
specific focus has been given to schools which have not been audited for some time. 

 A flexible and responsive approach to issues highlighted by senior officers with 
dialogue to ensure resources are directed in accordance with their priorities.  

 A more flexible response to corporate fraud investigations, offering expert advice and 
support rather than undertaking the Investigating Officer role.

As a result, it is believed that the draft Audit Plan for 2019-20 is sufficient for the work 
required to report on governance, the management of risks and controls in the year and 
to prepare our annual opinion and report.  

Page 208



5

 Corporate Risks – The focus of audit coverage in 2019-20 in regards to the corporate 
risk register is aligned to those areas where it is clear Internal Audit can make a 
contribution to the management of these risks, including emerging issues linked to these 
activities.  This includes reviews of health and safety, contract management framework, 
ICT, homelessness reduction, information governance risk management and 
compliance with key HR procedures. 

 Council / Audit Priorities – This incorporates audit work linked to specific Council 
priorities around governance which have a corporate impact such as oversight over  
agency workers, appointments to outside bodies and data quality of performance 
indicators linked to the Council Plan. 

 Corporate Governance – The work related to corporate governance is also under the 
heading Regularity because it includes mandatory audit requirements such as the co-
ordination of the Annual Governance Statement and Declarations of Interest exercise.

 Contingency / Directorate risks – This audit area includes those issues highlighted 
through dialogue with Directors / senior officers which, whilst they may not have a 
corporate impact, could affect the achievement of operational objectives.  In 2019-20, 
identified areas include the new early payments system, parking enforcement recovery 
and tribunals for special school places. 

 Carried forward audits – The areas highlighted above also include a small number of 
audits which were postponed from 2018-19, either following a request from senior 
management or the resources available in the Team during the year. 

3. Results of consultation undertaken

3.1 There is an on-going process of consultation with Senior Officers across the Council to 
inform development of the Audit Plan and areas of specific focus throughout the year.

4. Timetable for implementing this decision 

4.1 The Internal Audit Plan is an annual plan and is based on a completion date of the 31st 
March 2020. Progress is monitored by the Audit and Procurement Committee. In addition 
to the planned quarterly progress reports, the Internal Audit Service is required to produce 
an annual report. This report is due in June / July 2020 and will include the opinion of the 
Chief Internal Auditor on the adequacy of the Council's control environment, highlighting 
issues relevant to the preparation of the Annual Governance Statement.  

5. Comments from the Director of Finance and Corporate Services   

5.1 Financial Implications

There are no specific financial implications associated with this report. Internal audit work 
has clear and direct effects, through the recommendations made, to help improve value for 
money obtained, the probity and propriety of financial administration, and / or the 
management of operational risks.

5.2 Legal implications

The effective planning of audit activity across the organisation ensures that the Council 
meets its statutory obligations in respect of maintaining an internal audit function and 
represents good governance. 

Page 209



6

6. Other implications

6.1 How will this contribute to achievement of the council's Plan?

Internal Auditing is defined in the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards as "an 
independent, objective assurance and consulting activity designed to add value and 
improve an organisation’s operations. It helps an organisation accomplish its objectives by 
bringing a systematic, disciplined approach to evaluate and improve the effectiveness of 
risk management, control and governance processes”. As such the work of Internal Audit is 
directly linked to the Council's key objectives / priorities with specific focus agreed on an 
annual basis, and reflected in the annual Internal Audit Plan. 

6.2 How is risk being managed?

In terms of risk management, there are two focuses:

    Internal Audit perspective - The main risks facing the Service are that the planned 
programme of audits is not completed, and that the quality of audit reviews fails to 
meet customer expectations. Both these risks are managed through defined processes 
(i.e. planning and quality assurance) within the Service, with the outcomes included in 
reports to the Audit and Procurement Committee.  Delays in the delivery of individual 
audits could occur at the request of the customer, which could impact on the delivery of 
the plan.  The risk is managed through on-going communication with customers to 
agree timing and identify issues at an early stage to allow for remedial action to be 
taken. 

 Wider Council perspective - The key risk is that actions agreed in audit reports to 
improve the control environment and assist the Council in achieving its objectives are 
not implemented. To mitigate this risk, a defined process exists within the Service to 
gain assurance that all actions agreed have been implemented on a timely basis. Such 
assurance is reflected in reports to the Audit and Procurement Committee. Where 
progress has not been made, further action is agreed and overseen by the Audit and 
Procurement Committee to ensure action is taken.

 
6.3 What is the impact on the organisation?

None 

6.4 Equalities / EIA 

None

6.5 Implications for  (or impact on) the environment

No impact

6.6 Implications for partner organisations?

None

Page 210



7

Report author(s): 
Karen Tyler

Name and job title: 
Chief Internal Auditor

Directorate: 
Place

Tel and email contact
Tel: 024 7697 2186
Email: Karen.tyler@coventry.gov.uk
Enquiries should be directed to the above person.

Contributor/approver name Title Directorate or 
organisation Date doc 

sent out
Date response 

received or 
approved

Contributors:
Lara Knight  Governance 

Services Co-
ordinator 

Place 4/6/2019 6/6/2019

Paul Jennings Finance 
Manager 
Corporate 
Finance 

Place 4/6/2019 5/6/2019

Names of approvers: 
(officers and members)
Barry Hastie Director of 

Finance and 
Corporate 
Resources 

Place 4/6/2019 12/6/2019

Adrian West Member and 
Elections 
Team 
Manager

Place 4/6/2019 12/6/2019

Councillor G Duggins Cabinet 
Member for 
Policy and 
Leadership 

- 4/6/2019 13/6/2019

This report is published on the council's website:
www.coventry.gov.uk/meetings

Page 211

http://www.coventry.gov.uk/meetings
http://www.coventry.gov.uk/meetings
http://www.coventry.gov.uk/meetings


8

Appendix One – Internal Audit Plan 2019-20

KEY DRIVER
RISK 

LEVEL AUDIT AREA
PLANNED 

DAYS
Corporate Risk

High ICT (Infrastructure and Change)* 30
High Finance (Contract Management Framework) 20
High Workforce strategy 22
High Adult Social Care 15
High Safeguarding 15
High Information Governance 7
High Health and Safety 10

Council / Audit Priorities
Medium Payment Audit* 5
Medium Leavers IT processes 5
Medium Separation of duties Agresso / IT 5

High Agency workers contract 7
Medium Bribery and Corruption 5
Medium Code of governance 17

Financial Systems
High Care Director  20
High Business Rates 10

Medium Accounts Payable 10
Medium Accounts Receivable 10
Medium Council Tax 10
Medium Payroll 10
Medium Housing Benefits 10

Regularity
Grants 82
Corporate Governance 20
Risk Management 10
Schools 28

Other
Contingency / Directorate Risks 71
Fraud 40
Follow up 38
2018/19 B/Fwd 18
Total Days Available 550

*Audits partly undertaken by third party

Page 212


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of Previous Meeting
	Minutes

	5 Outstanding Issues
	6 Work Programme 2019/20
	7 Annual Governance Statement 2018/19
	8 Unaudited 2018/19 Statement of Accounts
	Unaudited 2018/19 Statement of Accounts - Appendix

	9 Internal Audit Annual Report 2018/19
	10 Internal Audit Plan 2019/20

